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DEDICATION

This book is dedicated to the administrators, teachers,
support staff, students and parents
- past, present and future -
who have made the Volusia County Public Schools
a school system of quality and excellence.



FORWARD

In 1996, the Florida Retired Educators Association asked each local unit to prepare the history of their county's
educational system. The histories were to be presented to the Florida Commaissioner of Education to be housed in the
state's archives during the Florida Retired Educators Association state conference in 1997. Anita Strawn of the West
Volusia Retired Educators Association had already collected much of the history of the schools in the West Volusia
area and was an inspiration to Volusia I (Retired Educators from East Volusia). Both groups worked diligently for over
a year and presented their histories at the 1997 meeting. Shortly thereafter, both groups felt that they could compile
a more comprehensive history and began their second effort.

In the summer of 1998, in a chance meeting between two former colleagues, Patricia (Pat) Langlotz and Dianne
Gilpatrick, it was discovered that Superintendent William E. (Bill) Hall was interested in publishing a history of
Volusia County Schools to coincide with the new millennium. The copies of the histories previously completed by
the two retired educator’s groups may have inspired him. Mr. Hall had already assigned the job of gathering the
school system's history to the Social Studies Department that is part of the Curriculum Department at the John Smiley
Educational Development Center (EDC). Pat told Dianne about the project and consequently the retired educators
met with Karen Beattie, who was the Social Studies Specialist at the time. It was agreed to merge the efforts of the
retired educators and the Social Studies Department.

After many, many months we have discovered long forgotten arbor schools and one-room log cabin schools. We
have traced the footsteps of Volusia's students from these first schools to today's high-tech structures. During our
journey we remembered the tremendous contributions made by our dedicated, hard-working educators — past and
present. We have benefited from their efforts and from their wisdom. We are grateful to them, to the current school
personnel, to our many friends and to our family members who helped us with our project — our labor of love.

Much of our research was done using personnel directories, oral histories, local history books and other invaluable
resources that were made available through our many contributors. We realize that there will be some inadvertent
errors even though we made every effort to make this history error free. Revisiting the schools of Volusia County has
been and honor and a privilege. We hope that you find that we have been accurate and as complete as we could be
with the limitations of time, space and human resources.

As members of the Volusia Retired Educators Association of DeLand and Daytona, we have pledged to contribute
all of our proceeds from this book to the Florida Retired Educators Association's Scholarship Foundation for future
teachers.

Many thanks to Karen L. Beattie who led our mission and to Patricia Callan (Pat) Langlotz who anchored our team
through her contacts, her research, her leadership and who organized and wrote the text.

Angie Forest, Dianne Gilpatrick, Anita Strawn



PREFACE

It is our hope this book will serve as a valuable educational resource, preserving local history for current and
future generations. As the largest organization in the county, Volusia County Schools has literally touched thousands
of lives over many years. This book will create a solid foundation connecting a diverse group of people to the past and
providing a focus for the future. The reader will be able to study the history of Volusia County, the establishment of
the school district, and how each school campus came to look the way it does today.

We all realize the importance of knowing our history and the significance of making it relevant in our lives. This
book was compiled to reflect on that past and provide a starting point for future historians to continue the important
and dynamic story of Volusia County Schools.

William E. Hall
Superintendent of Schools
2000



VOLUSIA COUNTY SCHOOLS VISION STATEMENT:

Through the individual commitment of all, our
students will graduate with the knowledge, skills and
values necessary to be successful contributors to our
democratic society.

approved 4/14/92
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A BRIEF HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF
VOLUSIA COUNTY

WEST VOLUSIA

The origin of the name "“Volusia" is elusive. The History of Astor on
the St. Johns stated that the name came from the Euchee Indians who
inhabited the area in the late 16™ and early 17" centuries. Their
homeland was called Euchee Land and Oluchee. The Spanish changed
the name to Voluchee or Volucia that evolved into Volusia. P D. Gold,
an early 20" century Volusia historian, noted that the Indians did not
have a “v" sound in theirlanguage, so he questioned this interpretation.
T.E. Fitzgerald in Volusia County, Past and Present wrote that it was
generally assumed that the name “Volusia" came from a Belgian,
Veluche, (pronounced Voolooshay) who established a trading post on
the St. Johns River in 1818. Over the years the name was anglicized to
Volusia. The first name for Volusia County was Mosquito County, a
name given to the area by the Spanish. After the acquisition of Florida
by the United States, the area was part of Orange County. In 1854,
Volusia County was made a separate county.

The northwest part of Volusia County figured prominently in the
development of both the State of Florida and Volusia County from as
early as the 1500s. The French and Spanish explored the region because
of the county's proximity to the St. Johns River, a major Florida waterway.
Early white settlers who came to the area did not find the dense
undergrowth that exists today. The Indians and then the early settlers
regularly burned the undergrowth; cattle grazing also kept the vegetation
under control.

Volusia Landing is considered to be the county's oldest, continuous
settlement, inhabited first by Native Americans and then by European
settlers. Volusia Landing is located near the site of five ancient shell
mounds some four and one half miles south of Lake George. This spot
provided easy crossing of the St. Johns River. In the early part of the
1600s, the Spanish built a mission near the Volusia Landing area called
San Salvador de Mayaca. The Yamassee Tribe, driven into Florida from
Georgia by the British, later destroyed this mission. The Euchee Tribe
came to the Volusia Landing area in the late 1600s. The Spanish ceded
Florida to the British in 1763, and a trading post was established at the
Volusia Landing location. Historians, however, debate on which side of
the St. Johns the post was built. This trading post was first known as
Spaulding’'s Upper Store. Later the post was taken over by Panton and

Leslie. Atrailfirstused by the Native Americans and later by the European
settlers led from Volusia Landing to the Atlantic. This trail roughly parallels
Route 40.

Seville Hotel built in the 1880's

Seville is another small community located at the northwest tip of
Volusia County, bordering Putnam and Flagler Counties. The
community was originally located on Lake George, but the settlement
moved inland about three miles when the Jacksonville, Tampa and Key
West Railroad was extended through the west side of Volusia County.
The origin of the name Seville came either from the citrus fruit called
the Seville orange or from the city and region in southern Spain. The
first families to settle in the Seville area were the Causeys and the
Braddocks. A Civil War skirmish was fought on Braddocks' farm. After
the Civil War, settlers made their livelihood by cattle raising, logging
or by growing a variety of crops, including long staple cotton, corn,
sugar cane and sweet potatoes. It wasn't until the late 1870s that orange
groves were planted. Most settlers from the Seville area traded and
shipped their goods from Volusia Landing. In 1882, William Lente (or
Lent) established the township of Seville. The town became a stop on
the railroad, and its railroad station was reported to be the only station
in the United States of log construction. Because of its proximity to
Lake George and the St. Johns, Seville was an ideal location to attract
winter visitors. Over the years, the fern industry developed into a big
agri-business. Many farm workers from Mexico, who came into the area
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in the late 1970s, now live either part time or full time in the Seville
community to support the fern industry.

Pierson is located five miles south of Seville. Pierson was originally
called Piersonville. The Minshews were among the first families in the
area. Peter Pierson and his brothers came to the area from Sweden in
1876 with many other pioneer families. The Piersons and other families
in the area first planted orange groves. The logging and turpentine
industry also thrived in this area. The freeze of 1894-1895 devastated
the orange groves. In 1904, Eugene Pierson, son of Peter Pierson,
brought fern to his father's property in Pierson. This was the beginning
of the extensive fern industry in the north west section of Volusia County.
Pierson remains a center for fern growing industry to the present day.
Other small communities that existed in the Piersonarea were Bakersburg,
Emporia and Eldridge (also known as Bishopsville and Astor Junction).
In the early 1900s, Emporia was a haven for northerners who built
impressive homes in the area for use during the winter time.

It is thought that Moses Barber was the first to settle in the Barberville
area (once known as Midway) in the 1830s. This location (near the
crossroads of U.S. Highway 17 and State Road 40) had long been a
junction forboth Native Americans and later European settlers who traveled
from the St. Johns to the Atlantic coast. James Barber, a descendent of
Moses Barber, incorporated the town in 1882. At one time Barberville
had a cotton gin and grist mill that provided work for local residents. The
first settlers also raised cattle, hogs and a variety of foods. In the mid
1870s orange groves were also planted. West of Barberville, on present
day Route 40, there once existed the small community of Lungren. It is
now considered a ghost town. It is speculated that Lungren may have
once been an Indianvillage and that early settlers in the community were
driven out during the Seminole Wars. The area was settled again in the
mid 1800's, but the community disappeared by the turn of the 20" century.
Cattle are now raised on the site of the area known as Lungren.

DeLeon Springs was first established as a Timucuan settlement
called Acuera. Atvarious times, the area has been called Spring Garden
and DeSoto Springs. It is speculated that Ponce de Leon may have
visited the vicinity. A Spanish mission was established near the springs
in 1580. Florida Indians later destroyed it. In 1763, James Oglethorpe
established a settlement near DelLeon Springs, the primary purpose of
the settlement was to farm indigo, a plant used for making a purple dyve.
During this period of English occupation, William Bartram, the famous
naturalist, visited the DelLeon Springs area on two separate occasions,
oncein 1765 and againin 1774. Hostile Indians massacred the inhabitants
of this English settlement. Joseph Woodruff was one of the earliest

American settlers in the DeLeon Springs area. Colonel Reese, another
early pioneer, entertained John James Audubon when he journeyed
through the DeLeon Springs area, studying the many native varieties of
birds. These American settlers grew sugar cane, and the sugar mill ruins
still exist at the DeLeon Springs State Park. The early Florida pioneersin
the DeLeon Springs area were driven out by the Seminole Indian Wars.
After the Indian wars, settlers, including the Starke family, returned to
DeLeon Springs. The Starke family's assistance to the Confederacy during
the Civil War came to the attention of Union patrols on the St. Johns, and
their land and buildings were destroyed for a second time. After the Civil
War, settlers again came to the DeLeon Springs area. During the period
of the 1870s and 1880s, most of the farmers grew oranges as they did in
Seville and Pierson. The great freeze of 1894-1895 destroyed most of the
trees, and many families were forced to leave or start over. After the
freeze, agriculture became more diversified. In the 1920s Spring Garden
Horse Ranch was established in DeLeon Springs for horse training. The
ranchisstillin existence. As in Pierson, DeLeon Springs has many ferneries
that support the local economy.

The Gasque residence in DeLeon Springs around the late 1800’s

Glenwood is a small community to the north and west of DeLand and
close in proximity to DeLeon Springs. Glenwood was also called Spring
Garden. The Van Cleef family was among the first families to settle in
Glenwood. Grand Avenue in Glenwood is still known for its natural
beauty. Glenwood is one of the areas of Volusia County that has preserved
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its turn of the century atmosphere.

Another small community in the Glenwood-Deland area was
Eureka-Highland Park. The Hazen family was one of the first to settle
in the area. Hazen Road, located west of DelLand off State Road 44, is
named for this pioneer family. Eureka-Highland Park is now a part of
DeLand.

Miller’s grain and feed store, DeLand

The first settler in the greater DeLand area was probably Reverend
William Beresford in 1763, during the English control over Florida. He
settled on Lake Beresford near the St. Johns and grew indigo and sugarcane
on his plantation. Sometime later, this area became part of the Fatio
land grant that was adjacent to Blue Spring. When John Starke came to
the Beresford areain 1851, Indian raids were still common occurrences.
Other early settlers were the Alexanders and the Vinzants. The
Alexanders built Beresford House for travelers who stopped on their
way up or down the St. Johns. When the Jacksonville, Tampa and Key
West Railroad came through Beresford in 1886, steamboat travel waned,
and Beresford's importance as a community diminished.

Rubin Marsh is thought to be the first to settle in the DeLand vicinity.
He settled at Cabbage Bluff on the St. Johns, a site later known as DeLand
Landing. The city now known as DelLand was first called Persimmon
Hollow. John Rich was the first settler in Persimmon Hollow, followed by
the Wrights, the Craigs and O.P. Terry. The settlement was located near
what is now Woodland and New York Avenues, and in the early days
livestock grazed unfettered in the vicinity. Henry DelLand moved to

Persimmon Hollow in 1876. He decided to move to the area aftera visit to
his brother-in-law, O.P. Terry. DeLand had been a successful businessman
in New York State and wanted to share his good fortune with others in the
community. He donated both land and money for many community and
cultural projects. DeLand also spearheaded the move to build the first
school (that also served as a church). It was because of this initiative that
settlers renamed Persimmon Hollow after Henry DeLand. The first child
born in the new community was Clara Belle Rich. Both Clara and Rich
Streets in DeLand bear her name.

Haynes Building in DeLand, 1912

In 1880, the residents of DeLand experienced a strong hurricane.
Because of the storm, roads were so littered with debris that it was
impossible to use them. Numerous citrus groves in the area were also
damaged. DeLand was incorporated as a city in 1882, and C.H. Wright
served as the city's first mayor. At this same time Stetson University
began as DeLand Academy. In 1886, the Jacksonville, Tampa and Key
West Railroad was extended to DeLand. Prior to its arrival, a narrow gauge
railroad had been constructed between DeLand and the St. Johns River.
DeLand's big fire also occurred in 1886, and many of the city’s wooden
buildings were destroyed. These buildings were quickly replaced by
structures made of stone. In 1888, DeLand replaced Enterprise as the
Volusia County seat. The freeze of 1894-1895 devastated the citrusindustry
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that had been the livelihood of many of DeLand's residents. The people
in DeLand and the other communities of West Volusia were then forced to
diversify their economy. Because Henry DeLand had encouraged so many
of the early residents to settle in the area, he used all his personal wealth
to help those residents who lost so much during the freeze to return to
sound financial footing. He returned to New York State to start another
business to recoup his lost fortune. Henry DelLand died in New York in
1908. The intrusion of the medfly on the citrus industry, the bust of the
Florida boom, and the stockmarket crash brought difficult times to DeLand
in the late 1920s and 1930s. The city rebounded as it had after the hurricane,
fire and freeze and has continued to prosper.
Cassadega is located to the southeast of DeLand. George Colby began
the small community in 1875 as a spiritualist center. Cassadega was a
stopping point between settlements in northwest Volusia and Enterprise,
which was the county seat until 1888. Lake Helen, a sister community of
Cassedega, was originally called the Prevatt settlement. Henry DeLand
was attracted to the Prevatt settlement and purchased a sizeable tract of
land in the vicinity to develop as a retreat for well-to-do, winter visitors.
He renamed the community Lake Helen for his daughter, Helen Parse
DeLand. Lake Helen became a stop on the railroad from Orange City to
New Smyrna. The community founded by DeLand became a thriving
industrial town for logging, bricks and oranges. It even had a
packinghouse. The Great Depression and the scarcity of lumber (most of
the existing trees had been cut during the boom years) almost destroyed
the community of Lake Helen. However, new growth and development
began after World War IT and has continued to the present.
Orange City is located just east of Blue Spring. William Bartram,
the naturalist, had visited Blue Spring one hundred years earlier. He
and others claimed the spring had sulphur. Bartram did not mention
seeing any manatees at the spring, but fresh water shell mounds were
found. Many often pluralize the word spring in Blue Spring, but only
one spring exists there. Blue Spring is adjacent to Lake Beresford, and
‘a Swiss native named Fatio came to that area in the late 1700s. Fatio also
built residences along the St. Johns. In the mid 1800s, the Thursby family
built a house at the Blue Spring site. The house is part of the Blue Spring
State Park. Families from Eau Claire founded Orange City in 1866 and
1867 and many of the newcomers wanted to call the new community Blue
Spring. Orange City prospered in the late 1800s. In 1909, a large fire
destroyed many of the city's buildings; however, Orange City has continued
to be a thriving community to this day.
Osteen, formerly Saulsville, was founded by George Sauls in the 1850s.
The Hezekiah Osteen family moved to the area soon after. The families

made their livelihood from orange groves and timber. George Sauls aided
the Confederacy during the Civil War. At the end of the war, Sauls assisted
in the escape of John C. Breckenridge (Confederate Secretary of War)
from the St. Johns River overland to Titusville on the Atlantic coast. After
reaching the coast, Breckenridge went to Cuba and boarded a ship to
safety in England.

East Graves Avenue in Orange City, Florida circa 1896

Although Sauls began the community, it became known as Osteen.
Sauls had only daughters and Osteen had only sons. The sons carried on
the Osteen name. Osteen was a stop on the way from the Haulover (a spit
of land between two intercoastal rivers) and the St. Johns. In recent years,
the Osteen community has experienced steady population growth.

Enterprise was originally settled by Cornelius Taylor (relative of Zachary
Taylor) in 1841. Enterprise claims to be Volusia County's first county seat.
New Smyrna has contested this claim. Proponents of the New Smyrna
claim say that New Smyrna was designated the county seat for several
months before it was moved to Enterprise. Enterprise is located on Lake
Monroe, formerly called Lake Valdez. Jacob Brock, a Vermonter, moved
to Enterprise in 1852. He brought steamboat travel to the area. Brock
assisted the Confederacy in the Civil War, and the Union retaliated by
seizing Brock's two steamboats, the Hattie and the Darlington, and by
throwing him in jail. After the war, Brock repurchased the Hattie at an
auction. During this postwar period, Brock and other steamboat owners
touted the winter climate in Florida to attract northern visitors. He built
the Brock House on the shores of Lake Monroe, where he entertained
prominent visitors. In 1888, DeLand replaced Enterprise as the county
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seat. Enterprise was renamed Benson Springs, (Itis assumed by devious
means) in 1924. Ten years later the community overwhelmingly voted to
restore the community's original name. Today, Enterprise is bordered by
the large and newly incorporated city of Deltona and the newly
incorporated city of DeBary. The city of DeBary was named after Count
Frederick DeBary who came to southwest Volusia after the Civil War. He
bought a steamship line and also had extensive orange groves. His home,
DeBary Hall, is being refurbished and is a center of the DeBary community.

On the north end of Lake Monroe is Stone Island, formerly known as
Doctor’s Island and Rock Island. Stone Island is the site of Fort Kingsbury,
used during the Seminole Indian Wars. It was also the site of a sulphur
springs and fresh water shell mounds similar to those found near Blue
Spring. South of Lake Monroe, on the St. Johns, is Fort Florida Point,
used as an army depot during the Seminole Indian Wars and, later, as a
steamboat stop.

EAST VOLUSIA

Oak Hill is the southern most community on the east side of Volusia
County. It was originally part of the Murray land grant of 1804 and was
first called “The Lagoon on the Hillsborough.” In 1860, a Coast Guard
station was built on the beach near Oak Hill, and it remained there until
1935. During the Civil War, salt was collected in the area, and a salt works
was built to support the Confederate cause. In 1866, Jacob Davy Mitchell
settled on an Indian Midden (Seminole Rest) and planted citrus groves.
This was the beginning of the community named Live Oak Hill, later
shortened to Oak Hill. By 1887, Oak Hill was becoming a prosperous
community, settled by the Putnams, Hatches, Comers, McGrugers, Williams
and Fullertons. These early settlers organized a citrus growers' association
and built a packing house. Later Oak Hill settlers were the Packwood and
the Goodrich families. Other settlers who moved to Oak Hill in the post
Civil War era were families from Texas. By 1900, the Florida East Coast
Railroad laid tracks through Oak Hill. In the 1920s, John D. Rockefeller
attended parties at the Mitchell home. This was the prohibition era andOak
Hill was notorious as a center of bootlegging. In 1929, Oak Hill was
incorporated as a city but unincorporated the very next year because of
the Depression. The city was not incorporated again until 1962. The
small community of Shiloh, near Oak Hill was founded in the 1850s. The
community was later abandoned and is now considered a “"ghost town."

DeBary Hall circa 1940
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Several small communities sprang up between Oak Hill and Hawks
Park (later called Edgewater). It can be assumed that these communities
had their origins as either stops on the Florida East Coast Railroad or as
turpentine stills or orange groves. The community of Ariel was located
three miles north of Oak Hill. Cow Creek, Volco and Kalamazoo, Celery
City (renamed Farmton or Farmington), Maytown and Shiloh were other
southeast Volusia settlements. The community of Alamana is still in
existence near Lake Ashby.

Dr. John Milton Hawks, a northern abolitionist and medical doctor
founded Edgewater in 1871-1872. He named the town Hawks Park
after himself and touted the new community as “a New England
Community On The Coast of Florida.” The town had only seven houses
and was a stop between New Smyrna and the Haulover Canal. In 1884,
the Hawks Park Literary Club and Village Improvement Association were
organized. The community also had a chapter of the Grand Army of the
Republic (denoting its northern roots). Settlers made their living keeping
orange groves, vegetable gardens and apiaries. Bee keeping became big
business. A.J. Marshall opened a store, and George Durfee operated the
first hotel. The Florida East Coast Railroad came to Hawks Park in the
1890s. Dr. Hawks died in 1910 and is buried in the Edgewater Cemetery.
He left land to the community upon which a combined town hall and
library was built. The second story of the building was used for community
affairs. In 1924, the town's name was changed to Edgewater because
some residents thought that Hawks Park sounded like “Hogs Park."”
Loveland Groves and Tropical Blossom Honey Company continue to be
thriving businesses in the community. The building of the Florida Shores
and other housing developments has been responsible for rapid population
growth in Edgewater.

The New Smyrna area may have been seen first by Ponce de Leon
in 1513. Prior to settlement in the area, it is believed that Ponce Inlet
and its environs were havens for pirate activity. The inlet was also a
safe harbor for English privateers, so the Spanish, who owned Florida
at the time, tried to gain a foothold in the New Smyrna Beach area.
However, they established no permanent settlement. The galleons that
brought silver and other precious metals back to Spain to bolster the
Spanish economy made their way up the Florida coast to Turtle Mound
(just south of New Smyrna) before heading eastward toward the Iberian
Peninsula. The first permanent settlement was established by Dr. Andrew
Turnbull in 1768. Spain had ceded Florida to Britain in 1763, and the
British were eager to settle the Florida peninsula. Turnbull recruited
settlers from Smyrna, Turkey (a Greek settlement), from Italy and from
Minorca. Turnbull's wife was also from Smyrna, Turkey, hence the name

New Smyrna. The majority of the settlers came from Minorca. Whether
the settlers were indentured or tenants is a matter of dispute; but, the fact
remains that the settlers were mistreated, had no freedom and suffered
greatly. For most of their years in New Smyrna the settlers were underfed,
overworked and often in poor physical condition. Turnbull had the settlers
dig several canals, the remains of which can still be viewed today. For a
few years the settlement was able to sell its indigo crop. However, the
New Smyrna colony never experienced true prosperity. By the mid 1770s,
the Minorcan settlers were able to run away from Turnbull's cruel overseers
and make their way to St. Augustine, where they were given a safe haven.
Many present day Floridians, especially on the east coast, can trace their
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heritage to these Minorcan settlers. Minorcan settlers may have used the
"Kings Road,” which was a trail that extended from the Georgia border to
New Smyrna (then the most southern of the English settlements). The
Kings Road became overgrown when the British left in 1783, but the road
was revitalized several times over the years because it was the only overland
route to St. Augustine. Remnants of the Kings Road can still be found in
many communities from New Smyrna to St. Augustine. In 1783, the Spanish
regained Florida and encouraged colonists (even from other countries) to
settle the land. Ambrose Hull of Connecticut obtained a sizeable land
grant from the Spanish circa 1802. Hull was followed by settlers from the
Bahamas. By 1805-1806, there were between 500 and 600 people living
within a five-mile radius of New Smyrna. Hull's stone plantation was
destroyed in the “Patriot's War" of 1812, and he left the area. The Seminole
Indian Wars deterred many from coming to Central Florida, but some
families continued to live in the New Smyrna area, establishing sugar
cane plantations. By 1859, John Shelton had built a forty-room hotel on
what is now the site of Old Fort Park. The hotel was gutted by Union
shells, lobbed from gunboats in the intercoastal waterway, and the Sheldon
family fled to Glencoe, a small community west of New Smyrna Beach:
After the Civil War, New Smyrna began to grow and prosper and was
incorporated into a city in 1887. The railroad came to New Smyrna in the
1890s. The city soon became a railroad hub. In 1924, New Smyrna
experienced a 23.22-inch rainfall in a 24 hour period. For many years
this was a record inside the continental United States. New Smyrna
continues to thrive.

Coronado Beach is located on the New Smyrna beachside. Although
settlers periodically lived on this peninsula a$ early as the first half of
the 19" century (the Detwilers and Dummits), Foster Austen was the
first to establish a permanent settlement in 1885. Sometime later, a
post office opened on the Austen property. Coronado Beach was,
eventually, incorporated into the city of New Smyrna Beach. El Dora
was another settlement on the New Smyrna beachside, located further
south on the peninsula than Coronado Beach. The Moeller, Carpenter
and Nelson families who had orange groves and apiaries for the
production of honey, founded the small community. ,

Glencoe (now part of New Smyrna Beach) was a small community
west of New Smyrna, founded by the Coe and Bryan families in 1864.
It was to the small'community of Glencoe that the Sheldon family of
New Smyrna fled after their home was bombarded by Union gunboats
from the intercoastal waterway during the Civil War. After the Civil War,
many northern families resettled in the Glencoe area. Glenicoe was also a
stop on the railroad that ran from Blue Spring to New Smyrna Beach.

Other small communities on the railroad were Briggsville (later
renamed Samsula), Indian Springs and Rogers. Samsula, originally
Briggsville, was settled by immigrants from Slovenia (a small European
country at the northern end of the Balkan Peninsula). The Tomazins,
Sopotniks, Luznars and Samsulas were among some of the first Slovenians
families. Farm life in the small community was difficult, but these families
persisted and their descendents still live in the community today.

Port Orange in the 30’s

North of New Smryna Beach were the small communities of Turnbull
(or Turnbull Bay) and Rose Bay. Turnbull, named after Andrew Turnbull,
who first settled in the area in 1768, was located on Turnbull Bay, and
there were many orange groves in the area. Rose Bay, between Turnbull
Bay and the Allandale section of Port Orange, was on the Florida East
Coast Railroad line and also was adjacent to many orange groves.
Allandale, just north of Rose Bay, was originally called Halifax City. It
was established as a planned community by Judge H. Robinson in 1867.
The community did not draw the intended number of new settlers, and
the Allan brothers purchased Robinson's property in 1887. Harbor Oaks
is another settlement in the Allandale-Rose Bay area.

In 1804, 20 families moved from the Bahamas area to settle in the Port
Orange area and settled on a Spanish land grant. One of the settlers,
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Patrick Dean, established a plantation on the Halifax that grew indigo. In
1832, the Anderson family established the Dunlawton Plantation on land
that is now Sugar Mill Gardens. At that time the area was called
Dunlawton. The sugar plantation was destroyed during the Seminole
Indian Wars and it wasn't until 1842, that permanent settlers returned
to the area. The McDaniels family (who changed their name to
McDonald), first worked for the Swift Brothers in their timber operation
and then settled in the Port Orange area in 1859. The McDonalds
supplied sea salt to the Confederacy during the Civil War. After the
Civil War, Dr. John Milton Hawks established a settlement for freed black
slaves off what is now Charles Street in Port Orange. Remnants of the
community still exist today. Other early settlers in the Port Orange area
were the Stevens and Sutton families and Dr. C.H. Meeker, who had
orange groves. The quality of the oranges grown in the area and access to
ocean going vessels attracted new settlers. One other early resident was
Captain Bennett, who built schooners that traversed the inland waterway.

The town of Port Orange was first established on the peninsula and
later moved across the intercoastal waterway to the mainland. The
community was called Port Orange to attract more northern settlers. To
lure tourists, several hotels were built, including the Port Orange Inn and
the Riverside Inn (which was recently demolished). The Florida East
Coast Railroad reached Port Orange in 1892, and in 1906 the first wooden
bridge was built over the intercoastal waterway from Port Orange to the
peninsula. Both the trains and the new bridge opened the Port Orange
area for further development. A second bridge was later constructed to
replace the wooden bridge. The second bridge was a drawbridge. The
first bridge was a toll bridge, and, for a time, a toll was charged to use the
second bridge. Port Orange was incorporated as a town in 1913 and as a
city in 1926. Catching and selling oysters and shrimp became important
industries in the Port Orange area. In 1931, U.S.1 was built through Port
Orange. Prior to the construction of U.S. 1, the Dixie Highway was the
main artery that went through Port Orange. In the 1930s and 1940s, the
population of Port Orange was no more than 1000 residents. Inthe 1950s
the city slowly began to grow. Port Orange remained a small community
until the 1970s. Since then, the population has rapidly increased, making
it one of the largest cities in Volusia County. During the 1980s, a third
bridge (high rise) was constructed over the inland waterway, and many
housing developments were constructed. This growth has continued to
the present day.

Spruce Creek was a separate community west of Port Orange on
Spruce Creek. Settlers in the community had orange groves, and there
was a sawmill in operation. Many of the groves, including the Chisholm

Grove (near what is now Hensel Road), were destroyed during the big
freeze of 1894-1895. The Moody Bridge spanned the creek near what is
now Airport Road. Port Orange is experiencing rapid growth.

Ponce Inlet was originally called Pons (or Ponce) Park after Antonio
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Pons. The first settlers on the south end of the peninsula were the Pacetti
family. After several attempts to build a lighthouse, one was successfully
built at Pons Park in 1884. The first lighthouse keeper was Mr. Babcock.
Pons Park, now Ponce Inlet, continues to be a thriving community.

Racing would eventually be a dominate industry in Daytona.

Daytona Beach was not permanently settled until a decade after the
Civil War. However, early settlers either lived in the area or had
landholdings since the early 1800s. In 1817, Samuel Williams acquired
one of the Spanish land grants, containing 3,200 acres along the Halifax
River. He lost everything during the Second Seminole Indian War. In
1867, Alfred Johnson and James Sawyer purchased 1,071 acres on the
west bank of the Halifax River from Oliver Swift. The land was called the
Heriot Tract. It had previously been a Spanish land grant awarded to
Francis Kerr. In 1870, Mathias Day of Mansfield, Ohio purchased the
former Williams grant for $1200. By the winter of 1870-1871, a hotel, the
Colony House (later called the Palmetto Hotel), was under construction
to house newcomers. Eight other dwellings were also completed. In
1872, the community was named Daytona after Mathias Day. By 1875,
Daytona had 70 residents and 20 homes. The principal means of

transportation was by sailboat and the only east-west street was Orange
Avenue. At this time William Jackson replaced his small grocery store
(originally opened by William Burr) with a larger structure that was not
only used as a store but for social affairs, political activities and church
services. In 1876, Daytona was incorporated as a city. Concerns for safe
drinking water, poor drainage, and malaria were among the first problems
the new city had to face. The discovery of the artesian well alleviated
some of the water problems. The city fathers passed ordinances concerning
health, peace and morals. They also dealt with the problem of hogs
running wild in the streets because they created such a flea problem. The
first newspaper, printed on muslin, was published in 1883 by Florian
Mann. The railroad came to Daytona in 1886 and in the next year, the first
bridge was built from Fairview Avenue on the mainland to Main Street on
the peninsula. In 1902, racing began on the beach, and by 1948, Bill
France had established NASCAR. Daytona, Daytona Beach and Seabreeze
were consolidated in 1926. Daytona Beach has continued to thrive.

The city of Holly Hill was founded in 1877 by William Fleming, who
opened a general store in the area. Fleming named the little community,
Holly Hill, after a village in Ireland. The Wetherell and Simcoe families
were other early settlers in the area. Dr. W.H. Carter built a large home on
Riverside Drive that can still be seen. The first canal was dug in 1880. The
Florida East Coast Railroad came to Holly Hill in 1887. Holly Hill was
incorporated as a city in 1901. It has continued to be a flourishing
community to the present day.

The first people in the greater Ormond Beach area were the
Timucuans, whose village of Nocoroco was in the Tomoka Basin. During
the British period in Florida, Richard Oswald (who later negotiated the
Treaty of Paris in 1783 for the British) built his large plantation called
Mount Oswald, a site which is now part of Tomoka State Park. When
the government of Spain reclaimed Florida in 1783, it tried to encourage
settlers to develop and settle land. People from countries other than
Spain were also allowed to purchase land to increase the population of
Florida. During the 1790s the Russell, Williams, McHardy, Kerr, Bunch,
Addison and Ormond families came from Great Britain and the Bahamas
to the Ormond area to build plantations. These plantations were destroyed
during the Seminole Indian Wars. In the 1840s, the Swift Brothers
established the Tomoka Settlement, located four miles west of Ormond
Beach. They initially came to the area each winter to cut live oak and
returned to the North each summer. Permanent settlers joined the
community, raising a variety of foodstuffs and hogs. When the Civil War
erupted, logging for live oak timbers stopped. The number of live oak had
been greatly diminished due to the indiscriminate cutting of the trees.
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Most of the Tomoka settlers fought for the Confederacy during the Civil
War. Families lived in the Tomoka settlement intermittently until the 1920s.
In recent years the city of Ormond Beach has grown west, and the old
Tomoka Settlement is part of present day Ormond Beach.

CRMOND TOM
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A public park now commemorates the site of James Ormond’s tomb.

The Ormond peninsula was developed after the Civil War. The Bostrum
Family, originally from Gotland, Sweden, was the first family to settle
there in 1868. On the mainland side of the Hillsborough (now Halifax)
River was the small community of Palmetto, settled by the Ross and Wemple
families. Palmetto disappeared in 1874, just as settlers from New Britain,
Connecticut bought the Henry Yonge grant. The “Colony House," the first
dwelling built by these settlers, was located at what is now the corner of
Tomoka Avenue and Beach Street. They called their new town New Britain
after their former hometown in Connecticut. Settlers on both sides of the
intercoastal waterway planted orange groves. The most famous of the
orange grove plantations was “Number Nine Plantation.” In the late 1870s,
James Ormond III returned to the area then called New Britain. Because
of his family's ties with the vicinity, the town of New Britain was renamed
Ormond and subsequently Ormond Beach. During the hurricane of 1889,

the ship, “The City of Vera Cruz," wrecked off the Ormond coast. As soon
as the storm subsided, residents tried to salvage the ship's valuables.
Finding wnis a lucrative enterprise, the Ormond townspeople watched for
wrecks off the coast from which to make extra income. John Anderson
arrived in the Ormond settlement about the same time as James Ormond
III. He became a driving force in preserving the community's rich history
as well as a visionary for future development. Anderson and a partner
opened the Ormond Hotel in 1888. The railroad, that eventually became
part of Henry Flagler's railway to Miami and the Keys, was extended to
Ormond in the late 1880s, including a bridge over the Tomoka River. St.
James Church, one of the oldest churches in Ormond Beach, was built in
1890. The early 20" century ushered in the advent of auto racing on the
beach. In 1918, John D. Rockefeller bought “The Casements,"” formerly
known as Huntington House. He became known to his Ormond neighbors
as "Good Neighbor John.” Ormond Beach has continued to be a thriving
community to the present day.

North of Ormond Beach lies the small, unincorporated community
of National Gardens. The community was begun in the 1920s as a center
for agriculture and flower growing.

Volusia County's history has mirrored the history of Florida and the
United States from its pre-Columbian Indians to the present day. Each
era of history from the 1500s has had a corresponding event in Volusia
County. From the Turnbull Settlement to Richard Oswald's negotiating of
the Treaty of Paris in 1783; from the struggles with the Native American
population over land usage and ownership to Civil War skirmishes in
New Smyrna Beach and Braddock's Farm near Seville; and from the Civil
Air Patrol's protecting Florida and Volusia County from German U-boats
to the naval boatworks at Lake Beresford and the Naval Air Station in
DeLand during World War I Volusia County has played a part in America’s
history. If the past is a predicter of the future it can be safely assumed that
as future events unfold on the national and regional stages they will be
mirrored here in Volusia County.
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CHAPTER 2

The History of the Early Volusia County

Public Schools
(Which Are Now Closed)
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AN OVERVIEW OF EARLY VOLUSIA
COUNTY SCHOOLS

In 1867, immediately after the Civil War, Dr. Milton Hawks, first
Volusia County Superintendent, opened a school for African American
youths in the Port Orange area called Freemanville. His wife, Dr. Esther
Hawks established a school for minority children the next year in the New
Smyrna area. Neither school lasted for more than one term. Several
other attempts were made at establishing schools for African American
students with the support of the Freedman's Bureau.

NEW SMYRNA

The first public school in Volusia County was established in New
Smyrna in 1872 when a one-room schoolhouse was built about 350 feet
northwest of the Ocean House, a New Smyrna hotel. E.K. Loud, the
owner of the Ocean House donated the land for the school. The structure
cost $42 in cash with labor and materials donated by community members.
Miss Delia Snow, formerly a governess for the Loud family, was the

The wooden building that was once the first school in New Smyrna.

The upper story of the second New Smyra school house built in 1885
was used for town meetings and social functions.
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New Smyrna’s third school

CHAPTER 2, PAGE 15



school's first teacher. The school year varied between three and six months
a term and each school day lasted six hours. The curriculum included
reading, writing, arithmetic, spelling, history and geography with
needlework and farming skills offered two days each week.

In 1885, another school for New Smyrna students was built on the
corner of Live Oak and Canal Streets. The first floor was made into
classrooms and the upper level was used for social functions and town
meetings. On occasion school was dismissed early so students could
help with the preparations for ice cream socials. Preparations included
helping unload the boat that brought ice from the North.

A third New Smyrna school was builtin 1901 on the corner of Mary
Street near the railroad tracks. Lessons were frequently disrupted because
of the noisy trains. It was soon necessary to add more classrooms (two
small buildings) to house the first four elementary grades. The Mary Avenue
School had a teacher for each of the eight grades and three teachers and
a teaching principal for high school. High school subjects included English
and Latin. (Further information can be found in the next section of this
chapter and Chapter Three about the history of the individual schools.)

DAYTONA BEACH

While records indicate that the school in New Smyrna was the first
public school built in Volusia County, a day school opened in Daytona in
the same year, 1872, on August 4. The school was a log structure, located
just west of the George Woodruff home near the corner of Beach and Live
Oak Streets. The school was considered to be a private school because it
was not organized under the laws of the state of Florida; however, J.W.
Smith, the teacher, was paid by Volusia County. In 1874, a second little
school was built in Daytona at 222 Palmetto Avenue that was organized
under state law. Annie Puckettwas the first teacher at the Palmetto Avenue
school and she instructed approximately 12 students, including her two
daughters. The school term was three months in length.

Daytona was incorporated two years later in 1876, and a third one-
room schoolhouse was built that also served as a church and part time as
a town hall. The first teacher at this school was Jessie Pierson. Other
teachers included Mrs. E.N. Waldron, Mrs. Laurence Thompson, Paul
Knapp, Mrs. J.H. Niver and Clara Slough. Because of a question over
the rental of this school building, the school was
temporarily moved to Jackson's Hall where Annie Puckett again served
as teacher. The school then returned to its original quarters and Mr. M.
W. Martin was employed as the teacher.

B i
The 1874 OId School House on Palmetto

During the span from 1884 to 1885, a new three-room school, the
Daytona Public School, was built at the cost of $2050 with most of the
funds raised by voluntary subscription. This amount did not include the
furnishings that cost an added $200. These funds were also raised by
voluntary subscription. This school was located on Third Avenue. A brick
building on Bay Street was erected in 1909, housing all twelve grades
until other schools were later built for elementary students. (See Mainland
Junior High School in the next section of this chapter and Mainland High
School in Chapter Three.)

DELAND

DeLand established its first school, a pine log structure, in 1877. Miss
Rowena Dean was hired for $21 per month as the first teacher in DeLand,
then called Persimmon Hollow. It was customary for the school year to
end in either May or June; but in 1877, the new school, built on property
donated by Henry DelLand, was opened on May 7, 1877. Located on a
sandy lot at the northeast corner of Woodland Boulevard and Indiana
Avenue, DeLand's first school also served as a temporary church. For its
day, the frame building was rather pretentious, consisting of one large
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room and a bell tower. In 1879, Mr. Charlie Miller was hired as the
teacher for the DeLand school. He was hired after he read passages of the
Bible to members of the school board in Enterprise (then the seat of
Volusia County government). This school quickly became too small for
the growing student population. It was then used as a Presbyterian
Church and was eventually converted into a firehouse. The first DeLand
school was torn down in 1927, despite efforts to preserve it as a historical
site.

The second school in DeLand, built
in 1890, was located on Amelia Avenue
near Church Street. Mrs. Egford was
employed as the primary teacher. In
1898 the school burned and the
children were housed in a building
located at a site that is now the Bank
of America. Atthe time of the fire, Peter
Sproul was serving as principal and
Mrs. Richardson succeeded Mrs.
Egford as primary teacher. When the
Amelia Avenue School was vacated, it
became a school for African American
children, grades one through eight,
until the construction of the Euclid
Avenue School.

The DelLand Academy (later to
become  Stetson University),
established in 1882 as a semi-private
elementary then high school, was the
only high school in Volusia County until the late 1890s. The first instructor
was Dr. J.H. Griffin. An early map of DeLand shows a large plot of land
at the northeast corner of Woodland Boulevard and Minnesota Avenue
set aside for the academy. By 1884, the academy had outgrown its rooms
in the church building. At a cost of $10,000, Henry DeLand had the

Roweena Dean, at a salary of
$21 per month, taught for one
year.

building now known as DeLand Hall built for the academy. In 1885, the"

school's courses were broadened and it became known as DeLand College.
The first and only graduate from DelLand College was Henry DelLand'’s
son Harlan.

In 1899, a new DeLand Public School, located on the southwest corner
of Clara and Rich Avenues, was completed. The new facility, built on
three acres, was described as “a well lighted, heated, and ventilated
building that was beautifully furnished and appreciated.” The new school,
costing nearly $8000, consisted of four classrooms that served grades one
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Ox powered convertibles were very popular during the era of Roweena
Dean.

DeLand’s second school was on Amelia near Church Street.
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through ten. Students choosing to go to eleventh and twelfth grades
could do so at Stetson. The money for the new school, a brick structure
built in 1917, was raised by the DeLand Board of Trade, the subdistrict of
trustees and by contributions and “entertainments” given by the whole
community. As more school construction occurred in the DeLand area,
the DeLand Public School was divided and the south section of the building
was moved west on Rich Street. It was used for elementary students and,
later on, junior high classes until 1939. The other section of the building
was moved to a site off Clara Avenue and was used for manual training
and as a band room. (See DeLand High School Chapter Three.)

A photographic glimpse into another early DeLand schoolhouse.

ORMOND BEACH

The first school established in Ormond Beach, then called the New
Britain, was begun in 1876 in a small cabin on what is now Granada
Avenue. Mrs. Bacon, the teacher, instructed six boys from three to five
years of age. The school term was six weeks in length. Mrs. Florence
Corpe took over the teaching duties from Mrs. Bacon. This little school
lasted until 1880 when a second school was built. The new school was a
frame building, painted gray on the outside and left unpainted on the
inside. It was located in a small clearing at the corner of Ridgewood Road
and Lincoln Avenue. There was a table and chair for the new teacher,
Alice Lulu Foulke, a Quaker from Illinois. The students had homemade

seats and desks arranged in two rows of double seats and one row of
single seats. There was no gender mixing. The boys sat with the boys and
the girls with the girls. A tin water pail with a dipper was placed on a
small table in the corner of the room. When the pail was empty two pupils
were selected because of their good behavior to go to the neighboring
yard to refill the pail. Ringing the school bell was another favorite reward
for good behavior. School supplies included slates, pencils, rulers, a
writing tablet and an eraser. The students kept the stove supplied with
wood.

i
The second Ormond School
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The History of All Documented Closed Volusia County Public Schools
Closed schools described in this section are those found in the school board
records. Local history sources indicate that other schools in Volusia County existed,
but unless documentation proved them to be part of the Volusia County School

System, they were not included.

An asterisk * denotes segregated schools.
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ALAMANA SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Alamana School from 1912 to 1923. Alamana is located near Lake Ashby
on Rt. 415 in unincorporated Volusia County.

ARIEL SCHOOIL

The Volusia County School Board records show the existence of an
Ariel Schoolin 1911. Clara Clifton, Thomas Quintin, Ada Stanley, Clara
King and Alice Skilton were teachers at the Ariel School. The school was
closed in 1924. Ariel was at one time a small community just north of Oak
Hill. Histories of Oak Hill report that the Ariel School gave used books to
the Oak Hill School for black students when it opened.

BAKERSBURG SCHOOL *

Volusia County School Board records indicate the existence of the
Bakersburg School for minority students from 1928 to 1954. School Board
records also show the existence of a Pierson School for minority students.
The school building, located on Route 17, was a three or four room gray

Mr. Miller, owner of the Putnam Lumber Company, had the Bakersburg
School* built circa 1935.

* denotes segregated school

frame structure that is still standing. The school was built by Carl Hagstrom,
a Pierson carpenter. Itis believed that the Bakersburg and Pierson Schools
for African American students were one in the same. Several families
lived in the area that included a small store and a three or four story hotel.
The school was two miles north of Pierson near the turpentine still and
saw mill, called the Putnam Still. According to Peter Russell Pierson, the
son of the founder of Pierson, the mill was originally owned by a Mr.
Miller. A Mr. Wynn and Mr. Nixon, who owned the Putnam Lumber
Company purchased the mill from Mr. Miller. According to both Ruth
Hagstrom and Russell Pierson, long time Pierson residents, a gifted African
American student from the Bakersburg School had a picture of a horse
displayed in the Volusia County Fair in the early 1930s. The unnamed
student ended up with a job in Washington D. C.

Itis unclear if the Putnam Lumber Company owned any other property
in the area; however, school board records show the existence of a Putnam
Lumber School from 1928 to 1933. It is possible this school was also the
Bakersburg School, listed by a different name. When the Bakersburg School
closed, the students transferrred to the DeLeon Springs School,* later
known as the Malloy School.* The school building in Bakersburg was
then frequently used as a residence and is now vacant.

BAKERSBURG SCHOOL

The community of Bakersburg, a center for the turpentine and lumber
industries, was located between Pierson and Seville. The community was
named for Frank Baker, who had eight sons. The Bakers fought for the
Confederacy during the Civil War. Two members of the family were in the
Civil War, Battle of Olustee. A heart-of-pine school was constructed circa
1892. The Bakersburg School was located near the north end of Braddock
Road. A.O. Botts, later superintendent of schools, was the first teacher.
The school was eventually closed when community children began to
attend classes in Pierson. It was converted into a boarding house run by
Albert Yarborough, and in the 1920s, it became the private residence
A.M. Bennett. The structure burned down in the late 1950s.
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BARBERVILLE SCHOOL *

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a school
for African American students in Barberville between 1921 and 1943.
The school was located west of the intersection of Routes 17 and 40 in
Barberville on land owned by the Conrad family who had a sawmill and a
turpentine still. Many of the students that attended the school lived in
the quarters provided by the Conrad family. Florrie Martin, a Barberville
resident, attended the Barberville school from grade one to grade eight.
The students were probably either bused to the Bakersburg School* north
of Pierson or the Deleon Springs School* (later the Malloy School) after
the Barberville School closed. The Barberville School building that housed
white students is still in use today as The Pioneer Settlement for the
Creative Arts and is found in this historical record under that name.

BENSON SCHOOL *

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Benson
School for African American children from at least 1887 to 1893. This
school may have been located near the Ox Fibre Brush Factory (maker of
palmetto brushes) at Benson Junction near DeBary and Enterprise where
the railroad intersects Rt.17-92.

Benson Junction Ox Fibre Brush Company

* denotes segregated school

BERESFORD SCHOOL *

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a school
for African American students in the Beresford community (now part of
DeLand) in 1883. The school was a log structure and J.W. Roper served
as one of the teachers. This school was still in existence in 1899.

Bef ¥ VRN can .

The town of Beresford in 1910

BERESFORD SCHOO],

Not much is known about the school in the small community of
Beresford that later became part of DeLand. A pamphlet published in
1882 lists a school house and fifty inhabitants in the Beresford community.
Volusia County School Board records show that the Beresford school was
in existence until at least 1893. With the waning of steamboat commerce
that had sustained Beresford residents and the advent of rail transportation,
the growth of the community slowed and the schoolhouse was torn down.

BETHLEHEM SCHOOI,

Volusia County School records show the existence of a Bethlehem
school in 1881. It may have been located in the Enterprise area either
within or near the Bethlehem Church.
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BISHOPVILLE SCHOOL *

Volusia County School Board records indicate that the Bishopville
School for African American students opened in 1927 and closed in 1933.
However, there may have been a school in existence as early as 1900.
The school was located in the "“section-hands"” settlement northeast of the
Bishop house. The Bishop family, who originally came from South Carolina
circa 1900, brought several African American men and their families to
work in the turpentine industry. Prior to settling in Bishopsville, Robert
Bishop was a partner of John Tatum, who built the first still in the area
east of Barberville. Ruth Hagstrom recalled teaching some of the
descendents of these minority families at Pierson Elementary School.
Bishopville was also known as Eldridge and Astor Junction.

BLACKWELDER SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a
Blackwelder School in 1888 and 1890. The school was located near Lake
Winona northeast of DeLeon Springs. The school was named for the
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The Blackwelder School building and this DeLeon Springs polling place
may have been the same building.

* denotes segregated school

Blackwelder family who settled in the area. The voting house on
Blackwelder Road was once a church and may have been the Blackwelder
School.

BLAKE SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Blake
School between 1881 and the 1920's north of Port Orange. EW. Parker
served as the teacher of the Blake School in 1911-12. It is believed that
the school was located in what is now South Daytona near Big Tree Road
near Ridgewood Avenue (U.S.1) and the Hillsborough (now the Halifax)
River. The school probably closed when larger schools like the Port Orange
School and South Ridgewood School were consructed.

BRADDOCK SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Braddock School between 1881 and 1912 in Seville. Lillian Dusenbury
taught at the schoolin 1911-12. The school was located north of Seville
near the Putnam County line. It was named after the Braddock family
who settled in that area before the Civil War. This is the area in which a
Civil War skirmish was fought. When the Braddock School closed the
students went to the Seville School.

BROOKS SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Brooks
Schoolin 1889.

BULOW SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Bulow
School in 1888. This school was probably near Bulow Creek in what is
now Flagler County. The northern part of Volusia County annexed to the
newly established Flagler County in 1917.

BUTTERMILK SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Buttermilk School in 1893. The records do not indicate in what part of
Volusia County the school was located.
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CAMPBELL ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
SECOND STREET ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
DAYTONA COLORED SCHOOL*

Campbell Elementary School began as Daytona Colored School in
1884. The school served students of all ages. (See Campbell Middle
School history) In 1926, Cypress Street Elementary opened. This eased
overcrowded conditions at Daytona Colored School. From 1929 to 1931
Daytona Colored School was known as the Second Street Elementary
School. The school's name changed again to Campbell Street Elementary
in the 1931 to honor car-racing legend Malcolm Campbell.

By 1943, another African American elementary school opened, the
South Street School (now Turie T. Samll Elementary), which reduced the
number of students at Campbell Elementary. In 1946 a fire gutted most
of the Campbell Street High School. Both Campbell Elementary and

Cypress Street Elementary were forced to go on double sessions for a time

to accommodate the high school students. The Volusia County School
Board then bought vacated army barracks in the Welch area of Daytona
(by the Halifax Hospital) to house Campbell High students until their
new building was completed in 1948.

When Campbell High moved to Keech Street in 1962, Campbell
Elementary moved into the vacated high school building on Campbell
Street. Campbell Elementary closed in 1969, and the
students were integrated into other Daytona area schools to comply with

Renovated and reopened as the Dickerson Center, the Campbell
Elementary School building is still serving the community.

court ordered integration. The school was renamed the Dickerson Center
to honor Campbell Elementary principal, John Dickerson.

CENTERHILL SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Centerhill
School from 1887 to 1916. Area residents John Strawn and, his father,
Robert Strawn, have stated that the location of the school was at the fork of
Blackwelder and Winona Roads in the DelLeon Springs area. Centerhill
School was a three-story, wooden structure and served grades one through
eight.

The intersection of Blackwelder and Winona Roads is where the
Centerhill School once stood.

CLAY BRANCH SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Clay
Branch School from 1890 to 1898. Its exact location is unknown.

CLEARWATER SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Clearwater School in 1899. Its exact location is unknown.
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CLIFTON SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the Clifton
School in Spring Garden, near Rt. 40 and Rt.11 between the years 1881
and 1928. The Clifton School, sometimes referred to as the Dan Clifton
School, was named after the Cliftons, a pioneer family in the area. Their
property was known as the Clifton Settlement. Area residents believe
that the Clifton School (or Dan Clifton School) had several different
locations in the Spring Garden-Lake Winona area.
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Children at the Clifton School

* denotes segregated school

COLEMAN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
ORANGE CITY SCHOOL*

The first school for African American children in Orange City was
held in a shed opposite the Dickinson Library. Volusia County School
Board records show the existence of this school in 1911. It moved from
this site to the Odd Fellows Hall on the corner of Holly and Blue Spring
Avenues. From there the school moved again to a frame building near the
Shangri-La Motel on Volusia Avenue (Rt.17-12). In 1925-1926, Orange
City passed a bond issue to build two new schools, one for minority children
and one for white children. The Orange City School for African American
children was erected on Blue Springs Avenue. By the late 1920s, because
of diminishing enrollment, some black students from Osteen and Enterprise
transferred to the Orange City School for African American students.

The school was renamed the Coleman School in 1960 for its principal
of many years, Marion Coleman. Coleman was closed when
Orange City Elementary was integrated in 1969-70. Playground
equipment from Coleman was brought to Orange City Elementary, and
part of the Coleman School itself, a brick building with two classrooms,
was also moved to the Orange City Campus. The structure was taken
from Blue Springs Avenue to Volusia Avenue up French Street and to
Orange City Elementary without any damage. The remaining building
at the Coleman site is still in use as a Head Start facility.
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The Coleman School shown here circa 1946 was later used for the
Council on Aging on Oak Street and Blue Spring Avenue.
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CORIES SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Cories
School in 1881. Its location is unknown

CROSS BRANCH SCHOOL,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the Cross
Branch School near Deland from 1881 to 1890. The school may have
been located near what is now Route 11.

DEEP CREEK SCHOOIL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Deep
Creek School in 1881. Physical maps of Volusia County indicate that
there are two Deep Creeks, one near DelLeon Springs and the other
southeast of Lake Helen.

DELUNA SCHOOIL,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a DeLuna
School in 1889. Its location is unknown

They fail,
and they alone,
who have not striven.

Thomas Bailey Aldrich

EMPORIA SCHOOL

The first school built in Emporia, circa 1883-84, was a two-story
frame building with a bell tower above the front porch entry. It was
located near Emporia Road in what is now the community of Pierson.
The first teachers boarded with various Emporia families because they
did not reside in the community. By the middle 1880s there were about 70
students from the area attending the school. The Emporia School, first
known as Number 32, received a $200 allocation from the Volusia County
School Board in 1886. A newspaper article in 1908 reported the end of
the year activities including “recitations and declamations” at the
“splendid” school.

By 1927, the original school building was torn down and a more up to
date, stucco building was erected near the original site of the old frame
school. Additional property was also purchased adjacent to the original
site to expand the school grounds. Outdoor modern bathrooms with flush
toilets were built behind the school and a water fountain was installed
near the concrete walk leading to the front entrance. The interior of the
school had two large rooms and a small stage. Bi-fold doors between the
rooms were opened for special events and presentations. The school was
phased out of existence in 1956, and the students were then transported
to either Pierson or Barberville.

The second Emporia School and some students circa 1927
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ENTERPRISE SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records indicate that an Enterprise School
for African American students existed between 1887 and 1954. Not much
is known about the first school in Enterprise for African American children.
However, in 1927, a new Enterprise School for minority students was built
on Doyle Road. Funding for the school was donated by the Rosenwald
Foundation. The new school was constructed in 1927 and opened its
doors to students from the Garfield School (closed in 1928) and the old
Enterprise School. Teachers who served at the school included Professor
Richardson, Florida James, Professor King and Professor Bronson.

Leon Clements, an Enterprise resident, attended this school. He
recalled that each morning the students would sing patriotic hymns and
share current events stories. The Christmas programs were always centered
on the Messiah. He remembered that the commodities truck came during
World War II, distributing necessities for the students and their families.
The school had one room and each grade level sat in a different row. The
teacher would call one row at a time to the front of the schoolroom to work
on reading, math, etc. The schoolroom also had a library. The students
had a variety of chores to keep the school clean. Miss Glass, a lady from
the Enterprise area, often came to do "readings" for the children.

Pauline Poole was the Enterprise School's last principal. When the
school closed, the students from Enterprise and Osteen and other
surrounding communities went to the Orange City School for minority
students (renamed the Coleman School). Initially some of the students
paid an older student, whose last name was Beamon, to drive them to the
Orange City School. Later on, Mr. Durant drove the school bus that
transported black students from Osteen to Garfield, Enterprise, Benson
Junction and Lake Helen to the Orange City (renamed Coleman) School.

The object of
teaching a child
is to enable him to get along
without his teacher.

Elbert Hubbard

EUREKA-HIGHLAND PARK SCHOOL

Eureka School opened in 1880 in a building on the east side of Hazen
Road, owned by the Hazen family. The community was originally called
Eureka and eventually became known as Highland Park. About 30 pupils,
including some from Glenwood and Broomville attended the school for a
six-month school term. It appears that the Eureka students assisted with
community newspaper The Fureka Herald. Under the paper's masthead
it said "A journal devoted to the interest of the Eureka neighborhood, and
edited by the pupils of Eureka School.” The date on the newspaper was
1887.

School attendance grew and by 1889, a new and larger building called
the Highland Park School was constructed by parents in just 13 days on
the west side of Hazen Road. Atone end of the schoolroom was a raised
platform where the teacher sat at her desk. Children were called up to
the platform to recite their lessons. The younger children often learned
much of the upper grade curriculum from the older children because all
grades were in one room. The parents furnished all books and supplies.
On Friday afternoons children were able to demonstrate what they had
learned to the parents. The Highland Park School served the children

until the Glenwood School opened until 1899.
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Long gone are the glory days for the Highland Park School.
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FARMTON SCHOOI,
CELERY CITY SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Celery
City Schoolin 1912-13. Celery City was located southwest of Hawks Park
(now Edgewater). The community was begun by developers who sold 10-
acre plots for the purpose of raising a variety of vegetables and fruit.
Shortly thereafter, Celery City became the community of Farmton, and
school board records show the existence of a Farmton School from 1916 to
1924. This school may have been a continuation of the Celery City School
under the name of Farmton.

FAULKNER STREET SCHOOL

Faulkner Street School was builtin 1916 on two and one-half acres of
land (called the Bryan Block) on the east side of Faulkner Street in New
Smyrna Beach, four blocks north of the business district on Canal Street.
The school was a two-story stucco on masonry building that contained 19
classrooms, an auditorium, administrative suite, health room, lunch room
and small band room. The school was built to replace the Mary Avenue
School. Faulkner Street School served elementary, junior and high school
students until Live Oak Grammar and High School opened in 1925-26.
Faulkner Street's high school students then went to Live Oak. Anne
Pattillo was the Faulkner Street School's principal from 1921 until 1946.
In the middle of the 1930s, Faukner Street was forced to go on double
sessions to accommodate the students at Live Oak Grammar and High
School while the Live Oak School underwent extensive repair work due
to termite damage.

Larry Sweett attended Faulkner at that time and remembered receiving
his first paddling, for laughing at another student, from Miss Wilkenson,
his first grade teacher. Jane Gould, who attended the Faulkner Street
School, remembered that the teachers didn't have clocks in their classroom.
There was one school clock in the administrative offices. She recalled
ringing the bell by pulling on a long rope. To ring the bell was considered
to be areward for good behavior. Another Faulkner Street alumna, JoAnne
Sikes, remembered “naughty” students ringing the bell on Halloween
night. She also remembered that the circular driveway in the front of the
school and the adjacent sidewalks were used by neighborhood children
for roller-skating. Faulkner Street School was the center of the community,
and its campus was used for numerous afterschool activities and sports.

When Charlotte Howey Mooney returned to Faulkner Street for a reunion
before the building was demolished, she glanced at the PTA (Parent Teacher
Association) recorded minutes of 1938 (during the Great Depression).
The minutes stated that due to lack of funds the PTA could no longer
afford to provide free lunches for needy children. Mrs. Mooney also
noted that because of the cost of photographs, no school pictures were
taken during the Depression years.

Jane Gould returned to Faulkner Street as a teacher and taught the
first kindergarten class at the school in 1963. (Jane's two daughters,
Donna Adams and Cindy Crandall followed her into education, and both
teach at Read-Pattillo Elementary). Mrs. Gould recalled the talent/
variety shows put on by the faculty and the PTA to raise money for
school projects. Faulkner Street was closed in 1986. Students from

Faulkner Street Elementary transferred to the newly refurbished
Chisholm Elementary. The bell, rung by Jane Gould as a student at
Faulkner Street, was brought to Chisholm and is displayed in front of the
school. Faulkner Street Elementary was eventually torn down.

Faulkner Street School circa 1926
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FLORIDA AVENUE*

Located in DeLand, the Florida Avenue School was a school for
elementary African American students. It was opened to alleviate the
overcrowded conditions of the Bronson School (later called Euclid Avenue)
that served students in grades one through twelve. The children called
the school "Miss Johnson's School.” Itis believed that this school closed
when the Parson Avenue School (now called Starke) opened. The Alliance
Nursing Home is now at the site of the Florida Avenue School .

The Alliance Nursing Home is the probable location of the Florida
Avenue School.

FLOWERS SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Flowers
School in Seville from 1899 to 1912. G. G. Fouts was listed in the School
Board Directory as the school's teacher. The school was located behind
the present day Seville Elementary School. It was a two-story structure
and classes were held on the second floor. The first floor was a bar/
tavern.

* denotes segregated school

GARFIELD SCHOOL’

Volusia County School Board records indicate the existence of a
Garfield School, near Enterprise, for African American students . Garfield,
originally called Mossdale, was an independent minority community
between Enterprise and Osteen near Stone Island. School board records
indicate that the Garfield School was opened from 1911 to 1928. Local
historian, Jesse Beall, said that the African American population settled
in Garfield after the Civil War where they engaged in farming. The little
community had its own post office and was a stop on the rail line that ran
from Oak Hill to Benson Junction.

Classes were first held in the Methodist Church and later on in an
annex to the church. Evelyn Poole Hamilton Akins, a DelLand resident,
attended the Garfield School after her parents moved to the area from
Georgia. She remembered teachers Professor King and Professor Bronson.
Garfield School had special festivities for Halloween and Christmas.
Students at the school regularly put on programs of readings for their
parents. During the late 1920s, a more modern school for minority students
was built in Enterprise. Funding for construction of the Enterprise School
came from the Rosenwald Fund. Rosenwald was a philanthropist who
donated money for minority schools. This same fund built the DeLeon
Springs School (later Carry Malloy School) for black children. The
Garfield School closed in 1928, and Garfield's students went to the newly
constructed school in Enterprise. The Garfield community gradually
diminished in size and importance as residents moved away.

GLENCOE SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records indicate that the Glencoe School
was located in the community of Glencoe, named for the Coe family, west
of New Smyrna Beach. The school was in existence from 1887 to 1931. It
was located near the Campbell Mansion and the old Glencoe railway
station. The one room school served students in grades one through
eight and had two privies — one for the boys and one for the girls. Kent
Hall, a former student, remembered teachers Miss Samsula and Miss
Annie Baker. Douglas Futch, Henson Turberville, Jess Ditson, Shirley
Ware and members of the McKensie family all attended the Glencoe School.
Former students recalled that when they went to Live Oak High School
(now New Smyrna Beach High School), the “town kids" considered them
“hicks."
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GLENWOOD SCHOOL*

The Glenwood School for African American children was held in a
little Methodist Church on Carr Street in Glenwood, prior to 1900. In
1900, the school was moved into a one-room structure, built by the local
African American community. 1t was closed in 1943, and children from
Glenwood then attended school in Deland.

GLENWOOD SCHOOL

In the 1880s, Glenwood children had to walk two miles through the
pinewoods to attend the Eureka School and later the Highland Park School
on Hazen Road. In the mid 1890s, parents joined together and built a
one-room addition to the Glenwood Presbyterian Church to be used as a
school. Mary Marshall was the first teacher, and water for the children
had to be carried by the "big boys" from the nearest well. Recess was
always called when the organ grinder man came along Glenwood's Grand
Avenue. Austin Conrad recalled that after he finished the eighth grade
in Glenwood, his uncle arranged for the teacher to instruct him and his

The First Glenwood School was located in the Glenwood Presbyterian
Church.

* denotes segregated school

sisters in the ninth grade curriculum to make them eligible for the DeLand
Academy.

In 1915, the school was moved to the remodeled Maynard home, one
mile south of the church annex. Later, a second room was added and
another teacher was hired. Inthe 1920s, Melvin Jones of DeLeon Springs
took Glenwood children of high school age to DeLand High School in a
truck he used during the day to deliver ice. In 1936 the Glenwood School
closed, and the children were transported to school in DeLand by bus.

The second Glenwood school was located in the remodeled Maynard
home.

GREEN BAY SCHOOL,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Green
Bay School between 1889 and 1893. Its exact location is unknown.

HALE SCHOOL

The Hale School was located in Seville near the Putman County line.
It was closed when Seville Public was built. Itis assumed that this school
existed before 1900.
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HARWOOD SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Harwood School in 1912-13 in Harwood, Florida. Harwood, a minority
community, was located north of Ormond Beach. The community was
located on what is now the Flagler County line near Mount Oswald.
Mount Oswald was a plantation owned by Richard Oswald, during British
rule in Florida. Oswald negotiated the Treaty of Paris of 1883 for the
British that ended the American Revolutionary War. Flagler County was
not established as a separated county until 1917.

HAW CREEK SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the Haw
Creek School in the small community of Dupont between 1888 and 1917.
Willie May Kirbye was one the school's early teachers. This area is located
northwest of Ormond Beach in what is now part of Flagler County. As
stated before Flagler County did not become a separate county until 1917.

HIGHLANDS ELEMENTARY SCHOOYL,

Highlands Elementary began as an annex of the Volusia Avenue School
in the Women's Army Corp(WAC) barracks on White Street in 1952. George
Walters, a teacher at the annex, also served as its administrator. There
were four classrooms in each barrack. The school was renamed Highlands
in 1954 to avoid confusion with the Volusia Avenue School. A new school
was built in 1961, costing $551,000, and was located on Heineman Street
in the Welch area of Daytona. The new structure had 24 classrooms, a
library, an administration suite and a cafeteria. When the new school
opened, Highland teachers and students moved all their belongings,
including desks, to the new facility just before the spring break. Some of
the old furniture brought from the barracks was never replaced. The new
school was not landscaped, and the campus was full of sand and sandspurs.
Highlands Elementary students planted bushes and flowers to beautify
their campus. .

* denotes segregated school

A special education program was begun in 1959 called the Highlands
Special Education Center. The Center was headed by David E. Edgar
and located on White Street. This center became part of Hillcrest School
that was built at the same time as Highlands. Both schools shared the
same cafeteria and campus. Highlands Elementary School closed in 1993,
and Highlands Elementary students went to Palm Terrace Elementary.

Both Highlands (above) and Hillcrest (below) are now a part of the
Daytona Beach Community College campus.

HILLCREST SCHOOL

Hillcrest School was first housed in the WAC barracks, located at 250
White Street. It served many purposes, including a facility for the U.S.
Army, before it was converted to a school by the Votusia County School
Board. In 1948, a concrete addition was added to the original structure.
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A Special Education Center, first a part of Highlands Elementary, was
established in 1959.

Anew building was constructed in 1960 (at the same time as Highlands
Elementary) at 322 Platt Court, and the Highland Special Edcuation Center
became Hillcrest School. Both Highland Elementary and Hillcrest School
shared a common cafeteria and other facilities. Hillcrest School closed at
the end of the 1996-97 school year. This was the first attempt at
mainstreaming exceptional education students into a reqular education
setting. Hillcrest students transferred to Atlantic High School and Palm
Terrace Elementary.

HIRES (HIERS) LAKE SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a school
near Hires Lake between 1887 and 1912. Willie Ludewig was listed as
one of the teachers at the Hires Lake School. A porch was added to the
original structure in 1907. Hires Lake is south of Lake Diaz and west of
Lake Daugherty on Routell near Spring Garden. Both school board
records and early maps show variations in the spelling of the name Hires.

HORNEVILLE SCHOOL

John Horne donated land for the Horneville School and community
parents constructed the school building. The school, named for the man
who donated the land, opened in 1884 and was located in east Pierson.
Parents also made a teacher's desk, a long desk for students and two
benches that seated 20 students. Lumber painted black served as
blackboards. John Cade was the school’s first teacher. The school term
was three months long. Outside on the school grounds, the parents built
a "brush arbor” where the students could eat their lunch in the shade.
There was a great celebration on opening day and donated baskets of
food provided a sumptuous feast. Opening and closing days were
celebrated with daylong picnics. The school was in existence until at
least 1892.

HULL SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the Hull
School in Ormond Beach in 1887. It was located near Tymber Creek Road
and the Ormond Beach Airport.

* denotes segregated school

INDIAN POND/ SPRINGS SCHOOL,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of an Indian
Pond (or Springs) School in 1893. Indian Springs was a little community,
on the rail line from Blue Spring to New Smyrma, located west of New
Smyrna. In 1909, eighteen year old Olive Martin from Orange City began
her teaching career at the school. She began teaching on a “Scare
Certificate.” She had eight students, most of them children of “turpentine
men,"” who in turn gave her room and board in their homes. Volusia
County paid her $25 per month. She remained at the Indian Springs
School until 1912.

KENMORE

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Kenmore School near Pierson in 1887. Its exact location is unknown

KEYSER SCHOOL*

According to Volusia County School Board records, the Keyser School
for African American students was established in 1939. This date is disputed
by a 1949 brochure, written by the Campbell Street School Alumni
Association, that says the Keyser School began in 1926 under Miss Irene
Roberts. Though not a part of Bethune Cookman College, the school was
located on its campus. The school was used as a training or “lab" school
for education majors at Bethune Cookman College. Prior to the opening
of the Keyser School, Bethune Cookman had been teaching students in
elementary grades on its campus. The Keyser School closed in 1954.

The one exclusive sigh of
thorough knowledge
is the power of
teaching.

Aristotle
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KIMBALL ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
MARY AVENUE SCHOOIL*

Kimball Elementary began as Mary Avenue School. African American
children in grades one through four were sent to Mary Avenue when the
white students were transferred to the newly opened Faulkner Street School
in 1916. The first principal was Cecilia Kimball, for whom the school was
renamed. When Chisholm High School for minority students moved to
Ronnoc Lane in 1954, a wing was built on the back of the school for Kimball
Elementary students. The original building on Mary Avenue was converted
into a kindergarten center and an agricultural arts class for high school
students. Kimball remained an elementary school for African American
children until integration. The back wing of Chisholm Elementary was
originally part of the Kimball Elementary School. The school on Mary
Avenue is now a Head Start facility for pre-school children.

Today, the Mary Avenue School is a Head Start Facility.

* denotes segregated school

KINGSTON SCHOOL

The Kingston School was built in 1908 in Kingston, a small community
near Mason Avenue that is now a part of Daytona Beach. A.W. Kingston
donated the land for the school in 1905. In 1911, R. A. Hammons taught
at the school. The 1912-13 Volusia County School Board records show
that the school had three other teachers, W.H. Britt, Holly McClellan and
Winifred Kingston. The school was closed in 1916 when the North Ward
{later North Ridgewood) School opened.

LAKE ASHBY SCHOOL,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Lake
Ashby School from 1881 to 1898. Lake Ashby is east of Rt.415 west of the
New Smyrna Beach-Edgewater area. Its exact location is unknown.

LAKE DAUGHARTY SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Lake
: Daugharty School from 1928 to 1930.
Local residents state that the school
was opened at an earlier date. The
school was located east of Barberville
and south of Lake Diaz and named for
the Daugharty family who lived in the
area. Clyde and Anna Daugharty gave
the Volusia County School Board the
land for the school with the provision
that the donated land would revert back
to the family when it was no longer used
for educational purposes. His daughter
Marjorie Daugharty McCormick, and
his nephew, Elvin Daugharty, both
attended the Lake Daugharty School.
The school served elementary grades
one through six. It is probable that
students from the Clifton School went
to the Lake Daugharty School after it
closed in 1928.

Marjorie Daugharty
McCormick stands by a bell
that was rung at the Clifton
School and later at the Lake

Daugharty School.
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LAKE ERIE SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the one-
room Lake Erie School from 1887 to 1889. The school was located near
Lake Erie on the west side of Rte.17 on Jerico Road near Barberville. An
old newspaper, The Pierson Advance, reported in its Emporia column in
1887 that A.J Jernigan taught at the Lake Erie School. It is believed that
the school term was three months long. The children of three local families
(the Georges, Petersons and Purdoms) attended the Lake Erie School.

LAKE HELEN SCHOOIL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Lake
Helen School for African American students in 1911. There is no record of
the school's first location. In 1917, an elementary school for minority
children was built in Lake Helen on a large corner lot at Goodwin and
Washington Avenues. The school site occupied more than four acres.
The school, made of yellow pine, was called Lake Helen Elementary School
and became a center of the African American community. After
desegregation, the 57 the students transferred to Long Lake Helen School
and their school took on a new life as a religious center called the Sidney
Taylor Foundation Center. In 1988, the building was converted into a
home for a community theater group, the Shoestring Players.

The Shoestring Theater now occupies the building which housed the
Lake Helen School.

* denotes segregated school

LAKE JUANITA SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Lake
Juanita School, near Seville, in 1887. Its exact location is unknown

LENOX AVENUE SCHOOL
SOUTH LENOX SCHOOL,
SOUTH SCHOOL

Lenox Avenue Elementary was located at the corner of Lenox and
Grandview Avenues in Daytona Beach. It was constructed of stucco on
brick with a clay tile roof in 1924. The school was first called South School
and then, South Lenox School. In the early years the school did not have
a library, and art and music classes were held in the auditorium. The
Lenox Avenue students were in walking distance of the Cornelia Young
Public Library, and they were able to check out books for both schoolwork
and pleasure at the publiclibrary. The students were also able to listen to
records at the library. Mary Christian, who later became principal of

Lenox Avenue School opened its doors in 1926,
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Riverview, taught second grade at the new school. Her classroom was the
first aid room and it was so small that she had to hold reading classes out
in hallway.

A concrete addition, consisting of ten classrooms, a lunchroom, an
auditorium, a library, a clinic, and an administrative suite, was added in
1948. A two-room, frame building was used for primary classes. Until
1962, Lenox Avenue served grades one through eight. In 1962, the school
added a kindergarten class, and seventh and eighth grades were moved
to Seabreeze Junior High School. Violet Felker, a Lenox Avenue teacher,
recalled that the school was just like "one, big, happy family.” Jessie
Kinnerly echoed the same sentiments. She said that during her 29 years
at Lenox, she taught in just about all the classrooms.

Lenox Avenue Elementary was integrated in the 1968-1969 school
year. African American students were bused to the peninsula school from
the Daytona mainland. During this time students remember the art teacher
would occasionally take them to the beach to do sand castings. Sixth
grade classes held yearly fund raising projects to purchase a farewell gift
for their school before moving up to junior high school.

Over the years the school survived three fires. After the last fire
Superintendent Gill wanted to close the school and transfer the Lenox
students to either Longstreet Elementary or Ortona Elementary.
However, both the faculty and parents persuaded Dr.Gill to change his
mind. In the bicentennial year of 1976, Lenox students put messages in
helium balloons and released them as part of the bicentennial
celebration. Lenox Avenue finally closed its doors in 1982. The First
Presbyterian Church bought the Lenox Avenue property for $175,000.

LIVE OAK GRAMMAR AND HIGH SCHOOL

Live Oak Grammar and High School opened in the 1925-1926 school
year serving students in grades one through twelve. The new school was
a three-story, stucco building with glossy wooden floors, sash windows
and steam heat. Students from the south side of New Smyrna Beach and
Edgewater attended the elementary and junior high grade levels at Live
Oak. All white high school students from the New Smyna Beach area
attended Live Oak High School. Some time later, Live Oak was closed
temporarily to repair extensive termite damage. Faulkner Street School
went on double sessions to accommodate Live Oak students while the
school was being repaired.

At Live Oak School the elementary grades, one through six were
housed on the north end of the second floor of the school. When Read-
Pattillo opened in 1957, elementary students from Live Oak then went to
the new elementary school. Euda Conley, who was principal for elementary
students at Live Oak, became the first principal of Read-Pattillo. William
E. (Bill) Hall, now Volusia County Superintendent of Schools, attended
the Live Oak School. He remembered LaVerna McGinnis as one of his
favorite teachers. Since all grades, kindergarten through twelfth were
housed on the same campus, it was a thrill for the grammar school students
to mix with the older high school students. They were able to see all the
practices and games in which the older students were involved because
the athletic fields were adjacent to the school. Superintendent Bill Hall
recalls as a youngster combing the ground underneath the bleachers for
loose change.

Live Oak then served junior and senior high students until a new
high school was built on the North Causeway in New Smyrna in 1963.
Live Oak then became a junior high school. The school remained a junior
high until 1983 when junior high students moved to a new facility on
Myrtle Street. Live Oak was eventually torn down.

Live Oak Grammar and High School
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LUNGREN SCHOOL,

The Lungren School was built on land (Lot 36) donated by Mrs. Henry
Lungren to the Board of Public Instruction for Volusia County. Included
in the deed was a reverter clause that meant when the lot was no longer
used for educational purposes, it would revert back to the Lungren family.
The land was given to the school board in September, 1896 and shortly,
thereafter, a school (large for the time) was constructed one-fourth mile
south of Route 40, west of Barberville. The school building also served as
a church. The school was either burned or torn down when students
were transferred either to Barberville or Emporia School.
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He rarely hits the mark
or wins the game
who says, “l know I'll miss!”
while taking aim.

Arthur Guiterman

MAINLAND JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
MAINLAND JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH
SCHOOL
DAYTONA BEACH JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
DAYTONA PUBLIC SCHOOL

Mainland Junior High School began as part of the Daytona Public
School, located at 118 Bay Street, in Daytona Beach and opened in 1909,
serving grades one through twelve. The school was the first high school
attended by Daytona's pioneer families who came to the area in the late
1870s and 1880s. The original building was made of brick and masonry.
There was an arched porchway over the main door.

In 1916, North and South Ward Elementary Schools (renamed North
and South Ridgewood) were built, and Daytona Beach Public School
became Daytona Beach Junior-Senior High School. A separate addition
fronting Third Street was built in 1926. The addition into which the high
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Mainland Junior Senior High School
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school students moved was of heavy, masonry construction with fine,
detailed decoration around the doors and was designed by noted Florida
architect Harry M. Griffin. Both the 1909 and 1926 structures reflected the
Florida architecture of the period. Both the newer high school building
and the older junior high building (that faced Bay Street) shared a common
courtyard and were connected by a covered walkway. The transition from
junior high to high school was made easier for students because of
proximity of the two schools.

In 1962, a new Mainland High School was built on the corner of
Clyde Morris Boulevard and Volusia Avenue (now International Speedway
Boulevard). The Third Street site became part of Mainland Junior High
School. During the late 1960s, 75 Mainland Junior High students walked
off the school grounds to protest the dress code. The students were
protesting the dress code already in effect at local high schools, including
a ban on short skirts for girls and long hair for boys. Thirty students
walked out the second day, and by the third day school life was back to
normal. Students who participated in the walkout were disciplined.
Mainland Junior served seventh, eighth and ninth graders until 1971
when it was converted into a seventh grade center. Eighth and ninth
graders went to Campbell Junior High.

In 1978, professors from the PK Young Laboratory School (affiliated
with the University of Florida) came to Mainland Junior and established
the first Reading Is Fundamental (RIF) in Volusia County. A $5,000 grant
provided three books for each Mainland Junior student. Students from
the Mainland Junior art department won a countywide Christmas mural
contest, sponsored by the Heritage Bank. The bank used the design for
their official Christmas card. At Mainland Junior each student received
his/her school photo in a folder. The folder was then used as the student's
official Writing Prescription Folder. Mainland Junior High closed in
1983. The building was eventually torn down to make room for an
expansion of the Heritage Federal Savings Bank.

CARRIE L. MALLOY SCHOOL, *
DELEON SPRINGS SCHOOL*

The first school for African American children established in DeLeon
Springs was in the Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church on
Route 17 and the corner of Weaver (present site of Bill Warren's Fixit
Shop). Volusia County School Board records indicate that a second school
for minority children was in existence in 1911. They also attended school
in the St. Joseph Lodge. In the late 1920's, EN. Burt donated land for a

* denotes segregated school

MALLOY

HEAO START

new school. At that time the Volusia County School Board had limited
funds for minority schools; therefore, money to build the school was
provided by the Julius Rosenwald Fund. The fund was created “for the
purpose of education and the improvement of race relations in the United
States.” Carrie Malloy, who was a teacher at the school, was instrumental
in obtaining this funding. .

In 1935 the new school structure was built of wood on a lot, surrounded
by oak trees and located on Retta Street. The school was remodeled in
1955 and renamed after Carrie Malloy who, besides assisting in efforts to
obtain the original funding, had served for many years as a teacher for
the Afican American children of the DeLeon Springs area. The Malloy
School was phased out in 1969 when Volusia County Schools were
integrated. The school then became a Community Service Center.

MAYTOWN SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Maytown School in 1898 and 1899. However, the school may have been
opened until the 1920's. Teachers that served at the Maytown School
were Charlotte Bradley, Mamie Osteen and Bertha Burns. (Bertha Burns
was born in 1896 and taught at Maytown; therefore, it can be assumed
that the school was opened for some time.) Maytown is located west of
Oak Hill. At one time the community had both orange groves and a
turpentine still. It was also a stop on the railroad line that crossed southern
Volusia County from Osteen to Benson Junction.
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MAYTOWN SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a school
for African American students in Maytown, located between Oak Hill and
Osteen, from 1921 to 1928. Itis likely that when the school closed in 1928
minority students went to the Oak Hill School* or the new Enterprise
School* built with money from the Rosenwald Fund.

MCGION (N) SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a McGlon
School from 1887 to 1924. The McGlon School was named after a local
minister and was located in southeast Seville. When the school closed,
students then went to the Seville School.

McGlon school children

* denotes segregated school

MINERVA BOND LONG - LAKE HELEN
SCHOOL

The first school in Lake Helen was a log structure built in 1888, and
Nathaniel Barrows served as the first teacher. The school was located
on Lakeview Drive. At that time the school year was only a few months
long. It is believed that other buildings also served as a school, inlcuding
the storage behind the existing school, the Bishop home and a two-story
frame house south of the Long Lake Helen School. Mr. and Mrs. Henry
Hurst and Meda Richmond were some of the school’s early teachers.

In 1916, a brick (Bond sandstone
brick) school replaced the first log
structure. It was constructed on
Lakeview Drive about a mile and a half
from the original school site. The
school served 75 students and, the
school term was six months long. The
school bell could be heard all over Lake
Helen to summon and dismiss
students. It is said that teachers cut
switches from outside to discipline
unruly students. This happened only
occasionally because students who got
in trouble at school got in trouble at
home. During the 1920s PTA (Parent
Teachers Association) dues were $.50
per year. Boys wore short pants and
stockings and played marbles, hide and
seek and crack the whip. There was a
tradition that new students (boys) were carried to the flagpole then bumped
into the pole before officially becoming a student at Lake Helen. Like in
other communities, the students either went home for lunch or brought
their lunches to school. At various times the Lake Helen School served
grades one through 12, grades one through ten, grades one through six,
and Kindergarten through grade five.

The school was enlarged over the years and many portable structures
were brought to the campus to accommodate the growing student
population. Marion Feasel, former teacher and principal, remembered
that when she was teaching fifth and sixth grade, John Witt (a student)
knew more math than she did. In 1967, Lake Helen School was integrated.
Prior to this time minority children went to a separate school in Lake
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Minerva Bond Long
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Helen. Betty South, principal from 1970 to 1974, remembered her years
at Lake Helen as some of the happiest in her career. Lloyd Anderson,
who also served as principal of the Lake Helen School remembered one
little boy went home and told his parents that “the Lord" was going to be
principal. He'd gotten Anderson's name Lloyd confused with Lord. In
1975, the school was dedicated and renamed after long time teacher and
friend to Lake Helen children, Minerva Bond Long. Mrs. Long, who
spent most of her life in Lake Helen, served the children of Lake Helen
and West Volusia as a teacher, speech therapist and storyteller. Minerva
Bond Long — Lake Helen Elementary closed in 1996. The Lake Helen
students moved to the newly opened Volusia Pines Elementary.

A 10th grade class at Lake Helen School

MOUNT OLIVE SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Mount
Olive School in 1881. Ttis likely that this school was held in a church or
church annex. Its exact location is unknown

NEW TOMOKA SCHOOL?*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a school
for minority students in Daytona called New Tomoka School from 1926 to
1933. Gertrude Rogers and Blanche Freeman were teachers at the school.

* denotes segregated school

NORTH RIDGEWOOD ELEMENTARY
SCHOOIL,
NORTH WARD SCHOOI,
MAINLAND ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

North Ridgewood Elementary was built in 1915-16 on Ridgewood
Avenue (now U.S 1). The street was paved with shell. The school was
first called Mainland Elementary School and then North Ward in the early
years. The school's first principal was Edith Bainter. The PTA (Parent
Teachers Association) was formed before the school was completed, and
the first PTA president was Mary Roxby. The PTA raised money for
playground equipment, books for the library, and a cot for the nurse's
room. The PTA members also painted the school. H. Clinton Dunn, a
student in 1918, remembered a high slide and swings on the school ground.
The students ate on benches under the trees that filled the yard and
when it rained, they ate in the auditorium. In 1923. the school was
renamed North Ridgewood.

From 1929 to 1931, PTA members landscaped the school grounds.
They also persuaded the Volusia County School officials to fix the furnace
and the city of Daytona Beach to concrete the sidewalks adjacent to the
school. In 1931, North Ridgewood Elementary entered a float in the
children's parade. The school was awarded $35 in gold as the grand
prize. This money was used to assist the PTA's landscaping project.
The PTA also worked to bring accredited teachers to the school. Later, the
mother-teacher chorus of North Ridgewood PTA sang at Volusia County
Council meetings. During the 1930s, the PTA began a lunch program by
selling sandwiches to the students at lunchtime. They provided free
lunches for children who were unable to pay. The PTA also purchased an
oil stove for the cafeteria and paid for the plumbing in the teacher's rest
room. In the late 1930s, the PTA paid for new electrical wiring at North
Ridgewood Elementary. Field Day and football games were not held at
the school but in the big field behind the Volusia Avenue School.

During the 1940s, the PTA continued to fund many of the “extras” at
North Ridgewood, including venetian blinds in the teacher’s lounge and
lunchroom, new playground equipment, a radio, 16mm projector and
film strip projectors. A new cafeteria was built in the 1950s. In 1952, long
time North Ridgewood teacher and principal John Walker began his career
at the school. In the 1950s and 1960s, the school hosted a number of
carnivals and spaghetti suppers as fund raising projects.

Like its sister school, South Ridgewood, North Ridgewood had an
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underground walkway constructed under busy Ridgewood Avenue for
the safety of the children. The underground walkway was later filled in
and no evidence remains of its existence. Mrs. Mary Inez McCollough,
who interned under sixth grade teacher John Walker, was the first blind
person to teach in a reqgular education setting in the state of Florida.

In 1960, a health room was opened at the school. Mothers took turns
each day to care for a hurt or sick student. James Beardsley, a former
Daytona resident, remembers his first days at North Ridgewood - the
smell of the hallways, taking naps in the afternoon on the hardwood floors,
the size of the sixth graders and the Alice in Wonderland murals that
lined the walls of the first floor hallway. He also recalled the hissing of
the radiators, the dampness of the cloakroom on rainy days, the excellent
rolls served by the cafeteria and the Easter egg hunts in the front yard of
the school. In 1969, North Ridgewood was integrated. Some teachers
were assigned to formerly segregated schools, and African American
teachers took their places at North Ridgewood. In 1970, fire gutted the
administrative office and did extensive damage to the school. North
Ridgewood served the north end of Daytona until 1982.

In the school year 1982-83, the intermediate grades of the newly
created Sugar Mill Elementary attended class at North Ridgewood until
the Sugar Mill buildings were completed. While being used in this
capacity, a fire that began in Mrs. Dale Stump's room gutted the east
wing of the school in 1983. North Ridgewood was demolished in 1987
after being purchased by St. Paul's Catholic Church.

N. Ridgewood Elementary in the 1940’s

* denotes segregated school

OAK HILL SCHOOL*

Oak Hill's African American children shared a school with the white
children in 1901. The first school in the Oak Hill community for minority
children was held for a time at the home of Mr. Bill Williams, a former
slave. The teacher at this new school was Dr. Hill from Daytona. Classes
were also conducted in various community churches. The children then
went to a one-room school, constructed in 1926.

In 1928, Nancy Cummings became a teacher-principal at the Oak
Hill School and remained there for the next forty years. Mrs. Cummings
transported those children who lived too far to walk to school in her car,
recalled the Reverend Charles E. McKay, Sr. He said that Mrs. Cummings
eventually had him board at her home during weekdays. She made the
school the heart of the African American community, and her teaching
methods were models for educators from Gainesville and Tampa.
Cummings' Oak Hill School became a pilot school for Bethune Cookman
College. Several additions, including a lunchroom, were made to the
Oak Hill School over the years, and the staff increased to four teachers.
The Oak Hill School closed at the end of the 1967-68 school year. The
children were integrated into the school for white children in Oak Hill,
now known as Burns Oak Hill. Part of the Oak Hill School wasused as
a portable classroom at Edgewater for many years.
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The Oak Hill School was eventually torn down.
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ODUM LAKE (LAKE ODUM) SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Lake
Odum School in 1893. School records refer to the school as either Lake
Odum or Odum Lake. The school was located near Lake Odum, northeast
of DelLeon Springs.

OLD TOMOKA SCHOOL*
TOMOKA SCHOOL*

The Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a
school for African American children west of Ormond Beach called the
Tomoka School. It was opened intermittently between 1911 and 1924. Belle
Royal was one of the first teachers at the school. The school’s name was
changed to Old Tomoka School in 1921. Later teachers were M. E.
Thornton and C.E. Thornton. The school's location is unknown.

ORANGE GROVE SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of an Orange
Grove School in 1881. Its location is unknown

PIERSON LAKE SCHOOL

School board records show the existence of a Pierson Lake School in
1881. It is believed the school was near Lake Kenny.

Art,
like morality,
consists in drawing the line
somewhere.

G. K. Chesterton

* denotes segregated school

PIONEER SETTLEMENT FOR THE
CREATIVE ARTS
BARBERVILLE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
CENTRAL HIGH SCHOOL,
BARBERVILLE SCHOOL
W. A. CONE SCHOOL
MIDWAY SCHOOIL

The first school in Barberville was opened in 1870. The school was
located in a building at the William B. Minshew homestead with Amanda
Center as its first teacher. It is believed the second Barberville school
opened the next year at the “Burgstiner Place,” and Dr. Walden was
employed as the teacher. The third school was located in a small, frame
house approximately two blocks north of the intersection of Routes 17 and
40. This building was later replaced by a larger dwelling. Both structures
were called Midway School because, prior to the coming of the railroad
and the construction of a depot, the community was called Midway.

For several years the Midway School was a private school but in 1878,
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it became a public school, receiving some financial assistance from the
Volusia County School Board. Midway School was renamed the W, A.
Cone School (or School Number 4) after W. A. Cone, the school's trustee.
By September 1886, the school was known as the Barberville School,
Number 2, and received $250 as its allocation for that term. According to
an unpublished history of early schools by Viola Beaseley Roberts students
who “graduated” from the eighth grade were well-rounded and could go
out and make their way in the world. At that time the school term lasted
six to eight months and school hours were 8:30 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. A few
minutes of the school day were devoted to “chapel” when a devotional or
prayer was read. Students sat on pine benches and they were referred to
as "seats of education.” By the early 1900's, a PTA (Parent Teacher
Association) was formed, and mothers would come to the school on Friday
afternoon to hear their children recite “pieces.”

Barberville High

In circa 1917, the Volusia County School Board wanted to provide
more than an eighth grade education for students in the northwest section
of the county. Ninth and tenth grades were added to the Pierson School.
Barberville students, and students from the “Clifton settlement” were
"bused” by a Model A Ford and later by a black, “rickety " bus to Pierson.
The following year, 1918, citizens of Northwest Volusia made plans for a
four-year high school, and in 1919, Central High School opened its doors
in Barberville. Prior to the new school's construction, the site for the high
school created a dispute among the various communities of northwest
Volusia and the state of Florida had to step in to settle the matter. Ten
acres of land for the new high school were donated by Samuel Edward

* denotes segregated school

Lemmon and the name Central was given to the new high school because
it was in the very center of the area’s small communities. The high school
was noted for its agricultural department, a fine girls' basketball team and
an outstanding glee club. In 1921, the school held its first graduation
with three girls and two boys. Over the next few years the graduating
classes became larger. The school lunchroom served one of the “best
lunches in Volusia County."

However, when the population of the area decreased, high school
students were returned to Pierson, and Central High School became
Barberville Elementary School, serving grades one through six. John
Becks was the elementary principal. The elementary school at Barberville
was phased out in 1969, and the remaining 45 students transferred to
Pierson Elementary and McInnis Elementary. In 1976, the original Central
High School became the Pioneer Art Settlement. Later renamed the Pioneer
Settlement for the Creative Arts, the facility serves all students of Volusia
County, sponsoring programs that explore the history and culture of the
area. (See Adjunct Classrooms at the end of Chapter 3).
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The Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts in Barberville is one of
three adjunct classrooms available to students in Volusia County. For
more information see Adjunct Classrooms at the end of Chapter 3.
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PONS PARK SCHOOIL,
(PONCE INLET)

The first schoolin Ponce Inlet (formerly called Pons Park) was a one-
room school located across the street from the present Fisherman's Wharf.
-Prior to this time, early families sent their children by boat to school in
New Smyrna. This school was constructed in 1889 and was eventually
incorporated into a house built by the Hasty family, with the school
becoming the kitchen after it closed. Early teachers were Flora Williams
and Maud Knapp. :

Pons Park (Ponce Inlet) students circa 1900

The second school in Ponce Inlet was built by the Volusia County
School Board, and it was located on Cedar Street. This school also had
one room, but it was larger than the first structure. A blackboard covered
almost the whole east wall, and there was the teacher's platform with
large windows on each side. The students got a daily pail of drinking
water from the nearby home of Charles W. Jones. Finding teachers for
the school was sometimes a problem, and there were times when the
school year had to be shortened. Mosquitoes were a constant problem for
both the teacher and students, and during this time a big black bear was
killed right outside the school. When this stucture was no longer used,

* denotes segregated school

classes were then held in a storage shed in the back of the Pacetti home.
Mrs. Gomez Pacetti was the teacher. This school was located across from
the Ponce Inlet Lighthouse. The big event of each school year was when
the supply boat came to Ponce Inlet. The children were also allowed to
watch the car races on the beach. School board minutes show that Laura
Carter was appointed teacher in 1916. Older children were "bused” to
Port Orange to complete their education.

PORT ORANGE SCHOOL*
FREEMANVILLE SCHOOL*

Freemanville is located in Port Orange, east of the Sugar Mill Gardens.
After the Civil War, John Milton Hawks, Volusia County's first post Civil
War superintendent, began a school for African American children in the
Freemanville community in 1867. This school lasted for only one term.

Another school for minority children opened in Port Orange near the
Port Orange School for white children on Dunlawton Avenue. When the
railroad was extended through Port Orange, the Port Orange School for
African American children was moved back to the Freemanville area of
Port Orange. Volusia County School Board records show the existence of
this school from 1911 until 1955.

PREVATT SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Prevatt
School in 1881. The school was either located in Lake Helen that was
first called the Prevatt Settlement or near Prevatt Road in Pierson.

The man
who doesn’t read good books
has no advantage
over the man who can't read them.

Mark Twain
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RICHARDSON SCHOOI,

At the juncture of Route 17, County Road 3 and Emporia Road,
approximately three miles north of Barberville a small community existed
that was first known as Astor Junction, then Eldridge and finally
Bishopville. In 1886, a school known as the Richardson's School was
built in Astor Junction. The School Board of Volusia County allocated
$180 to run the school for a term. Melba Mead was one of the first
teachers at the school. The school was located on Hagstrom Road and
remained open until at least 1910. It is probable that when the
Richardson School closed, the students went to the Pierson School.

Richardson School in Astor circa 1910

* denotes segregated school

RIGBY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
ORMOND COLORED SCHOOIL*

Rigby Elementary School was originally called Ormond Colored
School. Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Ormond school in 1911. The school was first located on the corner of
U.S.1 and Tomoka Avenue, and then it moved to the corner of Central and
Younge Streets (U.S.1) on a five acre, sandy tract in Ormond Beach. The
structure was a two story, stucco-over-frame building, constructed in 1924,
consisting of seven, small classrooms, a cafeteria and a principal's office.
Mrs. Lela Scott graduated from the eighth grade at the Ormond Colored
School in 1924. She passed an exam and taught at Ormond (later Rigby)
while waiting to be certified. When certified, she continued to teach at
the school until the school closed in 1969 and Mrs. Scott retired.
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Still on display from the Rigby School era is a beautiful hand-painted
mural depicting life on the Tomoka River.

In the school year 1939-40, Ormond Colored was renamed for Major
George N. Rigby, who was mayor of Ormond Beach for several terms. A
one-story, clay tile building, containing two classrooms, a band room and
music room was built in 1956 as an addition to Rigby Elementary. Rigby
had grades one through eight until 1962. Betty Powers, now principal of
Turie T. Small Elementary School, was a student at Rigby. She remembers
Rigby as a community school where Mr. Kennedy, math teacher, coached
basketball. The team competed with other schools, drawing big crowds.
The basketball team even played under the lights that shone from the
tennis courts behind the school. Mrs. Powers also remembers Josephine
Kennedy, the music teacher, whose dance and choral groups performed
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throughout the community. She recalls the May Day celebrations at the
school complete with the May pole, weekly Bible classes, walks home at
lunch time and Mr. Hill's band.

From 1962 until its closing, Rigby Elementary served students in
grades one through six. Rigby Elementary School was closed after court
ordered integration in 1969-70. Students from Rigby Elementary were
transferred to Ormond Elementary. Part of the original Rigby Elementary
is now the Neighborhood Child Development Center. Some of the Rigby
campus is now used as a bus depot for Volusia County School Board
buses.

Part of the original Rigby Elementary School is now used to house the
Neighborhood Child Development Center.

ROGERS SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Rogers
School in 1912-13 near Lake Helen, Florida. Rogers was a small community
on the rail line that extended from Blue Spring to New Smyrna Beach.

* denotes segregated school

ROSE BAY*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Rose
Bay School from 1887 to 1913. H.J.V Lane was one of the teachers at the
Rose Bay School. Rose Bay, south of Port Orange, was on the rail line that
extended down the east coast of Florida. The Rose Bay School probably
served the children of railroad workers who lived near ther the rail line.
The Rose Bay area had citrus groves that also required a work force.

SAND HILL SCHOOL'

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Sand
Hill School for African American students in 1881. The school's location
is unknown

SAULSVILLE SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Saulsville
School in 1889. Saulsville was located between Lake Helen and Osteen.
It is thought that the Saulslville School was held in or near the original
Sauls home on George Sauls Road near Osteen. George Sauls was the
first settler in Osteen.

SAULSVILLE SCHOOL*

The Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a
Saulsville School for African American students in 1921-22. Saulsville is
located between Lake Helen and Osteen near the home of the founder of
Osteen, George Sauls. School board records also show the existence of
an Osteen School for minority children. The Saulsville and Osteen Schools
may have been one and the same school. When the school closed, the
students probably attended the school in Garfield and then the new school
for African American students in Enterprise, built with money donated by
the Rosenwald Fund.
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SEABREEZE JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL
SEABREEZE JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH
SCHOOL
SEABREEZE SCHOOL
MEMENTO SCHOOL

Seabreeze Junior High was originally Seabreeze Junior-Senior High.
When the new Seabreeze High School was built in 1962, the building at
223 North Grandview Avenue became a junior high facility. The junior
high had 800 pupils in grades seven, eight and nine, and the school
served the whole peninsula from Ponce Inlet to the Flagler County line.
The school song was written and composed by Randy McSwain, and Joe
Pace orchestrated the song for the band. James Whitaker was appointed
principal and remained at Seabreeze Junior High until the school closed
in 1983. Teachers who worked for Whitaker said he never asked anyone
to do anything he wouldn't do himself. He often taught in the classrooms
and chaperoned school dances. The teachers also said that Mr. Whitaker
knew every incoming seventh grader's name by the third week of school.

The Seabreeze Junior High PTA (Parent Teachers Association) was
organized before the school opened in 1962. Its first projects were the
formation of a Civil Defense Committee (created in response to the Cuban
Missile Crisis) and a Clothing Bank. The PTA was also responsible for
the sign that was erected on the southeast lawn of the school. PTA mothers
staffed the health room. They provided money for students to take Arthur
Murray dance lessons as well.

There were many academic courses offered at Seabreeze including
Latin, Spanish and French. Seabreeze was the first junior high to offer
geometry and biology. Seabreeze was also the first to install computers
and include technology as part of the curriculum. The school had a student
government association which formed the “student police.” The police
monitored the halls between classes, and a student court heard violations
such as running in the halls, using the wrong staircase and being in the
halls without a pass.

Seabreeze Junior High had a variety of clubs, many of which were
offshoots of the core curriculum such as music, foreign language, and
home economics. Clubs were also formed to promote outdoor activities
like horseback riding and roller-skating. Sports were an important part
of junior high life. The Seabreeze football team won trophies in 1963,1965
and 1968. The basketball team won Volusia County championships in
1963, 1975, 1977, 1978 and 1979. The team won the Tri-County cup for

basketball in 1970. Teams were also fielded in volleyball, tennis, golf,
bowling and soccer. Because Seabreeze didn't have a handball court,
the students invented "“roofball.” Played like handball, the roofball court
was the roof of the gym.

The Daytona peninsula continued to grow during the 1960's and by
the 1967-68 school year, Seabreeze Junior High had 1250 students. Social
studies instruction had to be delivered over closed circuit television; two
classes were held in the cafeteria and one met on the stage; and four
teachers traveled from room to room with no room of their own. During
1965-66 Gregg and Duane Allman's band, the “Allman Joys,"” played for
all the school dances.

In 1969, the northern boundary of the Seabreeze zone was moved
from the Flagler line to Ponce de Leon Drive. All students living north of
the line were rezoned to Ormond Junior High, and Seabreeze Junior's
enrollment decreased to approximately 1000. In 1970, African American
students from the Daytona mainland were transported to Seabreeze for
junior high because of court ordered integration.

In the 1970s, home economics, shop and agriculture were made
available to both girls and boys. Learning Disabilities classes and Career
Education were added to the course offerings at Seabreeze. In 1976,
the first PTA teacher appreciation luncheon was held. During this time
enrollment decreased to 500 students because the beachside population
was migrating to the northern end of the peninsula. Geometry and biology
were no longer offered as academic courses. In 1979-80, the Future Farmers
of America Club under the direction of James Massfeller, won national
recognition for their award winning project, “The Restoration of Pinewood

The venerable Seabreeze Junior-Senior High School opened as the
Seabreeze Junior High at the beginning of the 1962-1963 school year.
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Cemetery.” This Main Street Cemetery is the final resting-place of a
number of Daytona Beach's early settlers.

Because of a diminishing enrollment and the need for a new physical
plant, Seabreeze was closed in 1983. Seabreeze students were
transferred to Campbell Junior High (now a middle school) in Daytona
and the newly opened Silver Sands Junior High (now a middle school)
in Port Orange.

SEVILLE SCHOOL*

The Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Seville School for African American children in 1893. The school was
eventually renamed Seville Elementary School. During the 1960's Doris
Paskowitz, a school psychologist at the time, recalled visiting the Seville
Schoollocated in the woods near a stream. As she pulled up to the school,
several large alligators were sunning themselves on the bank of the stream
not far from the schoolhouse. When integration of the Volusia County
School System occurred in 1969, students from Seville Elementary went
to Seville Public, which was then renamed Seville Elementary.

SOUTH RIDGEWOOD ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL
SOUTH WARD SCHOOIL,

South Ridgewood Elementary, originally called South Ward School,
was builtin 1916. The school was a two story brick structure located on a
two-acre site on Ridgewood Avenue, or U.S.1, a street that later became
congested with heavy traffic. The school was renamed South Ridgewood
Elementaryin 1923. A tunnel was later constructed under U.S. 1 to provide
safe passage for the students.

In 1956, a two-story wing of concrete block was constructed that
included a lunchroom and three new classrooms at the cost of $79,185.
While Sue Patterson was principal, South Ridgewood Elementary became
the first elementary school to have a school library. The first book purchased
for the library was Heidi. The book was later given to Volusia County
School Superintendent Raymond Dunne when he retired as a token of

For a time, this house served as an annex, housing the overflow
students from South Ridgewood Elementary.
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South Ridgewood Elementary

appreciation. For most of its existence, South Ridgewood Elementary
housed students in grades one through six. In the 1960s, the school
added kindergarten classes. Diane Gilpatrick, a teacher at South
Ridgewood, remembers when a tornado was spotted in nearby South
Daytona all the students in the school took refuge in the tunnel under U.
S. 1 for over an hour. South Ridgewood was closed in 1982. Before closing,
the South Ridgewood students went on a field trip they will never forget.
Intermediate students went for a daylong trip to the Kennedy Space Center
on an air-conditioned bus with an onboard bathroom. Primary students
went to Sea World on the same type of luxury bus.

In the 1982-83 school year, South Ridgewood Elementary served as
temporary quarters for the primary classes of the new Sugar Mill
Elementary until the new school's construction was complete. Since
1983, South Ridgewood has been used in various capacities. Many of the
classrooms have been turned into meeting rooms and others have been
renovated as offices.

* denotes segregated school

SPRING CREEK SCHOOL,

‘Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Spring
Creek Schoolin 1881. At this time, a Spring Creek School existed in Lake
County near Alexander Springs. Itis doubtful the Lake County school
was the same school recorded in Volusia County School Board minutes.

SPRING GARDEN SCHOOI,

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Spring
Garden School from 1887 until at least 1893. Spring Garden is north of
DeLeon Springs. Bert Fish grew up in the Spring Garden area where his
father owned a general store.

SPRING GROVE SCHOOL,

The Spring Grove School was located near Harper Road in Emporia
(later part of Pierson). Early settlers constructed the school that was used
as a church on Sundays. It is speculated that the school was built circa
1868-70. The Volusia County School Board records for 1877 indicate that
School Number 3, Spring Grove, received an allocation of $81. Itis also
thought that the first school was not even a permanent structure, rather a
brush arbor with log sides and a brush roof. Eventually this primitive
structure was replaced by a wooden building. Records indicate that the
school remained in existence until circa 1893.

STETSON SCHOOL®

The Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the
Stetson School for African American students beginning in 1911. The
Stetson area of DeLand is on the west side of the city. At one time the
Stetson family had orange groves in this area. This school closed in 1943.
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SUBERS (SOUBER’S) SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Subers
School in Lake Helen for African American students from 1881 to 1889.
According to Charles Cohen and Henry and Lula Whites, Ike Suber, an
African American who worked in the Lake Helen sawmill, had acquired
land in the Lake Helen area. He owned the building and land that housed
the Subers School. The school, which may have been a small home, was
located in a wooded area off of Ohio Avenue in Lake Helen. Suber also
donated land for the Suber's Memorial Garden off Orange Camp Road in
Lake Helen.

SUBURBS SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Suburbs
School for minority students from 1889 to 1893. Its location is unknown.

SUDAN (SOUDAN) SCHOOL'

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a Sudan
School for minority students from 1889 to 1893. Its location is unknown.

VOLUSIA SCHOOL?*
TATUM'S STILL SCHOOL*

The Tatum's Still School was located just east of Barberville. It is
believed that the school was in existance intermittently from 1911 until
1933. It was on property owned by the John Tatum family, who had large
lumber holdings in the area. The still, located three miles east of
Barberville, was the first in the area and it was used to make turpentine.
The Tatum's Still School was a school for minority children, and Volusia
County School Board records show the school was in existence from 1911
to 1913. The school may have reopened as the Volusia School from 1921
until 1925. While it is not known for certain if the Volusia School was a
continuation of the Tatum's Still School, its existence is recorded in school
board records as being in the same area. School board records also list a

* denotes segregated school

Putman Lumber Company School from 1928 to 1933. Itis not certain if
this school was the Bakersburg School* or a continuation of the Tatum
Still/ Volusia School for African American students. It is also possible that
the Putnam Lumber Company had more than one mill in the area.

TIGER BAY SCHOOL

The Tiger Bay School was near the nine-mile turpentine still, half
way between Daytona and DeLand. School was held in an old shack.
The roof leaked and the cracks in the floor allowed mosquitoes and fleas
to invade the schoolroom. Since wild hogs rooted under the floor, there
were plenty of fleas. The room had a broken piece of blackboard and two
or three long benches. Most of the students were children of the men
who were overseeing convicts working at the still. The convicts were kept
in a stockade to work in the swamps or slash pine trees for pitch. About 12
students attended the school. Some of the parents were illiterate. With
no books, the children learned their letters and numbers from the
blackboard. Mrs. Huber, who later taught in DeLand, had her first Volusia
County teaching experience at the Tiger Bay School. She had to board
there in the most primitive conditions during the week and went back to
DeLland each weekend. Mrs. Huber taught at the Tiger Bay School from
1912 to 1915.

TS, av .?ﬂ:;
The Tiger Bay School circa 1912
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TURNBULL BAY SCHOOIL

The Turnbull School (or Turnbull Bay School) near Turnbull Bay was
in existence from 1888 to 1924, according to Volusia County School Board
records. The first school was either torn down or destroyed by fire. Another
Turnbull Bay School was rebuilt and is now a private residence. Turnbull
Bay is north of New Smyrna Beach and named after Andrew Turnbull,
who brought a colony of Minorcans (also numerous Greeks and Italians)
to the New Smyrna area in 1768.

" ,, \w m
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The Turnbull Bay School is now a private residence.

VOLUSIA AVENUE ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

Volusia Avenue School, located at 640 Volusia Avenue, was opened
in 1926. Volusia Avenue, now International Speedway Boulevard, was a
road that ran through the center of Daytona west of the Halifax River.
The school, a two-story stucco-on-hollow tile building, originally had 12
classrooms, a small library, an administrative suite and a storeroom. Volusia

* denotes segregated school

Avenue, from its opening to 1961, served first through seventh grades. It
wasn't long before Volusia Avenue was putting on events that helped
create a warm, family atmosphere. In 1928 the school had a window box
contest with a prize being awarded to the classroom with the most attractive
window box.

Three additions were later added to the original structure. The first
addition was built in 1929 when the auditorium was completed. In 1930,
during the Depression years, the PTA donated $25 to the cafeteria to provide
lunches for needy children. During this time the school gave Christmas
baskets to families in need rather than having the traditional Christmas
party. The PTA was also instrumental in having lunches prepared in the
Volusia Avenue Cafeteria instead of continuing to transport the food from
the high school. They also purchased an oil stove for the cafeteria. Dr.
H.S.B. Treloar remembered the Volusia Avenue's school paper, The Palm
Breeze. In 1938, when in the first grade, Dr. Treloar wrote an article for
the school paper about the Thanksgiving play his class put on for the
parents. Treloar recalled his one and only “whipping.” He received the
punishment from Miss Almy for throwing ants at a girl.

Volusia Avenue Elementary had many memorable teachers. Eliza
Robinson began teaching at the school in 1927 and then served as principal
from 1943 until 1957. She instructed three generations of Daytona students
during her tenure, and she knew each child by name. Ruth Jessie and
Dorothy Almy taught first and second grade for many years. Students
throughout the years also remember the steel ramp, the murals along the
walls, the bomb drills and the national defense stamps during the war
years. The music teacher organized boys' and girls’ glee clubs. In 1942,
the boys' chorus of Volusia Avenue was the first from the local schools to
put on a public performance.

A new auditorium built of concrete was constructed in 1950 and in
1954, a concrete, two-story ,12-classroom wing was also built. By the mid
1950’s, Volusia Avenue was the county's largest elementary school with
682 students. Students remember watching parades march down Volusia
Avenue. Lamar Langstrom recalled that all the classes in the Volusia
Avenue School lined the avenue in the middle of the school day to wave
at Cuban President Fulgencio Batista as he rode by in a convertible.

Volusia Avenue School served a number of purposes over the years.
Inthe 1960-1961, Volusia Avenue added a kindergarten class. Inthe next
school year, 1961-62, the school served kindergarten through grade eight.
In 1962, seventh and eighth grade students were sent to Mainland Junior
High on Bay Street, and some elementary students from Highlands
Elementary were transferred to Volusia Avenue. From 1962 until 1969,
kindergarten and grades one through six were housed at the Volusia
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Avenue School. Also by the middle 1960s, the school became a PRIDE
pilot center in order to facilitate the integration of the entire Volusia County
school district. The school was converted to a kindergarten center and
served children in several handicapped programs from 1969 through 1979.
In the 1979-80 school year, Volusia Avenue discontinued its kindergarten
center and from 1980 until its closing in 1988, it served as an ESE
(exceptional student education) center. In 1988, Volusia Avenue School,
home of the Satellites, closed its doors. Bethune Cookman College bought
the property to expand its campus and the Volusia Avenue School was
torn down.

The Volusia Avenue School site was purchased by Bethune Cookman
College.

VOLUSIA SCHOOL*

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of the Volusia
School for minority students from 1881 to 1933. Julia Ferguson taught at
the school in 1916. From 1917 through 1928, Beatrice Phillips served as
the teacher. Later teachers were D. Phillips, O. Jones and Pearl Swanson.
Volusia (not to be confused with Volusia Landing on the St. Johns) was a
separate community. The community may have been part of the Volusia
Development Company that was located on 900 acres of the Addison Grant.
The acreage was bound on the west side by the Tomoka River to Ridgewood
Avenue. The town may have had a Florida East Coast Railroad station.
The town of Harwood was located north of this site in what is now Flagler
County. This area is now known as National Gardens.

* denotes segregated school

WINNEMISETT SCHOOL

Volusia County School Board records show the existence of a
Winnemisett School from 1887 until at least 1893. The school was probably
located near Lake Winnemisett on the east side of DelLand adjacent to
Rt.44. .

WINONA SCHOOL

The Winona School was located between Lake Winona and Skull Lake
north of DeLeon Springs. Volusia County School Board records show the
school was in existence from 1887 to 1922, possibly in serveral locations.

DEMPSIE BREWSTER ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL

WISCONSIN AVENUE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL,

Dempsie Brewster Elementary was originally called Wisconsin Avenue
Elementary School. It opened in 1925 in DeLand. The 21 room building
cost $92,000 to build. Miss Dempsie Brewster became the principal of the
primary grades in 1925. She then became the principal of the whole

Miss Dempsey Brewster in front of the Wisconsin Avenue School
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school where she remained until her retirement in 1958. At that time, the
school was renamed in her honor. Sylvia Hardin remembered that during
the hurricane that hit the area in 1944 the navy base located near Lake
Beresford was evacuated to the Wisconsin Avenue Elementary School
(renamed Dempsie Brewster). She also recalled that when President
Roosevelt died in April of 1945, Mrs. Brewster had the entire student
body listen to the funeral on a radio placed in the auditorium.

During the 1960's, the seventh grade was also housed at Dempsie
Brewster. Because of the additional student population it was necessary
to hold some classes in the nearby Trinity Methodist Church as well as
two nearby houses. In 1966, kindergarten classes were started at the
school. Dempsie Brewster Elementary closed in 1983 when Blue Lake
Elementary opened. At the time of its closing, Dempsie Brewster served
370 students. The school, now called the Brewster Center, is part of the
Volusia County Administrative Complex.

Wisconsin Avenue School in the 1920’s

DHS MEMORIAL

Approximately 300 DelLand High School alumni, guests and
honored government and school board officials were present at the

dedication of a stone monument
celebrating the red-brick school
house that stood on Rich and
Clara Streets from 1917 until 1979.
Presiding over the ceremonies
was the present Superintendent
of Schools, Bill Hall. The
unveiling was done by the oldest
living graduate of the once
DelLand High School, Julia
Parish, who graduated in 1925.
The granite monument was
created by Michael and Edyth
Baldauff of Volusia Monument
Company. Irene Dreggors raised
the funds to pay for the memorial
from the alumni of the classes of
1925 - 1949.

B b
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The monument features an etching in black marble copied from
an original drawing by Robert Brooks, a DeLand resident and artist.
Refreshments were served and, “A good time was had by all.”
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The following eight pages contain maps of the closed Volusia County
Public Schools. The first page is a map of the entire Volusia County.
On this map seven close-up maps are designated by numbered boxes.
and follow in numerical order. These maps are as accurate as our

historians could make them.

These closed schools are not included because their location
continues to remains unknown at this time:

Buttermilk
Clearwater
Deep Creek
Kenmore
New Tomoka
Orange Grove
Sand Hill
Suburbs

Clay Branch
Cories

Green Bay
Mount Olive
Old Tomoka
Prevatt
Spring Creek
Sudan
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CHAPTER 3

The History of All Current Volusia
County Public Schools
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ATLANTIC HIGH SCHOOL

Atlantic High School, located on Reed Canal Road in South Daytona,
welcomed 985 students in August of 1994. Atlantic was one of two high
schools in the Volusia County School System to pioneer the Copernican
Plan of block scheduling. This plan included longer class periods of two
hours and ten minutes and a school year divided into twelve week
trimesters rather than nine week quarters. The school also utilized a
family registration model. Atlantic is replacingtrimesterblock scheduling
with four by four block scheduling in the 2000-01 school year.

When it opened in 1994, requirements for graduation were some of
the most stringent in the state of Florida, including a minimum grade
point average (GPA) of 2.0 with twenty-eight credits. Faculty and staff at
the school developed a series of Learning Labs that have assisted students
in achieving these higher standards. Atlantic High School also houses a
Law Academy that has a program for students who aspire to a career in
the legal profession. Atlantic, home of the Sharks, currently serves
approximately 1625 students.

Atlantic High School

BLUE LAKE ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

Blue Lake Elementary was housed at Boston Avenue (primary) and
Dempsie Brewster Elementary (intermediate) Schools in 1982 while
construction of the new facility was being completed. The school opened
on April 4, 1983 at its new site. Its name aptly reflects the proximity to
Blue Lake. Blue Lake Elementary, located at 282 North Blue Lake Avenue
in DelLand, was a merger of student populations from Boston Avenue
Elementary and Dempsie Brewster Elementary. The student population
of Blue Lake is culturally and economically diverse. The school has a
migrant center that assists migrant students and theirfamilies with a variety
of services. Currently, Blue Lake Elementary, home of the Dolphins, serves
approximately 950 students, grades pre-kindergarten through five,
including 11 ESE classes, making it one of the largest elementary schools
in Volusia County.

Blue Lake Elementary School

If a child lives with praise, he learns to appreciate.

Dorothy Nolte
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BONNER ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
CYPRESS STREET ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL*

Bonner Elementary, formerly known as Cypress Street Elementary
School, was built in 1926 to relieve the over-crowded conditions that existed
in the elementary grades of the Campbell Street High School. The school
was a two-story block and stucco structure that included two brick wings.
In 1954, a cafeteria was constructed, and another addition was added in
1957. The school was built on an eleven-acre site in what was then called
the Pine Island section of Daytona Beach. At the time, Pine Island was
the fastest growing area of the city. Prior to this time minority elementary
students in the Daytona Beach area attended the Daytona Colored School.

The school name was changed from Cypress Street Elementary to
Bonner Elementary in 1954 to honor its first and longest serving principal,
Evelyn Bonner, who headed the school from 1927 to 1959. Mary McLeod
Bethune was the keynote speaker at the ceremony honoring Bonner.
Previous to her long tenure at Cypress Street Elementary School, Bonner
taught for 16 years at Campbell Elementary. Although she seldom spoke
above a whisper, Evelyn Bonner's words were unchallenged. Even after
her retirement, Bonner visited the school almost daily until her death in
1977 at the age of 85.

Bonner was a segregated school until the late 1960s. The integration
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Mrs. Evelyn Bonner, mid 1950’s

* denotes segregated school

of Volusia County's schools brought about some painful separations among
the Bonner School family because many students and teachers were
transferred to other schools. However, integration also paved the way for
some much needed and previously denied renovations at the school.

Bonner before integration
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Many Daytona Beach families are third generation recipients of a
Bonner Elementary education. In 1996, the National Park Service officially
listed Bonner Elementary on the National Register of Historic Places.

Bonner was designated as a Title I Successful School by the Florida
Department of Education. In 1997 Daytona Beach Mayor Baron (Bud)
Asher presented the Historic Preservation Award to the school.

The current faculty and staff of Bonner Elementary have hosted alumni
celebrations, chronicling Bonner's past and present. At one recent reunion
W.E.C. Shepard recalled that, while going to the school (called Cypress
Street at the time), the lunch was cooked in a big kettle. The stew or soup
that was made came from all the ingredients brought in daily by the
students. A special feature of the celebration has been the museum housed
in the school's auditorium that displays black and white photographs of
Bonner's historical chronology.

Through a partnership with the Southeast Museum of Photography
at Daytona Beach Community College, Bonner also exhibits reproductions
of Gordon Park's photos that depict life in Daytona Beach in the 1940s.
Currently Bonner Elementary, home of the Nice Bears, has approximately
520 students in grades pre-kindergarten through five.

Bonner Elementary School

BOSTON AVENUE SCHOOL,
BOSTON AVENUE ELEMENTARY

Boston Avenue Elementary, located in Deland on Boston Avenue,
opened to 210 students in 1926. The school was built under the direction
oflocal architect H. M. Griffin. Boston Avenue had 14 classrooms and an
auditorium and cost $92,990. The new school had a staff of ten including
ateacher for each grade, and an art, music and physical education teacher.
The school’s administration was divided between a principal for primary
grades and a principal for intermediate grades. The two principals served
in the same capacity at the Wisconsin Avenue School. Eventually, Boston
Avenue had one principal, Kathleen King, for both primary and
intermediate grades. Myrtle Richardson became principal in 1933 serving
for over 30 years. She was followed by Caroyn Hodges who was principal
for 20 years.

In 1957, a cafeteria was constructed as an addition to the school. A
library was builtin 1963 and Louise Ball Cacamise served as the librarian
for 20 years until 1983. In 1968, Boston Avenue added a kindergarten
class that was taught by Dot Harper. Boston Avenue ceased to be an
elementary school when Blue Lake Elementary opened in 1983. In its last
year as an elementary school, Boston Avenue served 336 students.

In 1983, Boston Avenue underwent an extensive renovation and

Boston Ave. School c. 1930
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became a school for the handicapped and those receiving ESE (Exceptional
Student Education) services. The school serves approximately 100 students
from three to 21 years old who have multiple disabilities, including mental
and/or physical disabilities, single and dual sensory disabilities (blind,
deaf) and the medically fragile. Identified students from the west side of
Volusia County attend Boston Avenue. Twenty-per cent of the student
body comes from outside Volusia County; 10% comes from outside the
state of Florida; and 1% comes from outside the United States. Boston
Avenue provides a wide variety of programs to supplement basic classroom
instruction including a variety of therapies, music, art and physical
education. Yearly events such as the Thanksgiving feast, the winter
program and multi-cultural month are widely supported by the community.
Boston Avenue currently serves approximately 95 students.

Boston Avenue School

W.F. BURNS OAK HILI, ELEMENTARY
SCHOOIL
OAK HILIL ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
OAK HILL SCHOOL

The first one-room school in Oak Hill was built in 1895 on the east
side of Gaines Street between Adams and Sargent Avenues. The first
principal was Mr. Story. The Oak Hill School had between 25 and 40
students in first to eighth grade, taught by just one teacher. When the
student enrollment reached 60 students in 1906, two more teachers were
hired. Charlotte Bradley was the principal at that time. Another larger
school was then built on the west side of Gaines Street, and the first and
second grades (primary school) remained in the original school building.
J.A. Goodrich remembered that “You had better learn or you'd a wished
you had.” He said that "If you got a whipping at school, you had a
paddling waiting for you when you got home." Goodrich also recalled the
first “horseless carriage.” When the students heard it coming down the
street, they rushed to the window even though their teacher told them not
to aet out of their seats.

I
(I

Oak Hill c. 1909
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Oak Hill classroom c. 1909

In 1925, a new, one-story school was built on three and one fifth acres
on Ridge Road east of U.S.1. A second story, a lunchroom and kitchen
were added to the original structure. This school housed students from
grades one through ten. One famous alumni of the Oak Hill School was T.
DeWitt Taylor, a long time Volusia educator. The middle-senior high school
in Pierson is named after T. DeWitt Taylor. Prior to World War II, the high
school students, first in the tenth grade and then, in the ninth grade

Oak Hill Elementary School

were sent to New Smyrna Beach, for high school.

By 1957, the school was used only for elementary students, grades
one through six, with an enrollment of 160. The seventh and eighth
grade students were bused to New Smyrna for junior high school. In
1958, a survey of the school's physical plant revealed severe structural
damage. Classes were conducted in the First Baptist Church and the
Oak Hill V. I. A. (Village Improvement Association) Building. A new
Oak Hill Elementary School was built in 1960, and an addition was
constructed in 1968. In 1967, kindergarten classes were added to the school.
In 1974, Oak Hill Elementary was renamed W.E Burns Oak Hill Elementary
for W.E Burns, principal from 1936 to 1942 and from 1947 to 1957. Burn's
wife, Lilly, taught for many years at the Oak Hill school and his daughter,
Betty Burns Bellamy, was also a teacher at Burns Oak Hill for many years
until her retirement. Presently, Burns Oak Hill, home of the Skeeters, has
approximately 210 students in kindergarten through grade five.

Facts as facts do not always create a spirit of
reality, because reality is a spirit.

G.K. Chesterton
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CAMPBELL MIDDLE SCHOOL,
CAMPBELL STREET HIGH SCHOOL*
DAYTONA HIGH SCHOOIL

Campbell Middle School began as Daytona High School, an African
American school that opened in 1884 and served minority students in all
grades. The school was organized in the Baptist Church on Fremont
Avenue in the old Silver Hill District, and the first principal was Mr. J.B.
Hankerson. During the early years the school had between 13 and 18
students. The teachers received a dollar for each student. At the time this
amount was considered a fair rate and the African American teachers
said they received this amount because Volusia County School
Superintendents Parker and Perkins were from the North. Daytona High
School moved to Odd Fellows Hall on the northeast corner of South and
Railroad Streets in 1902. It remained in the Odd Fellows Hall until 1909.
The school then moved to Second Street (now called Campbell Street).
The school was nicknamed “the Little Brown Hut.”

The school’s first football team was fielded in 1928. The team was
called “The Centipedes" and from 1934 to 1938, the team went undefeated.
For a time the Daytona School had a kindergarten class but this was
discontinued in 1929. The school was renamed Campbell Street High
School. When W. D. Prince, was principal the school received accreditation
from SACS (Southern Association of Colleges and Schools) and expanded
from grades one through ten to grades one through twelve.

The school’s final move was to its present location on South and Keech
Streets. On May 27, 1941, Daytona Beach High School became Campbell
Street High School. Both the school and street were named after Sir
Malcolm Campbell, a British racer who set many speed records on the
beach. In 1946, Campbell, then under the administration of A. R. Taylor
was destroyed by fire. Campbell Street Elementary and Cypress Street
Elementary (renamed Bonner) operated on double sessions to
accommodate the high school students. The Volusia County School Board
then purchased several army barracks in the Welsh area of Daytona
Beach, located west of the Campbell Street site near the Halifax Hospital
and White Street. Students attending Campbell Street High School
attended classes in the army barracks until a new facility was completed
in 1948.

Campbell High School students participated in plays, chorus,
cheerleading and social clubs. Campbell teams competed with other
black high schools around the state of Florida in all major sports. Students

* denotes segregated school

frequented Rod's News Stand, the Ritz Theater and Seigneurs. At
Seigneurs, besides a jukebox, Campbell High students could get a
hamburger for $.15. Campbell High had a recreation center where jazz
bands often played for the students. Dances and other entertainment
were alternately held in the Midway section of Daytona (north of Volusia
Avenue —now International Speedway Blvd.) and the New Town section
of Daytona that was the area around Campbell. Former student Jeanette
Cooper also remembers having used books discarded by Mainland High.

Aftera period of time, it was determined that the facilities on Campbell
Street (now Martin Luther King Blvd.), built in 1948, were inadequate
and a new site was purchased. Campbell Senior High was separated
from Campbell Junior High, and both schools moved to another location
on the South and Keech Street property. Campbell Street High School
remained a segregated high school until 1969 when all the schools in
Volusia County were integrated. After integration Campbell Street High
School became Campbell Seventh Grade Center; then it became Campbell
Street Junior High, housing seventh and eighth grades; and in 1970-
1971 the school served eighth and ninth grades with a population of 1700
students. The seventh grade students were then housed at the Mainland
Seventh Grade Center on Bay Street (formerly Mainland High School
and Mainland Junior High School).
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In 1990 Campbell Junior High became part of the middle school concept
adopted by the Volusia County School Board. Presently, Campbell Middle
School, home of the Spartans, is the only middle school in Daytona Beach
and serves approximately 1370 students. Itis an ESE (Exceptional Student
Education), gifted, SEH (Severely Emotionally Handicapped) and regular

education facility.

My pl/\i[osopl/\y of life, and more
specifica"y the lives of individuals,
is quite simp[y_ this. J believe that

all of us should enjoy our work while
main’raining the c'egzﬁee of excellence
required and expecfec[ of us.

J believe that undue pressure
bv‘ougl«’r to bear upon any workenr
tends to diminish that person's
contribution to his )ob
J believe any person WOP“H/\Y of his
peﬂofession will pewfosz\ his duties
with genﬂe proclc!ing - not with

autocratic fo rce.

John Walker, principa]
Nowrth Ridgewood é:[emenfary School
1982

e

* denotes segregated school

G

CHISHOLM ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
CHISHOLM HIGH SCHOOL*
CHISHOLM ACADEMY*

Chisholm Elementary, first called Chisholm Academy, began in a one-
room, frame building as a school for African American children. The
school was located in a subdivision of the Sams Estates in New Smyrna
Beach. Sometime later, the students attended class in a school comprised
of two adjoining houses. When one of the houses burned, Leroy Chisholm,
the owner of the dwellings, constructed and donated a two-story, framed
building located in the 500 block on Washington Street. (Besides owning
tracts of land in the area, Chisholm was a barber by profession and lived
on Riverside Drive in New Smyrna Beach.) This location is now the site
of the Alonzo "“Babe" James Youth Center. Chisholm was the first known
public school for minority children in New Smryna and southeast Volusia
County. The new elementary school had grades one through six. Sometime
later, Clara Wallace raised funds to add a seventh and eighth grades to
the school.

In 1916 white children who attended the Mary Avenue School were
transferred to the newly erected Faulkner Street School. African American
children in grades one through four (previously housed at Chisholm)
moved to the Mary Avenue facility (later to be called Kimball Elementary).
The school was renamed to honor Cecelia Kimball who served as principal
at the school for many years. Chisholm Academy then served minority
children from fifth to ninth grade. In the 1930s Chisholm grew again with
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the addition of the tenth, eleventh and twelfth grades. In 1935, Chisholm
Academy was renamed Chisholm High School, and the length of the school
year was increased from eight to nine months. In 1942, music was added
to the curriculum, and an annex was constructed to house the home
economics department. In 1954, Chisholm High School moved to a new
facility on Ronnoc Lane. A wing was built on the back of Chisholm High
School to house the Kimball Elementary students. The old Kimball
Elementary on Mary Avenue was converted into both a kindergarten center
and an agricultural arts classroom for high school students. In 1957, the
school was further expanded to include a gymnasium, a band room and
an industrial arts complex. Later on, drivers’ education and agriculture
were added to the curriculum.

In 1969, New Smyrna Beach High School opened its doors to both
minority and white students. Chisholm then became a Seventh Grade
Center with eighth and ninth graders going to New Smyrna Beach Junior
High. The school housed seventh grade students from 1969 until 1983.
When New Smyrna Beach Junior High became New Smyrna Beach
Middle School, all sixth, seventh and eighth grade students in the
southeast area were housed at one location. Chisholm was subsequently
remodeled and once again became an elementary school. Faulkner Street
Elementary closed in 1986 and students transferred to the newly reopened
Chisholm Elementary.

Presently, Chisholm Elementary is comprised of the old Chisholm
High School and the old Kimball Elementary (the back wing of the school).
It is located on Ronnoc Lane in New Smyrna Beach on 21 acres of land.
In 1992 the cafeteria space was increased when the adjacent auditorium
was converted to a large cafetorium. Chisholm Elementary, home of the
Wildcats, has approximately 380 students in regular education classes,
pre-k through five, and a variety of ESE (Exceptional Student Education)
classes, including the gifted program. The school has additional resource
rooms for Speech, VE (Varying Exceptionalities) Resource, a Parenting
Center, a Technology Lab and an Elementary Resource Center.

Education is helping the child realize his potentialities.

Erich Fromm

CORONADO BEACH ELEMENTARY
SCHOOI,

The first school in Coronado Beach, on the New Smyrna Beach
peninsula, was built in 1901 on the southeast corner of Peninsula and
Flagler Avenues. The Volusia County School Board furnished the materials
and local parents built the school. The first teacher at the Coronado School
was Ann Pattillo. Children of high school age had to row across the
Hillsborough River (now the Indian River) to attend high school until
Washington Everett Connor, an early New Smyrna Beach philanthropist,
built a bridge across the river, connecting the mainland and the beachside.
The schoolhouse became the first location of Coronado Methodist Church,
started by H.C. Longstreet. The first Coronado School is now the kitchen
of the Cormeth Club.

The present Coronado Beach Elementary was built in 1961 at a cost of
$281,000. The school was named after the first school in Coronado Beach
and the small beachside community of Coronado Beach that later became

Still standing in New Smyrna Beach, the 1st Coronado School now
serves as a kitchen for the CorMeth Club.
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part of the city of New Smymna Beach. Dora Rodgers, sixth grade teaching
principal reported that when Coronado opened it had an enrollment of
200 students in grades one through six and 100 kindergarten students.
One of the teachers to open the new school was Sara Hall, mother of
William E. (Bill) Hall, current Superintendent of Volusia County Schools.
Mrs. Hall remained at the school until her retirement twenty years later.
Former Coronado students include the late mayor of New Smyrna Beach,
George Musson, and Florida State Representative, Suzanne Kosmas.
Famous people who have visited the school are Elizabeth Dole, former
U. S. Secretary of both Labor and Transportation, and Lawton Chiles,
popular two-term governor of Florida.

Coronado has been known over the years as “a good little school.”
The Animation Club, under the direction of Steve Hardock, won
international recognition in 1991,1992 and 1993. The PTA is an integral
part of Coronado Elementary and has played an active role in school
activities since the school opened. The PTA raised funds for an outdoor
classroom, designed by parent-architect Kevin Schweizer. Currently,
Coronado Elementary has a population of approximately 325 students in
grades kindergarten through grade five.

Coronado Elementary School

DEBARY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

DeBary Elementary opened in August of the 1996-1997 school year.
Until December 1996, the school was temporarily housed in portable
classrooms on the Enterprise Elementary campus. The student body was
comprised of students who had originally attended either Orange City
Elementary or Enterprise Elementary. Students moved to DeBary
Elementary School, located on Highbanks Road near Lake Monroe, in
December, 1996. Parents, students and staff members worked closely to
select the school nickname, the DeBary Eagles, motto, colors (gold and
black) and mission statement. DeBary Elementary has received the Five
Star School award each year since it opened. DeBary Elementary presently
serves approximately 790 students in grades pre-kindergarten through
grade five.

DeBary Elementary School

Failure is only the opportunity to begin again
more intelligently.

Henry Ford
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DELAND HIGH SCHOOIL
DELAND JUNIOR-SENIOR HIGH SCHOOI,
DELAND PUBLIC SCHOOL

DeLand High School began as the DeLand Public School, a wooden
structure built in 1898 on the northwest corner of Clara and Rich Streets.
An addition to DeLand Public School was constructed in 1907 that included
14 classrooms and an auditorium which seated 600. Some of the funding
for the addition was raised by the Ladies Improvement Society. Mrs.
John B. Stetson contributed $1000. At that time the school served students
in grades one through ten. Because of the DelLand Public School's
affiliation with Stetson University, students seeking an eleventh and twelfth
grade education could attend classses at Stetson.

In 1917, a brick building was constructed at the same site as the 1898
schoolhouse to house the junior high and high school students. The
older wooden structure was divided into two sections. One section was
moved to the 300 block on Rich Street to house the junior high school
grades. The other section of the 1898 school remained on Clara Street.
The new brick building and the older wooden sections housed high school
and elementary school children. At this time Dr. B. E Ezell was principal
of DeLand Public School. During World War I DeLand students assisted
the war effort by planting gardens. Every student also joined the Red
Cross for $.25 membership. Students also bought three Liberty Bonds at

DeLand Public c. 1899

DeLand Public c. 1920

$50 each for the DeLand school by each bringing in $.05 per month.

In 1920, a wing was added to the school that included a library and a
new auditorium. Before the library was constructed, students had to use
the city library that was located on the corner of Woodland and Indiana
Avenues in the Volusia Bank Building. Students from outlying areas like
Orange City were bused to the high schoolin DeLand. Students from the
DeBary area either had to take the train or lodge in DeLand during the
week. While DeLand High School didn't have a cafeteria, it did have a
lunchroom. Alice Wyatt, former DeLand High student and teacher, recalled
buying mashed potatoes and cabbage for $.05 a serving.

Before SACS (Southern Association of Colleges and Schools) accredited
DeLand High School, many students had attended Stetson Academy (later
Stetson University) for their high school education. An alumni association
for the high school was formed in 1923. In 1924 the first Athenian, the
DeLand High School Yearbook, was published and dedicated to the
Superintendent of Volusia County Schools, George Marks, a former
principal of DeLand High School. The school newspaper, The Growler,
made its debut in 1924. Atabout this time, the school colors were changed
from orange and black to purple and white. In 1926, two elementary schools
were built (Wisconsin Avenue, now Dempsie Brewster, and Boston Avenue)
and from that time DeLand Junior High School served only students in
junior high and high school. During the 1920's, proms were held at either
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the Benson Springs Hotel or the country club in DeLeon Springs. Football
games were played at Stetson Field, and basketball games were held in a
“ramshackle" building nearby.

Front door of the DeLand Public School c. 1920

During the late 1930s, DeLand High's student population grew, and
the junior high moved to a new facility constructed on the high school
campus. Curriculum offerings were "broadened and varied.” The school
had a full time dean, a director of student services, a band and a glee
club. Louise Ball Cacamise recalled that during the 1940s and 1950s,
DeLland students attended dances at Teen Town. They spent after school
hours at Sugar Top on the corner of Amelia Avenue and Rt. 92 (now
Hampton's Restaurant) and the Donut Shop. Students had an hour for
lunch, and many went downtown to eat at Leightener's Drug Store. For
many years the school had a May Day celebration, complete with a May
poledance. DeLand High School band master, John Haney, was a former
member of John Philip Sousa's band where he played xylophone. He
brought this experience to his DelLand High band students who won
numerous awards throughout the state.

Pranksters tried to start a fire at DeLand High School circa 1950. Their
caper resulted in some smoke damage in the front of the building. In
1951, a female student kissed a male student in the school and was,
subsequently, punished. To protest this punishment, 100 DeLand High
students staged a brief strike. One school day in 1952, some DeLand
High students rushed into the school, announcing that two men were
trying to sell drugs to some of the younger children. Ted, of Ted and
Betty's Snack Bar, caught the pair in Dr. Ellis' parking lot, ordered them
off the premises and called the police. At the same time, DelLand High
students rushed out of their classrooms and surrounded the two culprits
until the police reached the “scene of the crime.” In 1955, a cafeteria was
added to the facility. Prior to this time, high school students had been
eating at the Wisconsin Avenue (later Dempsie Brewster) School's covered
pavilion.

In 1961, anew DeLand High School was constructed. The new facility,

.

The first female principal in Volusia County, Maude
Barron served the students at DeLand High School.

designed to house 1200 students, was located on the southwest corner of
Hill and Plymouth Streets. The faculty, students and volunteers were
responsible for the entire move including all the furnishings, books and
supplies. Alice Wyatt, librarian at Deland High for many years,
remembered that they packed twice for the move to the new site. Originally
scheduled to open in the spring, the new facility did not open until
December. There was no heat for a while because birds were nesting in
the heating system. The ceiling in the library had to be replaced because
of some structural damage. When Wyatt moved from the old library to the
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new one, her only equipment was a record player and film projector.
When she retired in 1976, the library staff had increased to five people,
and much more audiovisual equipment had been purchased. After the
move to the new facility, the DeLand High School colors were changed for
a second time from purple and white to green and gold. Many students
and parents remembered the yardstick in the administrative offices, used
specifically to measure the length of the girls' skirts. Short skirts were
frowned upon in the early 1960s. One of the more unusual courses taught
during the 1960s was a Bible History course taught by Mr. Grimes.
DeLand High School had a large increase in the student population
in the 1970s and 1980s. It was the only high school on the west side of the
county, other than Taylor Junior Senior High in Pierson. The rapidly
increasing population of Deltona directly impacted the growing student
enrollment at DeLand High School. At one point the enrollment figure

topped 3000. Jean Wolf, an English teacher and English department
chair at the time, had 32 English teachers for whom she was responsible.
The number of English teachers at DeLand High was greater than the
entire faculty of some smaller Volusia County Schools. When Deltona
High School opened in 1988, this temporarily helped to alleviate the
overcrowded conditions at DeLand High. However, when DeLand Junior
High was converted to DeLand Middle School, all ninth grade students
who had previously attended the junior high were then housed at the
high school, creating another overcrowding problem. The incoming ninth
graders were all housed in portables and hardly ever saw upper classmen
except when attending extra-curricular club gatherings or events.
Presently, DeLand High, home of the Bulldogs, has an enrollment of
approximately 2600 students.

HOME

o —r

DeLand High School
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DELAND MIDDLE SCHOOL
DELAND JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOI,
DELAND JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL
DELAND PUBLIC SCHOOL

DeLand Middle School traces its beginning to DeLand Public School,
awooden structure located on the corner of Clara and Rich Streets, erected
in 1898. In 1917, a new, brick building was constructed, and the older
wooden schoolhouse was divided into two sections. One section was
moved to the 300 block on Rich Avenue to house junior high school
students. The other section of the wooden structure remained on Clara
Street. The new, brick building and the older wooden sections served
high school and elementary students until the middle 1920s. When
Wisconsin Avenue Elementary (now Dempsie Brewster) and Boston
Avenue Elementary Schools were built in 1925, DeLand Public School
became Deland Junior Senior High School. In 1939, a new annex was
built as an addition to the 1917 brick structure. This new annex was for

‘the junior high students who, until this time, were still housed in one-half
of the structure built in 1898.

As the school population continued to grow, the seventh grade had to

be housed for a time in a white, frame building located on a lot between

DeLand Public School c. 1898

DeLand Public from 1916 until 1939

Dempsie Brewster Elementary and Trinity Methodist Church on Wisconsin
Avenue. In 1961, when the new DeLand High School was constructed at
Plymouth and Hill, DeLand Junior High moved into the classrooms vacated
by the high school. Edward Talton became principal of the DeLand Junior
High. This facility, the red brick building built in 1917, was destroyed by

I

Deland Junior High in 1979
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firein 1979. A new junior high was erected on Aquarius Avenue to replace
the building on Clara and Rich.

In the1988-1989 school year, DeLand Junior High became Deland
Middle School, serving sixth, seventh and eighth grade students. DeLand
Middle School, home of the Terriers, is a full service school that is open
weekdays from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. and offers a variety of activities for
students and community members. The school includes a first rate media
center, a sports complex, a complete working farm, and a productive
aquaculture factory. Presently, the school has approximately 1600 students
from DeLand and the communities of Lake Helen and Orange City.

DeLand Middle School

There are only two lasting bequests we can hope to give
our children. One of these is roots; the other, wings.

Hodding Carter

DELTONA HIGH SCHOOL

Deltona High School opened its doors in August of 1988. Atthe time
of Deltona High's opening, the only two high schools serving West Volusia
were DeLand High School and T. DeWitt Taylor High School. Deltona
High School, home of the Wolfpack, draws it student population of
approximately 2260 from the Deltona and DeBary areas. Deltona High
School used a full implementation of the trimester/extended period model
that allowed for the implementation of innovative teaching practices. This
trimester model is being replaced by the four by four block schedule model
in the 2000-01 school year. The Health Services Academy, housed on the
campus, is a school-within-a-school program. It offers students a
challenging, interdisciplinary instructional program that provides
knowledge for beginning a career in the health care industry and/or for
pursuing a health care major at the post secondary level upon graduation.

Deltona High School

Treat people as if they were what they ought to be and
you help them become what they are capable of being.

Johann Wolfgang von Goethe
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DELTONA LAKES ELEMENTARY SCHOOIL,

Deltona Lakes Elementary was the first elementary school in
unincorporated Deltona. It opened in 1982 to relieve over crowding at
Enterprise Elementary. While still at Enterprise Elementary, social studies
students collected memborabilia for a time capsule to be buried at their
new school. Deltona Lakes Elementary is located on Adelia Avenue in a
residential section. From its beginning, Deltona Lakes has been rezoned
six times to accommodate the growth in the area; so, there have been
many changes in the composition and number of its student population.
Since the school’s opening unincorporated Deltona has become a city.

On June 4,1999, the time capsule that was buried 17 years before was
opened. On hand for the opening were former principals Chuck Williams
and Ron McPherson, Patricia Northey and Ann McFall of the Volusia
County Council and Mayor John Masiarczyk of Deltona. During the
ceremony a pictoral history of Deltona Lakes Elementary was presented
to the mayor for the new Deltona museum.

Deltona Lakes has a nationally recognized Sand Pine Nature Center
that was featured at the 1987 Florida Environmental Education Conference.
Deltona Lakes Elementary has also earned the distinction of being named
a Florida Five Star School, meeting 100% of the criteria in the categories
of Business Partnership, Family Involvement, Volunteers, Students'
Community Service and School Advisory Councils. Deltona Lakes has
won many other awards. In 1995-1996, the school received the Sunshine

State School Public Relations Association Medallion - First Place Award
for the Deltona Lakes Creed Program. Deltona Lakes won the Golden
Spoon Award in 1996-1997 and 1997-1998 and the Florida School
Recognition Award in 1997-1998. At the present time, Deltona Lakes,
home of the Eagles, serves approximately 870 students in grades pre-
kindergarten through five, with 18% of the student body receiving ESE

" DEITONA MIDDLE SCHOOL
DELTONA JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL

Deltona Middle School began as Deltona Junior High School. The
school opened on November 18, 1968, on Enterprise Road in Deltona,
ending split sessions at DeLand Junior High School. The Deltona
Corporation donated the land to Volusia County Schools as one of four
sites set aside for schools in the community's master plan. Four hundred
sixty-two students were housed in the completed first phase of construction
with plans to house 1200 students when the school was completed. The
first phase cost $440,790 and included six classrooms, an administrative
suite,a library and a number of special area rooms, for science labs,
industrial arts and home economics.

In 1989, Deltona Junior High was transformed into a middle school
with ninth grade moving to high school and sixth grade moving into the
space left by the ninth grade classes. Deltona Middle, home of the

Lightening Bolts, serves a population of approximately 1560 students.

Deltona Lakes Elementary School

Deltona Middle School
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DISCOVERY ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

Discovery Elementary opened in the fall of 1988, with approximately
837 students and was built to ease overcrowding in the fast growing
Deltona area. It is located on Abigail Drive in Deltona. Students and
faculty came from Deltona Lakes Elementary and Enterprise Elementary.
The PTA (Parent Teachers Association) played an integral role in supporting
Discovery's vision as a community school. For a number of years Discovery
was designated as an ESOL (English Speakers of Other Languages) center.
Discovery was also one of the Volusia County Schools that was put on a
multi-track schedule to accommodate the continuously increasing student
population. During the multi-track years, there were times when the
number of students exceeded 1200.

In 1996 Discovery Elementary returned to the traditional school
calendar after two new elementary schools opened in the area to ease the
overcrowded conditions. The school has had the distinction of being
recognized as a Five Star School. Presently, Discovery Elementary, home
of the Seekers, serves approximately 790 students in grades pre-
kindergarten through grade five.

- e e

.""

Discovery Elementary School

EDGEWATER PUBLIC SCHOOL
BETSY ROSS SCHOOL
HAWKS PARK SCHOOL,

Dr. John Milton Hawks (founder of Hawks Park and Volusia County's
first post Civil War superintendent of schools) was instrumental in
beginning the first school in Edgewater, then called Hawks Park, on October
13, 1879. He donated one of his winter cottages to serve as a school.
William S. Hart, an area citrus grower and beekeeper was the first teacher.
During the 1880s, a second school, a 20 by 30 foot wooden structure was
constructed with volunteer contributions from community members. This
new school was located on an acre of land on the southwest corner of Park
and Ridgewood Avenues.

The land was deeded by Dr. Hawks to the Volusia County Board of
Instruction. Classes from grades one through twelve were held on the
first floor of the building with one teacher providing all the instruction.
The second floor of the building was used for community functions and
church services. By 1885-1886, the school had 32 children. A flow-well
that only flowed during high tide was located in front of the school and
furnished drinking water for the children. On a cold dayin 1910, Raymond
Clifton, the teacher, put too much fuel in the furnace which caused it to
explode and the entire building burned to the ground. Because the fire
occurred at lunchtime and the children had all gone home for lunch, no
one was injured. Mr. Hart promptly offered his packinghouse for use as
a school and the children didn't miss a single day of school because of the
fire.

A new school, constructed with six-inch thick walls, was then built.
Handmade blocks formed from river shell and cement were used in its
construction. Enough blocks were made to also construct a town hall on
Park Avenue. The school was completed in 1912 and thirty students
participated in its dedication. It was named the Betsy Ross School. A Mr.
Creen of the Betsy Ross Organization came from Washington D.C. to
present a flag to the new school. The flag was proudly displayed on the
new flagpole in front of the school. By 1917, the school closed and the
Hawks Park (later Edgewater) children were transferred to Faulkner Street
Schoolin New Smyrna Beach. School bus service to New Smyrna began
in 1920 with Mr. Wilkerson as the bus driver. The bus was not a “real”
bus but a converted old truck, and the students sat along the sides in the
back. The bus/truck was also not known for its speed. When the Live Oak
Public School in New Smyrna (1925-1926) was built, serving grades one
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Betsy Ross School c. 1912 2nd Edgewater School c. 1890

through twelve, Edgewater Mooney remembered that on one occasion logs were hurled in an attempt
students were bused to that school. % i to kill a huge rattler. The land was later cleared of the scrub palmettos.

The present day Edgewater § In 1968-1969, kindergarten classes were conducted at the First Baptist
Public School opened its doors in Church of Edgewater, and lunches were sent to Edgewater Public from
1966 to 268 students. Itislocated & the cafeteria of Read-Pattillo Elementary because Edgewater had yet to
on 42 acres of land at 500 Old & build a cafeteria. Edgewater Public also didn't have an auditorium.
County Road. The new school had | This, however, did not stop teachers and students from putting on

two half time kindergartens and programs. In a recessed area by the administrative office, performances
grades one through six. From its } g

very beginning, Edgewater had to §
use portable classrooms. In fact, |
one of its portable classrooms was | -
first used as part of the Oak Hill |
Black School. The new school was
built on land that was covered with F#
palmetto scrub. Because of these |
natural surroundings, many scrub |
jays (now an endangered species)
inhabited the campus. The scrub
palmeitos were also home to

EDGEWATER

dangerous rattlesnakes. Former &' S SN, - 3 L . ;
kindergarten teacher Charlotte Betsy Ross Schoo. Edgewater Public School
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were given with the student audience sitting on the grass. Both teachers
and students alike looked forward to the yearly Halloween parade.
Edgewater's mayor and police chief usually served on the panel of judges.
A ten room addition was built in 1983. In the late 1980s, an ESE
(Exceptional Student Education) wing was added to the school and since
its completion, Edgewater has been an ESE center for southeast Volusia.

The student population grew steadily, and by 1990-1991,
approximately 1300 students were enrolled in Edgewater Public School.
When Indian River Elementary was built, the student population at
Edgewater was reduced to 750 students. Presently, Edgewater Public,
home of the Bobcats, serves approximately 750 students.

ENTERPRISE ELEMENTARY
BENSON SPRINGS (1927-1937)
ENTERPRISE SCHOOL

The first school in Enterprise was located in a building on what is
now DeBary Avenue near Elizabeth Street. When the normal school
(teacher training school) vacated the old county courthouse in Enterprise
(Volusia county seat was moved to DelLand in 1888), circa 1900, the
elementary school moved into the empty courthouse. Edith Stanton taught
at the Enterprise School during its years in the courthouse. She related
that it was the "“finest building” in the county. She said that when the
children came to school sick with fever, she placed them in the old jury
room on the shady side of the building. Students with chills were placed
in a room on the sunny side where it was warm.

A new, two-story building was constructed in 1917, called the
Enterprise Grade School. The school had one teacher who taught grades
one through eight. Circa 1920, another teacher was hired to share the
teaching duties. By 1927, the school had added grades nine and ten, and
the name of the school and the name of the community was changed to
Benson Springs. At this time the school included the original 1917 structure
and the addition of an auditorium, a lunchroom, the boys' shop for
manual arts and a home economics classroom. Another new building
was constructed circa 1936 for the seventh through tenth grades. The
faculty then included ten teachers and one principal.

Both the town's and the school’'s name returned to the original name
of Enterprise in 1937-38. As enrollment increased, high school students -
were bused to Deland, and by 1939, Enterprise was listed as both Enterprise School c. 1900
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Enterprise School c. 1925

elementary and junior high school. Inthe 1940s and 1950s, the agriculture
classes grew vegetables on a plot of fertile land across the street from the
school. The strawberries grown on this plot were especially delicious.
During WWII, this plot of land was called a “victory garden.”

When Lovick Hayman was principal of Enterprise, he went to the
home of a truant only to be met by a shotgun. The irate father told Mr.
Hayman to "take care of your school and I will take care of my boy.” The
truant youngster did return to class the next day.

Enterprise School served students in grades kindergarten through
eight by 1961. Sylvia Hardin, who followed her father, Lovick Hayman, as
principal of Enterprise, recalled going out to find some little boys who
were missing from class. It was a warm, spring day and the little boys
were located alongside a stream looking for frogs. She remembered taking
the students outside to watch John Glenn's first space flight to the dismay
of some who were afraid of the students’ reaction if something had gone
wrong. She also remembered when President John FE Kennedy was
assassinated, going room to room telling the teachers the shocking news.
Mrs. Hardin said that one day a couple of men from the FBI showed upin
her office asking to question some of the boys. It appeared that these
boys had thrown the switch in the Benson Junction railroad yard.

During a severe thunderstorm on June 30, 1964, the original, two-

story building, constructed in 1917, was destroyed by fire. The Methodist
Children's Home and the Episcopal Parish House were used as temporary
classrooms until renovations could be completed. At the time of the fire,
Enterprise Elementary served 289 students. Children who lived at the
Methodist Children's home were also students at the Enterprise School.

By 1971, Enterprise Elementary, home of the Shuttle, was serving 569
students in kindergarten through grade six. The student population almost
tripled by 1980, increasing to 1441 pupils. The large rise in enrollment
was due to the rapidly growing population in the Deltona area. In 1976,
12 new classrooms, a music room, expanded media center and an
administrative complex were added to Enterprise Elementary. The school's
present enrollment has decreased to approximately 610 students in grades

Benson Springs 1927 - 1937
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pre-kindergarten through five due to the construction of several new
elementary schools in the Deltona-DeBary area. It is interesting to note
that the current playground area at Enterprise was once a cemetery that
was located behind the old courthouse.
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[ have a firm belief that Hhe vock of our
;’are{y as a nation lie; in the propet

education of aur Pop\llaﬁon.

Bey\jamir\ Ha}’r’isar\

* denotes segregated school

EUCLID AVENUE LEARNING CENTER
EUCLID AVENUE EXCEPTIONAL
EDUCATION CENTER
EUCLID AVENUE ELEMENTARY"
EUCLID AVENUE HIGH SCHOOL*
BRONSON HIGH SCHOOL*
ATHENS HIGH SCHOOL
DELAND COLORED GRADED SCHOOL’

Euclid Avenue School had its beginnings in 1886 in a log house on
Lake Beresford with J.W. Roper serving as the school'’s first teacher. Leon
Clements of Enterprise is a descendent of Roper on his mother's side. In
1887, another school was located in Brooksville, a section of DeLand
commonly called “Dunn’s Bottom.” Mr. Cook served as the teacher at
this second location. The school, a three-room structure, remained at this
site until 1898, when a storm destroyed the school building. Enrollment
increased steadily and classes had to be held in whatever space was
available. African American students were reunited in one facility with
Professor Johnson serving as teacher when a school building, previously
used by white students, was vacated on Amelia Avenue.

The Del.and School for minority students later moved to Euclid Avenue
and was first called Athens High School and then Bronson High School
(1930s) to honor Mr. Bronson, the school's long time principal. Bronson
served students from grades one through twelve. Benjamin J. Howells,
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The Euclid High School Purple Tigers circa 1943-44 held all opponents
scoreless for three years.
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Sr. of DeLand remembered having Sally Poole (her married name) in first
grade in 1933. Mr. Howells went to Bronson and then Euclid until he
joined the army after the 10™ grade. When the elementary classes at
Bronson, became crowded the students went to the Florida Avenue School
commonly referred to as “Miss Johnson's School.” It is believed that
Florida Avenue closed when the Parson Street School (now Starke) opened.

The present school, named Euclid Avenue, was constructed in 1936
as a school for minority students, grades one through twelve. It is reported
that students had used books, second hand uniforms and physical
education outside even in the coldest months of the year. Euclid High

Euclid Avenue School

School’s football teams were undefeated from 1940 through 1944. They
traveled to football games in an orange truck. Annual May Day programs
were popular at Euclid. In 1950, the Jackson Building was erected as an
addition to the school. This building was named in honor of N.E. Jackson,
longtime coach, teacher and principal in DeLand’s minority schools.
Former student, Mr. Bethel of DeLand, recalled the exceptionally fine
vocational education program offered at Euclid Avenue High School. The
training he received served him throughout his career. Benjamin J.
Howells, Sr. said that Professor Sharpe taught woodworking and Mr.
Staples had a garden and raised a variety of “greens.” Euclid Avenue
became an elementary schoolin 1961. In 1964, Euclid High School students
transferred to Southwestern, a newly built high school for African American
students in DeLand.

Before integration, minority students were required to attend school
only to the eighth grade. There were only three African American high
schools in Volusia County before the schools were integrated, Euclid and
Southwestern in Deland and Campbell in Daytona. Many minority
students who wanted to get a high school education had to travel many
miles each day to advance beyond eighth grade.

Euclid Avenue Elementary was in existence from 1961 to 1969. The
school then became a center for special education. From 1984 to 1986 the
Euclid Avenue school was temporarily closed. In 1986 the school became
Euclid Learning Center. The Euclid Learning Center is an alternative
school for students who are in danger of dropping out of school before
receiving a high school diploma. The center has a program that utilizes
smaller class size and competency based individualized instruction. Euclid
Avenue Learning Center currently serves approximately 65 students.
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WE BELIEVE IN THE CURSE OF IGNORANCE,
IN THE EFFICACY OF SCHOOLS, IN THE
DIGNITY OF TEACHING, AND IN THE J0OY OF
SERVING ONE ANOCTHER.

EDWVIN O. GROVER
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FOREST LAKE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Forest Lake Elementary, located on Doyle Road in Deltona, was
originally due to open in August of 1996. Because of delays in construction,
566 Forest Lake students were housed in portable classrooms on the campus
of Discovery Elementary. The official opening of Forest Lake Elementary
occurred on January 27, 1997, and a smooth transition from the Discovery
campus to Doyle Road was credited to the yeoman efforts of the entire
staff. Forest Lake drew its population from Discovery, Osteen, Deltona
Lakes and Enterprise Elementary Schools, reducing the large student
populations of these feeder schools. Forest Lake Elementary, home of the
Panthers, currently serves 700 students.

Forest Lake Elementary School

FRIENDSHIP ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,

Friendship Elementary, located at 2746 Fulford Drive in Deltona,
opened in August of 1994. It was built to ease the overcrowding that existed
in the Deltona area schools. Friendship Elementary does not have a
school mascot; instead it has a logo with a globe and two hands extended
in friendship. Currently, Friendship Elementary serves approximately 880
students in grades pre-kindergarten through five.

Friendship Elementary School

Don’t limit a child
to your own learning,
for he was born
in another time.

Rabbinical saying
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GALAXY MIDDLE SCHOOL,

Galaxy Middle School, located on Eustace Avenue in Deltona, opened
in June of 1990 to relieve the crowded conditions at Deltona Middle. A
time capsule was buried on Dedication Day, October 23, 1991, near the
campus flagpole. Galaxy Middle School, home of the Voyagers, began
with a student population of 1200 that increased by 100 students per year.
The student body grew to approximately 2000 students in the 1998-99
school year with 107 teachers and 39 portable classrooms. The opening of
Heritage Middle School in Deltona in the 1999-2000 school year
significantly reduced the student population at Galaxy Middle to
approximately 1460.

Galaxy was built as a model middle school, designed to facilitate the
middle school configuration of separate grade levels in separate areas of
the campus. The buildings were created to house teams of students, not
curriculum departments. Galaxy was chosen as a model visitation site for
Japanese educators and was selected as a Red Ribbon School.

Galaxy Middle School

GEORGE MARKS ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

The first wing of George W. Marks Elementary School was completed
in December of 1954 and opened to students on January 3, 1955. The
new school was built as a result of a state survey that indicated the need
for an elementary school because of population growth in that area of
Deland. The new school was located on the corner of North Garfield
Avenue and East Woodmont Road. It was named after George W. Marks
who had served as Volusia County Superintendent of Schools from 1924
to 1957. George Marks Elementary was officially given its name in a
dedication ceremony that took place on February 22, 1955, the anniversary
of the birth date of Mark's namesake, George Washington.

‘:'

George Marks Elementary School

George Marks Elementary cost $88,000 to build and had only seven
classrooms. Teachers who had previously been assigned to the Wisconsin
Avenue School (renamed Dempsie Brewster) volunteered to teach at the
new school. The supervising principal of all DeLand schools, M. J.
Perret, served as the principal of the new school for the school year 1954-
55. The school's center wing was completed in 1955 and became the new

CHAPTER 3,PAGE 87



home to Exceptional Student Education classes, which were previously
housed at Wisconsin Avenue. In 1960, the library and cafeteria were
completed and two more classrooms were added to the school. By 1975,
the George Marks teaching staff had grown from eight to 34 teachers
serving 682 students. George Marks Elementary, home of the Bulldogs,
currently has 880 students in kindergarten through grade five, including
ESE (exceptional student education) and gifted classes. The school has a
staff of 87 teachers and support personnel.

HERITAGE MIDDLE SCHOOL

Heritage Middle School opened in Deltona in August of 1999. Parents
and students from all the elementary schools that are feeder schools for
Heritage chose the name "“Heritage" for the Deltona area's newest school.
They also selected the school mascot and the school colors of hunter green
and gold. Heritage Middle School is organized into heterogeneous classes
by grade level. Currently, Heritage, home of the Eagles, serves 1280
students in grades six, seven and eight.

Heritage Middle School

HOLLY HILL ELEMENTARY SCHOOIL

Holly Hill Elementary began as a one-room, wood building at 222
Sixth Street (formerly Michigan Street) circa 1887. A red brick building
on a 6.2-acre site at 1049 Ridgewood became the school's second location.
This building was constructed in the early 1900s and contained six
classrooms. A two-story stucco over brick building was constructed in
1927 as an addition to the original structure that included six classrooms,

a i

Virginia Wine on the steps of Holly Hill School No. 32, the oldest

learning center in Holly Hill
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Holly Hill Elementary c¢. 1940

an auditorium, a library and offices. At one time there was a tunnel for the
children under Ridgewood Avenue. Over the years Holly Hill served not
only elementary grades but also grades seven through eleven. In 1940,
the junior high school and elementary school split into two separate entities,
but were still housed in the same building. Carolyn Kitchens was a
kindergarten student of May Hudson when both junior high and
elementary students were housed on Ridgewood Avenue. As Carolyn
grew older, she was on the girls basketball team, coached by Mrs. Hudson.
Years later, Carolyn became a teacher and returned to Holly Hill Elementary
to teach side by side with her former kindergarten teacher and basketball
coach, May Hudson. Ellis Flippo remembered that sometimes the school
year would start later in the fall and end earlier in the spring because the
Volusia County School Board was short of funds.

In 1947, two frame barracks were brought to the Holly Hill campus,
adding five more temporary classrooms to the school. One hundred nine
students were housed in the barracks that were used until 1981. Between
1949 and 1953, six one-story block masonry buildings containing 13
classrooms increased the size of the school. After Holly Hill Junior High
School (renamed Central Junior High School, then Holly Hill Middle
School) was constructed in 1956, Holly Hill served only elementary
students. In 1957, a new cafeteria was erected at the school. By 1960,
before the opening of Walter A. Hurst Elementary, Holly Hill Elementary
was severely overcrowded. One teacher had 40 first grade students in
her class." Her class was housed in the Brownie Troop Hut located across

Ridgewood Avenue in Holly Land Park. Two more classes were held in
the auditorium, another two at the adjacent Congregational Church and
two more at the Holly Hill Baptist Church. Five more classrooms, two
portable classrooms and a storage building were added in the 1960s and
1970s providing more space for the growing student population. By
1980, the red brick structure, builtin the early 1900s was the oldest school
building still in use in the Volusia County School system. Of the twenty-
one classrooms still in use, ten were classified as unsatisfactory.

Holly Hill Elementary School

In 1981, a twenty-acre site was purchased on the corner of Center
Street and 15™ Street in Holly Hill to build a new elementary school. The
land was cleared, but construction was delayed at least twice, due to
potential structural problems. School opened for the last time at the old
Holly Hill Elementary on Ridgewood Avenue in September of 1983. Holly
Hill Elementary moved in October of 1983 to its new location at 1500
Center Street. This was the third move for the school that began in 1887.
On November 19, 1983, the new Holly Hill Elementary on Center Street
had its official opening, and a new flag was presented to the school by the
Veterans of Foreign Wars. Long time Holly Hill Elementary principal
Mary Kay Pyles and Superintendent Raymond Dunne were on hand for
the opening. The bell from the original, red brick school house, installed
in the early 1900s, fell into disrepair and had been replaced by a more
modern electric bell. In 1966, Holly Hill sixth graders raised money to
have the old bell sand blasted, rust proofed and bronzed. The old bell
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moved with the students, school furniture, books and supplies to the new
Center Street location and is proudly displayed in front of the new Holly
Hill Elementary. The bell serves as a link between what was, whatis, and
what is yet to be. Currently, Holly Hill Elementary, home of the Knights,
serves approximately 780 students in grades pre-kindergarten through
five.

HOILLY HILL, MIDDLE SCHOOL
HOLLY HIL], JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL,
CENTRAL JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL

Junior high students in the Holly Hill area went to the Holly Hill
School on Ridgewood Avenue in Holly Hill. This school served all students
from grade one through grade ten. In 1940, the school was separated
into two sections, junior high and elementary. Even though the schools
were separate, they remained under one roof with separate administrators
until the middle 1950's. In 1956, a separate junior high facility was built
on 25 acres of land at 1200 Center Street between LPGA Boulevard

(formerly 11* Street) and Walker Street in Holly Hill. However, some
junior high classes remained at the Holly Hill Elementary site on
Ridgewood Avenue until 1966. The new school opened with eight
classrooms, 250 sixth and seventh graders, six teachers and a teaching
principal. Seven additional classrooms were completed by 1959. In 1962,
new additions included an office suite, the media center, the shop room,
art rooms, home economics rooms and the gym. An air-conditioned wing
with a guidance suite, exceptional student classrooms and science
classrooms was completed in 1970-71. ‘

The school's first athletic teams were formed in 1959 and because of
historic events at nearby Cape Canaveral, the school's emblem and mascot
became the Rocket. In 1960, the first Rocket yearbook was published. In
1966-67, Central Junior High was renamed Holly Hill Junior High School.
By 1980, Holly Hill Junior had 50 classrooms and another addition that
included a new media center and dark room. During the mid 1980s ,
newly created athletic fields at Holly Hill Junior were named for Alex
Robertson who had served both as assistant principal and principal of the
school from 1976 to 1985. Robertson was instrumental in converting the
undeveloped land for athletic use. In 1990, Holly Hill Junior became
Holly Hill Middle, changing from a center for seventh, eighth and ninth
grades to a center for sixth, seventh and eighth grades. Holly Hill Middle
currently serves approximately 1100 students.
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Holly Hill Middle School
CHAPTER 3, PAGE 90



HORIZON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Horizon Elementary, home of the Eagles, opened in August of 1989
on 23.4 beautifully landscaped acres on Hidden Lakes Drive in Port
Orange. The school had over 1100 students, many of whom were housed
in portable classrooms. Prior to opening, a team of Horizon teachers
attended a Team Building Convention, sponsored by the Florida
Department of Education. During its first few years in existence, Horizon's
physical plant was plagued by air quality problems; but flexibility and
cooperation on the part of the parents, students and teachers helped
overcome this obstacle. Horizon's open areas in between pods of classrooms
have allowed for the development of a variety of learning environments.
Horizon Elementary currently serves a diverse population of approximately
860 students. The school is adjacent to Willow Park and has a joint use
agreement with the Recreation Department of the City of Port Orange that
allows the students of Horizon to use the facilities during school hours.

Give me a condor’s quilll
Give me Vesuvius’ crater for an ink stand!
To produce a mighty book
you must choose a mighty theme.

Herman Melville

Cof
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May joy not escape you.
May your hearts always be open

to those less fov‘funa’re.

John Walker, pvincipal
North Ric‘ge\/\)ood élemen’rary School
1982

Make the total effort,
even when the odds
are against you.

Arnold Falmer
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WALTER A. HURST ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Walter A. Hurst Elementary is located at the corner of Derbyshire
Avenue and Wright Street in the unincorporated area west of Holly Hill.
The school was built as a neighborhood school on land given to the Volusia
County School Board by the late Mr. and Mrs. Walter A. Hurst. The
Hurst family had purchased 2000 acres in the Holly Hill area under the
Murphy Act. Mr. Hurst had been a saw mill operator who highly valued
education even though he had only about one year of formal schooling.
Hurst Elementary opened to students in 1960. At that time, funds were
not available for landscaping, but an ad in the local newspaper describing
the new school's plight, rallied the needed public response. Hurst was
then beautifully landscaped and the golden raintrees, planted at the time,
can still be seen on the Hurst campus today.

Hurst Elementary adopted the Yellow Jacket as its mascot because of
the many bees kept by the honey beekeepers in the nearby orange groves.
During the early days, the school campus had to be patrolled for snakes.
Arash of campus burglaries and vandalism was stopped by the intervention
of the “faculty posse" — the principal and PE coach who remained all

Artwork on permanent display in the gardens outside the school

Detail of one of the art objects in the permanent display.

night to catch the perpetrators. At that time the art and music teachers
had no classrooms of their own and had to push supply carts from room to
room to deliver their lessons. This hardship did not deter the special area
teachers from producing award winning holiday programs and Christmas
floats for the annual Christmas parade in Holly Hill.

Hurst Elementary also had a great deal of parental support as overflow
crowds attended PTA meetings. Hurst was integrated in 1969, and the
student population became more culturally diverse. With the steady
increase in population, Hurst's enrollment grew to approximately 1200
students, at one time becoming the largest elementary school in Volusia
County. Even though the enrollment was large, Hurst continued to be
administered by one principal with the help of one secretary. The
overcrowding was eventually alleviated when other new area elementary
schools were constructed.

In 1986, some notable events at the school included visits from Florida
Governor Bob Martinez and Congressman Craig James. Hurst Elementary
and its teaching staff have received numerous awards over the years. The
school has received the Golden Apple award for 15 years in a row. In
1986, Evelyn LaMotte was elected Florida State Counselor of the Year. In
1990, Hurst was designated a Red Carpet School and received the
Meritorious School Award. Hurst had the honor of hosting the Volusia
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County Legislative Forum.

Over the years the school has expanded with the construction of a
new media center, administration complex, kindergarten wing and ESE
(Exceptional Student Education) pod and a science lab. Currently, Hurst
Elementary serves approximately 700 students from pre-kindergarten
through grade five, including dropout prevention services, the ALPHA
Program and ESE services. The Hurst ALPHA Program received the
National Dropout Prevention award in 1998.

waLTER A Wunst sCHOOL

Walter A. Hurst Elementary School

Nothing in the world
can take the p[ace
of persistence.

Calvin Coolidge

INDIAN RIVER ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Indian River Elementary was named for its proximity to the Indian
River. Its mascot is the Manatee. The school opened during the 1990-91
school year and was first housed at Edgewater Elementary (many classes
in portables) until the 25-acre site on Roberts Road at the southern end of
Edgewater was completed. Initially, 450 students attended Indian River,
but since its opening the attendance has increased to approximately 730
students. The school serves a population within a two-mile radius. Only
special needs students require bus transportation. Because the majority
of students live in the immediate vicinity of the school, Indian River
Elementary serves as a model community school. The Florida Department
of Education designated Indian River a Five Star Award School. Currently,
Indian River has approximately 725 students in grades pre-kindergarten
through five.

Indian River Elementary School

By learning you will teach; by teaching you will learn.

Latin proverb
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LONGSTREET ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Longstreet Elementary, located at 2754 South Peninsula Drive in
Daytona Beach, opened in 1954 at the cost $161,000. The school was
named for Rupert J. Longstreet, who was supervising principal for
Peninsula schools from 1920 to 1949. The new school, constructed of
cement block, had eight classrooms, an administrative suite and a
lunchroom. There was one class of each grade level from first to sixth
grade. Construction was not completed when the school opened and
some classes had to be held in the cafeteria. When construction was
finally finished, Longstreet Elementary was one of the first Volusia County
Schools to have a separate art room and music room.

Over the years, parents and teachers alike participated in fund raising

Longstreet Elementary School

programs for the PTA (Parent Teachers Association). One of the most
memorable programs was the reenactment of the fairy tale, “The Three
Bears," with Mr. Reigel, Longstreet's principal, playing the part of “Baby
Bear." Omn another occasion Dr. O. B. Bonner, a popular local doctor, took
the role of the “wildly, wicked stepsister” in the story of Cinderella.

On May 11, 1987, the Longstreet Elementary cafeteria was destroyed
by fire. It seemed that strong winds toppled a Florida Power and Light
pole (that showed signs of dry rot) against the one-story brick, building
in the early morning. The students, parents and Longstreet staff had been
preparing for the school carnival. The carnival could not be held, but
school resumed the following Monday morning. Lunches were brought
to the Longstreet students from a nearby school. The estimated cost of
rebuilding the cafeteria was between $500,000 and $800,000. Florida

Power and Light assumed responsibility for the construction.

Longstreet Elementary has won many awards over the years. Since
1970, the school has received the Golden School Award each year.
Longstreet received the Meritorious School Award from 1987 through 1990.
In 1989-1990, Longstreet was named a School of Distinction and a Red
Carpet School. Longstreet received the United Negro College Fund Award
for the highest per capita gift among elementary schools in 1996-97 and
1997-98, the school received the Black Heritage Story Plate for community
service from the United Postal Service.

Longstreet Elementary has been a focal point of the beachside
community since it opened. Its playgrounds, soccer fields, and equipment
are open for public use on a year-round basis. Currently, Longstreet
Elementary, home of the Cardinals, serves approximately 530 students in
grades pre-kindergarten through five.

Longstreet Elementary School

The secret of success is constancy
of purpose.

Benjamin Disraeli
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MAINLAND HIGH SCHOOIL,
DAYTONA JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH
SCHOOL
DAYTONA PUBLIC SCHOOI,

Mainland High School was first called Daytona Public School. From
1887 until 1909, high school students were taught in various local buildings
and converted homes, the last being a frame building on Third Avenue.
Daytona Public School moved into its first permanent home in 1909-10 on
three acres of land between Bay Street and Third Avenue. This building
was called the Public School Building at the Bay Street site. The structure
looked like a rectangular box of brick and masonry construction with an
arched porchway over the main door. In 1916, both North and South Ward
Schools (renamed North and South Ridgewood) were built for elementary
age children and Daytona Public School became Daytona Beach Junior-
Senior High School.

In 1926, the high school was separated from junior high school and
high school students moved into a newly constructed building that fronted
on Third Avenue. This building, designed by noted Florida architect,

Harry M. Griffin, was of heavy masonry construction. The Daytona High
School and Daytona Junior High buildings co-existed on the same campus,
both schools facing a common courtyard. The schools were also connected
by a covered walkway. The gym and auditorium used by both schools
formed the perimeter of the shared courtyard. At the time a drainage
canal ran along Bay Street. The canal was an enticement for students
wanting to test their jumping prowess. Not all were successful and some
students found themselves in the canal. An alligator, occasionally spotted
in the canal, had to be relocated to the Highlands area of Daytona Beach.

Because the campus didn't have adjoining playing fields, football
players had to travel three quarters of a mile to the field near Volusia
Avenue Elementary for practice and games. Players jogged to practice
but rode the bus to games. The 1939 basketball team under Coach Kemmer
were the Florida State High School champions. This feat was not repeated
again until Coach Charles Brinkerhoff's Mainland team won the
championship for three years, 1995, 1996 and 1998. The 1938 football
team was the Northeast Conference champions. At thattime the Buccaneers
were reputed to have the best defensive line in the state. They were
coached by Spike Welshinger, who later became principal of Mainland.
The school fielded its first Buccaneer golf team in 1940 that included
Ryan Chandler, Richard Kipp, Bill Browning and Bert Hodgins.

During the 1930s, favorite high school hang-outs were Pop’s Soda
Shop, Tom's Candy Store and the Bay Street Pharmacy where cokes were
$.05. The school newspaper, The Porpoise, also sold for $.05 or $.50 per
year. The award winning glee club, under the direction of Marguerite
Porter, often performed at the Bandshell on the Boardwalk. The National
Honor Society was also instituted at Daytona Jr. St. High in the 1930s.

In the early 1940s, Hankin's Bay Street Pharmacy was the popular
after school hangout. Hankin's was not any bigger than a classroom but
it held three times as many teenagers. School dances were usually held
in the gym. Other affairs were held at the Martinique or the Pier Casino.
On Sunday afternoon students frequented the Patio on the Boardwalk on
the Daytona beachside. During that time seniors graduated from Peabody
Auditorium. Streets in the Welch area near the Halifax Hospital were
named for Mainland and Seabreeze alumni who lost their lives in WWII.
Other 1940s graduates went into education including Bill Cowan, Andy
Romano, Archie Bagwell, Jim Whitaker and Gordon Parker. Priorto 1941,
Seabreeze High School did not field teams in all sports. The Seabreeze
athletes joined the Daytona High athletes to play high school sports. At
that time, Coach Welshinger taught at Seabreeze but coached for Daytona
High School. He gave 35 years of service to Volusia County Schools.
After 1941, Seabreeze fielded its.own teams, and the Mainland —Seabreeze
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rivalry began.

In 1946, Daytona High School was renamed Daytona Mainland High
School which was shortened to Mainland High School the next year, 1947.
In 1963, Mainland High, home of the Buccaneers, moved to a new facility
in its current location on 42 acres at 125 South Clyde Morris Boulevard.
The new structure cost $1,500,000. The Bay Street facility became
Mainland Junior High and then the Mainland Seventh Grade Center.

Although Mainland moved to a new facility the rivalry with Seabreeze
remained, especially in the fall during football season. After weeks of
mounting tension, the Seabreeze-Mainland football game took place each

Mainland High School

year just before Thanksgiving. During his tenure as principal, Jack Surrette
would dress up like a buccaneer for pep rallies to provide some extra
motivation. The homecoming parade was also a big event, complete with
floats. Mainland students in the 1960s and 1970s spent afterschool hours
at the Steak.n' Shake on Volusia Avenue (now International Speedway
Boulevard).

During the 1970s, Mainland High School went on double sessions
because of the rapid increase in enrollment. The class of 1975 graduated
with 850 students receiving diplomas. The overcrowding was alleviated

when Spruce Creek High School in Port Orange opened in the fall, 1975.
At that time graduations took place at the Jai Alai Fronton. When the
fronton suffered fire damage in 1972, graduation was held at theDaytona
Beach Dog Track.

In the 1980s, the homecoming parades were discontinued and an on-
campus homecoming festival was held instead. Clubs competed against
one another in activities such as pie eating contests and bike riding. The
festival culminated with a pep rally and a bon fire. In the early 1990s
Vince Carter became Mainland's star sportsman. Since joining the NBA
he has been named the National Basketball Association's “Rookie of the
Year" and currently plays for the Toronto Raptors.

Mainland High School has academies for multi-media production and
scientific inquiry. These academies are designed to prepare students
who seek a career and/or further education in these areas. Mainland has
been designated a Blue Ribbon School several times over the years.

In October 1997, Mainland was awarded a Technology Innovation
Challenge Grant. Mainland High School serves as the hub site for a five
year, $6.5 million dollar project involving schools from 6 different states
providing online curriculum and technology resources for teachers.

Currently, Mainland serves approximately 2100 students.
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WE BELIEVE IN THE BEAUTY OF THE

CLASSROOM, IN THE HOME, IN
DALY LIFE AND ouT oF DOORS.
EDwin O. G-ROVER
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MCINNIS ELEMENTARY
DELEON SPRINGS SCHOOL

McInnis Elementary, first called DeLeon Springs School, came into
being on Tuesday, September 29, 1885, when the townspeople of DeLeon
Springs decided to build a school. In 1886, a large, one-room school was
constructed at the corner of Central and Webb (present location of the fire
station). The school eventually had 40 students. A south wing was added
in 1915 and in 1925, an east wing was built to accommodate primary
students. This building later was used as a community center that
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DeLeon Springs Elementary School built in 1886

contained a small public library. For many years Blanche Broderick was
the only teacher at the DeLeon Springs School.

In 1937, a new school was built as a WPA (Works Progress
Administration) project on five acres of land donated by EN. Burt on
Highway 17. The new DeLeon Springs Elementary was a stucco-covered
brick building of Spanish architecture with four classrooms and an
auditorium. The school had no cafeteria because many students walked

home for their lunch. Students who did not go home ate lunch at the
Community Center. In 1954, the school was destroyed by fire. Geneva
Clark, current principal of Mclnnis, was in first grade at the DeLeon
Springs School when the fire occurred.

Another new building was then erected on the same site, including
six classrooms, an auditorium, and an office suite. While the school was
under construction, students temporarily attended classes in the Sunday

DeLeon Springs Elementary c. 1937

School rooms of the First Baptist Church. Students returned to the new
school in January 1955, and the frame building behind the auditorium
became the new cafeteria (now the art room). Louise McInnis was named
principal of the new school where she remained for 28 years. Upon Mrs.
MclInnis' retirement in 1971, the school was renamed McInnis Elementary
in her honor.

During the 1970s, Mclnnis' principal, Dick Schuler, and the sixth
grade classes, in partnership with the John Friend and the Department of
Recreation, surveyed, cleared and leveled a hilly, sandy tract of land that
was converted into athletic fields. Timber cleared from the area was sold
to pay for fences and equipment. The monies earned from this endeavor
were put into the school district's general fund, and Dr. Gill (Superintendent
at the time) had to intervene so that McInnis Elementary could benefit.

From its beginnings as a one-room school, McInnis Elementary has
expanded to eight permanent buildings and ten portables all serving
elementary grades a variety of ESE (Exceptional Student Education)
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classes, ESOL (English Speakers of Other Languages) classes and services
for migrant families. From one teaching principal, the faculty and staff of
MclInnis Elementary, home of the Bobcats, has expanded to 75 people
serving the needs of approximately 510 students who reflect the cultural
diversity of the community.
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Louise S. McInnis Elementary School

When you make a mistake, admit it;
learn from it and don’t repeat it.

Bear Bryant

NEW SMYRNA BEACH HIGH SCHOOL
LIVE OAK JUNIOR-SENIOR HIGH SCHOOI,
LIVE OAK GRAMMAR AND HIGH SCHOOI,

Since circa 1900, high school classes were offered in New Smyrna
Beach, first at the Mary Avenue School and then at the Faulkner Street
School. In 1925-1926, a new school for students in grades one through
twelve was constructed, on six and four-fifth acres, at the corner of Second
Street and Live Oak. It was named the Live Oak Grammar and High
School. Live Oak was a three-story, stucco building with glossy wooden
floors, sash windows and steam heat. It served as an emergency shelter
for the entire New Smyrna Beach community. During the 1930s, Live
Oak had to be closed temporarily because of termite damage. Faulkner
Street Elementary had to operate on double sessions to accommodate the
Live Oak student population until the damage at Live Oak was repaired.

During the 1930s and 1940s, high school students loved to "ride the
drag,” which meant piling into a car and riding down Canal Street, turning
around at the landmark palm tree at the east end and riding up Canal
Street. Then the students did it again....and again. In those days, students
went for hamburgers at the Rolling Stone, instead of MacDonald's. It was
fun to jitterbug and dance at the Casino on the ocean. Even today New
Smyrna High alumni will never forget the night that their tiny high school
beat mighty Mainland in the 1944-45 season.

Proms, plays, the Hi-Y club and the Girl Reserves all played an
important part of high school life in New Smyrna. During the years at the
Live Oak School, the school annual was called The Live Oak Log. The
late George Musson, who graduated in 1947, had an Austin car that
provided his transportation to and from high school. After school one day
George found the Austin, not in the its usual parking place, but wedged
between the stairs and the water fountain. After a good laugh the culprits
lifted the car back to safer ground. JoAnne Sikes remembered that when
climbing the stairs at Live Oak, students had to walk in the middle of the
stair step, for fear that the occasional prankster might be looming in the
stairwell above poised to drop a water balloon.

Teachers and students alike remembered Mr. Schubiger, the
supervising principal of the southeast Volusia Schools. He commanded
respect by his very presence. When his “ferocious” eyebrows knitted over
his eyes, all around him made sure they were doing what they were
supposed to do.

When Read-Pattillo Elementary was built in 1957, elementary children
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from Live Oak went to the new school. Junior and senior high students
remained at Live Oak School until construction of New Smyrna Beach
High School was completed. During the 1950s and 1960s, favorite hangouts
included the Pinecrest Drive-In Theater in Edgewater, the Victoria Theater,
Hester's Diner and the A & W Root Beer Stand. Students also enjoyed
parties at the “Bowl on the Beach” and at Turtle Mound. The homecoming
dance and parade were the highlight of each school year. This event
culminated with a snake dance down Canal Street and a bonfire. Many
residents of southeast Volusia, including Volusia County Superintendent
Bill Hall, remembered having Miss Julia Dilzer as their English teacher.
She was known to be a stern disciplinarian and a wonderful teacher. Hall
also recalled Mac Stones and Happy Lawrence as teachers who influenced
his high school years.

When the decision was made to build a new high school, there was
heated debate between the city of New Smyrna Beach and the city of
Edgewater over where the structure would be built. The New Smyrna
Beach interests won. The new high school was located in New Smyrna
Beach on the North Causeway at 100 Quay Assisi on 22 acres and opened
in 1964 to both black and white students.

During the early 1980s, the first Advanced Placement English Course
was offered at the school, taught by Judy Barnhart (now Tabasco). As in
past decades students enjoyed Friday night football and basketball.

Homecoming carnivals and skit night replaced homecoming parades.
Dances were held at the Elks Lodge on the North Causeway and in the
school cafeteria. It was during the 1980s that graduation requirements
increased from 20 to 24 credits. As a student at New Smyrna Beach High
School in 1986, Robert Wall, now a teacher at New Smyrna Beach Middle
School, recalled how all the high school students rushed outside to see
the Challenger blast off and witnessed the horror of the disaster minutes
later. He also remembered that, on another occasion, New Smyrna Beach
High School students won a free concert because they all flooded radio
station BJ105 with the most post cards of all the area schools, in a contest
sponsored by the station.

New Smyrna Beach High School has several career academies
including one for jobs in the medical field, an academy for careers in
technology and one for careers in hospitality (motel, hotel, food service).
The core curricula (math, English, social studies, science) are tailored to
the needs of each different academy. Each academy has ties to the
business community as well as to several colleges.

Plans have been made to renovate the present New Smyrna High
School, until a larger site is found to build a new facility. New Smyrna
Beach Senior High School, home of the Barracudas, currently serves
approximately 1800 students.

New Smyrna Beach High School
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NEW SMYRNA BEACH MIDDLE
NEW SMYRNA BEACH JUNIOR HIGH
LIVE OAK JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL
LIVE OAK STREET GRAMMAR AND HIGH
SCHOOL

The Live Oak Street School, had its beginnings in 1925-1926. The
new school was a three-story stucco building with glossy wooden floors,
sash windows and steam heat and served students in grades one through
twelve. Live Oak also served as an emergency shelter for the entire
community. When the students who attended Faulkner Street Elementary
went to Live Oak in the seventh grade, Larry Sweett recalled that the
incoming boys had to survive the “belt line."” Each incoming boy had to
pass between two rows of Live Oak's older students who had their belts in
hand.

In 1957, the elementary students at Live Oak were transferred to the
newly opened Read Pattillo Elementary. Live Oak Grammar and High
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New Smyrna Beach Middle School

School became the southeast area's junior high schoolin 1964 when the
high school moved to a new campus on the North Causeway of New
Smyrna Beach. When incoming students from the feeder elementary
schools arrived at the junior high, upper classmen tried to sell them elevator
passes. Of course, there was no elevator.

New Smyrna Beach Junior High moved to 1200 South Myrtle Street
in 1983 and the Live Oak School was eventually torn down. The move
was made in December and there was no electricity for the first few days.
In 1986, New Smryna Beach Junior High was the first junior high school
in Volusia County to become a middle school serving sixth, seventh and
eighth grades. Presently, New Smyrna Beach Middle School, home of
the Stingrays, has a population of approximately 1580 students. Since
becoming a middle school, New Smyrna Beach Middle has received
numerous awards including the designation as a Red Carpet School.
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WE BELIEVE IN LAVGHTER, IN LOVE,
IN ALl THE IDEALS AND DIsTANT
HOPES THAT LURE US ON.

EDwin O. GROVER
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ORANGE CITY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
ORANGE CITY SCHOOL,

Tradition says that the first school in Orange City was built in 1876 on
the east side of South Volusia Avenue opposite the Deyaman Hotel. The
record sets the date of origin as 1878, when Major Alden organized a
public school in Orange City under the laws of Volusia County. Settlers
who came to Florida from Eau Claire, Wisconsin built the school on land
that was donated by the Wisconsin Company. Emma Tabor, hired in 1877,
was the school'’s first teacher.

Later, through the efforts of J.E. Stillman, a ten-acre tract (now
bordered by French, Orange, University and Leavitt Avenues) was
donated to build a new school building. A wood frame building with an

outhouse was built in a pine grove on the east side of this property. The
new school had rough pine benches arranged in rows and the students
had to haul drinking water from the neighbors. Later, a three-story, frame
building was added to the original structure. As student attendance
grew, more teachers were hired and in 1900, the classes expanded to
include a ninth grade. In 1914, under the guidance of the principal, the
students grew vegetables in a Victory Garden for their families and those

in need. From 1917 to 1920 enrollment fluctuated and as a result some
teachers had to be dismissed. However, by 1924 the school had grown to
four teachers with approximately 120 students in attendance. In 1925,
the Parent Teacher Association had electricity installed in the Orange City
School.

Orange City passed a bond issue in 1925-1926 to build two new schools
— a school for white children and a school for black children. By 1927, a
new, stucco building for the white children, grades one through eight and
costing $48,000, was erected on five acres of land donated by Louis Young
"Half-Baked"” Walker of Del.and and Dr. Francis Dickerson of Orange
City. The old school buildings were sold to Mrs. Harris who had them
moved to her orange groves. At this time each grade had between six
and ten children with one teacher for two grades. Subsequent additions
were added to the school and linked to the main building by open corridors.
In 1959, Orange City Elementary had 200 students in grades one through
eight with seven teachers and a teaching principal. The lunch program
consisted of only brown bag lunches. A refrigerator in the hallway kept
the milk cold. In 1963, a kindergarten class was started at the Orange
City School.

By 1965-1966 junior and senior high students attended classes in
DeLand and the Orange City School became Orange City Elementary.
In the 1969-1970 school year, Coleman Elementary was closed, and the
Coleman students transferred to Orange City Elementary in compliance
with court-ordered integration. The playground equipment from the
Coleman School was installed at Orange City at the request of the principal.
Also a part of the Coleman School, a brick building containing two
classrooms , was transported from Blue Springs Avenue to Volusia Avenue
(Rt.17-92), and up French Avenue to Orange City Elementary. The
structure arrived without any damage. Portable classrooms were also
brought to Orange City Elementary to accommodate the increased
enrollment until more classrooms could be constructed.

A new wing with two pods of four classrooms each was soon erected
in back of the main building. These pods were designed to facilitate an
“open space” curriculum. By 1975, however, space was again at a
premium and the stage in the auditorium was partitioned into two
classrooms. One of the dressing rooms near the stage was converted to
ateacher's workroom. The converted workroom was precipitously close
to the boiler that had sprung a leak. When the leak became a danger,
the principal called the superintendent of schools who happened to
have the supervisor of maintainance in his office at the time of the call.
The next day the leak was repaired.

Mrs Adele Graham, wife of then Governor Bob Graham visited
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Orange City Elementary in 1984. She took particular interest in
“Papermates,” the cross age/peer tutoring program instituted at the school.
Orange City Elementary has received the Golden School Award for the
past 22 years and has been recognized as a Red Carpet School. In 1988-
1989, another addition of eight classrooms was completed and the main
building was renovated. The “open space” wing was converted into a
new, modern media center. Orange City Elementary, home of the
Roadrunners, has a current enrollment of approximately 780 students.
( Most of this information was provided by Barbara Bedient and Our
Story of Orange City, Florida compiled by the Village Improvement

Association.)

Orange City Elementary School

If there be any truer measure of a man than by what
he does, it must be by what he gives.

Robert South

ORMOND BEACH ELEMENTARY SCHOOIL
CORBIN AVENUE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
ORMOND PUBLIC SCHOOL

Ormond Beach Elementary began in 1887 on land donated by Philip
Corbin. Ella Foulke was the school's first teacher. According to the Volusia
County Superintendent Report, 1896-1898, a two story building, consisting
of two furnished rooms, was constructed (probably to replace the one
builtin 1887) by the community with the school board donating the money
for the furniture. In the Superintendent’s Report of 1912-1914, it was
noted that a fourth room was added to the Ormond school and that the
school had three grade teachers and a “special” teacher. The report noted
the addition of the ninth and tenth grade classes to the school.

In 1917, a new, stucco building was constructed and named Ormond
Public School. The Superintendent's Report for 1918-1920 stated that
the school cost $40,000 to build and contained ten rooms. Because of
the stucco construction, the school was considered to be fireproof. The

Ormond Beach Elementary School
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first PTA (Parent Teachers Association) was begun on January 16, 1919
with Mr. Wentworth as president and Mrs. Clements as secretary and
treasurer. It cost $.25 to belong to the PTA, and in its first year the
association raised $150 for playground equipment.

Between the years 1956 and 1969, the school was renamed Corbin
Avenue Elementary. According to Police Officer Barry Bliss who attended
school here in the 1950s, when the weather became warm, the children
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were allowed to attend school barefoot. In 1969, the school's name was
changed back to Ormond Beach Elementary. Ormond Beach Junior High
was begun in 1960. Because of construction delays at Ormond Beach
Junior High School, some of the junior high students were housed at
Ormond Elementary (then called Corbin Avenue) and others went to class
at Osceola Elelmentary. Ormond Beach Elementary served seventh and
eighth grade classes until 1963. Ormond Beach Elementary now serves
approximately 370 students, grades pre-K through five. Presently, Ormond
Beach Elementary, home of the Teddy Bears, is evolving into a school of
the arts. Teachers and staff are using current research on multiple
intelligence, the brain and art infusion to develop a delivery system that
is designed to encourage students to reach their maximum potential.

ORMOND BEACH MIDDLE SCHOOL
ORMOND BEACH JUNIOR HIGH

Ormond Beach Middle School began as Ormond Beach Junior High
School in 1960. Because of construction delays the new junior high building
was not ready until the following year. Junior high students were housed
in any available space at Corbin Avenue Elementary (now Ormond
Elementary). When the new wing at Osceola Elementary was completed
Mr. Raymond Dunne, who was principal of Osceola Elementary at the
time (later superintendent of Volusia County Schools) made these
classrooms available to the junior high students. One hundred forty eight
Ormond Junior High School students were able to move into their new
school, located at 151 Domicilio Avenue in Ormond Beach on 29 acres at
the beginning of the 1961-1962 school year.

-

Aerial view of Ormond Junior High c. 1974-75

The new school had one wing of classrooms, part of the existing
cafeteria, a media center and a small office complex. In the early years
the only road to the school was a dirt path that ran due west from Beach
Street. In the early morning hours, it was not unusual to see deer and
fawn on the school grounds. Ormond Junior High School was built on
a partially cleared ridge, and the grounds were bordered on two sides by
a marshy, woody area that was an ideal habitat for rattlesnakes. Andrew
Romano, principal of Ormond Junior High from its founding in 1960 until
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1986, frequently reminded teachers and staff to be alert for rattlesnakes.
He recalls personally eliminating 178 rattlers from the school campus.
Once, while interviewing a prospective teacher, Mr. Romano continued
to skin a rattlesnake he had just destroyed. When he looked up the teacher
had quickly exited the interview.

Ormond Junior was considered one of the best junior high schools in
the state of Florida. Over the years the student body grew from the original
148 students to over 1400 in 1986. In 1990 Ormond Junior High, serving
seventh, eighth and ninth grades was converted to a middle school serving
sixth, seventh and eighth grades. Ormond Beach Middle, home of the
Panthers, currently serves approximately 1730 students.
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Ormond Beach Middle School

It is our prayer
that our students go out into the world
with the strength, not only to survive,
but to remain beautiful human beings.

Cole Glen

ORTONA ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

Ortona Elementary is located at 1265 North Grandview Avenue on
the Daytona peninsula. The school, built on land that was formerly a

* golf course, opened in 1952. Construction took only 120 days at a cost of

$92,000. Prior to 1952, sixth graders on the Daytona peninsula went to
Seabreeze High School. However, due to legislation enacted by the
state of Florida in 1951, the sixth grade classes had to be housed in
elementary schools. At the beginning of the 1952-1953 school year,
Ortona had only four sixth grade classrooms on its entire campus. Later
in the year, four more sixth grade classes and a fifth grade class were
added to the school. School Board Member Judy Conte was a member of
one of the first sixth grade classes at Ortona. By 1958, Ortona served
elementary grades one through eight. Due to the number of students at
that time, the school had to institute double sessions until additional
classrooms were built. During this time the Daytona Department of Parks
and Recreation placed an old army barrack on the west end of the Ortona
campus. The barrack, dubbed "the green house,” has served the beachside
community around Ortona Elementary as a children's recreation center
and a day care center. The structure now houses the afterschool program
for Ortona Elementary and is painted yellow.

By the 1961-1962 school year, Ortona was serving students from
kindergarten through grade six. During the 1960s the school also served
kindergarten students from Osceola Elementary due to the crowded
conditions at that school. In the 1980s, Ortona Elementary was a gifted
center and had the services of a foreign language teacher and a string
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instruments music teacher. In 1991, Ortona parents built the Marvin
Samuels Playground in honor of the former Ortona alumnus and prominent
local attorney. In the following year, the parents built a miniature golf
course on the south side of the school’'s campus. The Jack S. Gettel
Memorial Scholarship Fund was established in 1992 to honor Ortona's
deceased principal. The scholarship will be awarded for five years to senior
high school students who attended Ortona Elementary School in the fifth
grade classes of 1993 through 1998. The first scholarship was awarded in
1999.

Currently, Ortona Elementary, home of the Dolphins, serves
approximately 310 students in kindergarten through grade five and is
primarily a neighborhood school. Only two school buses transport children
from the Daytona mainland to this beachside school.

OSCEOILA ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,

Osceola Elementary, located at 100 Osceola Avenue off Rt. A1A in
Ormond Beach, opened in 1955. The structure had seven classrooms and
some administrative offices. In 1960, having outgrown the original seven
classrooms, eight more classrooms, a library and a cafeterorium
(combination cafeteria and auditorium), were added to the facility. The
school now housed grades one through eight. The seventh and eighth
grades were housed at Osceola on a temporary basis until Ormond Junior
High School opened in 1961. Because of the sustained and rapid growth
in population in the Ormond Beach area throughout the 1960s and 1970s,
Osceola's enrollment doubled and larger class sizes and portable
classrooms were the norm.

To ease crowding on campus kindergarten students were sent to Ortona
Elementary and special area teachers (Art and Music) had to deliver their
lessons in the classrooms instead of having designated areas of their own.
During the 1980s, new elementary schools were built on the Holly Hill-
Ormond Beach mainland and Osceola Elementary's enrollment decreased.
Subsequently, kindergarten classes were able to return to the school. At
this same time, air conditioning, a new media center and a new wing for
ESE students were added to the school. The old media center was converted
to a music room, and space was provided for an art room.

Throughout the years Osceola Elementary’'s PTA (Parent Teachers
Association) has worked diligently, sponsoring carnivals and bake sales
to provide funds for building playgrounds and purchasing equipment.

The PTA also spearheaded the movement to fluoridate Ormond Beach's
water supply and urged the city of Ormond Beach to build paved
sidewalks near the school. Osceola Elementary, whose mascot is the
Seminole Chief, Osceola, currently serves approximately 580 students in
grades pre-kindergarten through five.

Osceola Elementary School

Education, then, beyond all other devices of human
origin, is a great equalizer of conditions of man -
the balance wheel of the social machinery.

Horace Mann
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OSTEEN ELEMENTARY
OSTEEN SCHOOL,

The first school in Osteen, a two-room structure, began in the 1860s
when two area families, the Saul and Osteen families, hired a teacher
for $20 per month plus room and board to teach their 20 children. By

. 1886, community leaders indicated they would support a school, and

¢ Hezekiah Osteen sold a piece of land for the original school to the Volusia

 County School Board for $1.00. With a $100 grant the school was
constructed on Dickerson Avenue and opened with 30 students. The
original school was enlarged to meet the needs of the growing student
population in the early 1900s.

Early Osteen school

Shortly after World War I, a new structure was built to replace the
school built in the late 1880s. The community of Osteen appreciated the
teachers and principal of their school, and they often left bags of fruit and
other small gifts to show their appreciation for the education their children
were receiving. Sylvia Hardin remembered that, as a teaching principal
at Osteen for two years, she had many extra duties like heating each
classroom in the morning. She said once that she had to crawl under the
schoolhouse to discover and disassemble a secret hiding place some of
the students had made. The children had stored many things in their
hiding place under the porch steps including candles!

During the 1960s, the little school had three teachers. The teachers
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Osteen School c. 1950

and students went out to recess each morning at 10:00 A.M. The second
Osteen Elementary School burned down over Thanksgiving in 1967.
Classes were then held in two local churches until the School Board
brought in portable classrooms during the late 1960s and 1970s. One
morning, the children were both startled and excited to see a train traveling
near the school on railroad tracks that had not been used for several years.
For many of the students this was their first opportunity to see a train
(other than in pictures). The train line was on a route that traveled from
Oak Hill to Maytown to Farmton (formerly Celery City) to Hoboken (near
Cow Creek) to Osteen to Garfield to Enterprise and finally to Benson
Junction. Most of the little communities along the railway have
disappeared. The tracks were torn up in the mid 1970s. When the

Osteen Elementary School



Volusia County schools integrated in 1969-1970, the minority children
from Osteen, who had been bused to the Coleman School in Orange City
went to Osteen Elementary.

By 1983, Osteen'’s population had increased to the point that made
construction of a new school a necessity. The new school was erected on
Doyle Road and opened with 349 students. By 1991, the school had 1600
students and was put on a modified calendar (year round multi-track
schedule). Two new buildings were constructed and many portables were
also added at this time. During 1992 Osteen shared its campus with the
students and staff of Sunrise Elementary while that school was under
construction. The population crunch was alleviated by the subsequent
construction of two other schools in the area. Presently, Osteen Elementary,
home of the Broncos, has approximately 700 students.

PALM TERRACE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Palm Terrace Elementary, located on Dunn Avenue, opened in
August 1992 with 560 students. The school put into action the Volusia
County School Board's commitment to the education for all in a least
restrictive environment. A federal grant of $150,000 provided
opportunities for planning and in-service for all the school's stakeholders
—faculty, staff, parents and students. These in-service opportunities focused
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Palm Terrace Elementary School

particularly on strategies related to the inclusion of students with disabilities
into aregular classroom setting.

Teachers and students from Highlands Elementary (now closed), the
elementary division of Hillcrest (now closed), and the hearing impaired
units at South Daytona Elementary created the core of the new Palm Terrace
Elementary. Several offices that serve Volusia County Schools are housed
at Palm Terrace Elementary, including FDLRS (Florida Diagnostic Resource
System), the Reading Recovery Laboratory, VAATT (Volusia Adaptive,
Assistive Technology Team) and the Audiology Lab. Currently, Palm
‘Terrace, home of the Dolphins,serves approximately 650 students in grades
pre-kindergarten through five.

PATHWAYS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,

Pathways Elementary opened in August of 1997 to ease the
overcrowded conditions in area schools. The school is located in the

northeastern part of Volusia County at 2100 Airport Road in Ormond
Beach. Currently, Pathways Elementary, home of the Pathfinder Puppy;,
has approximately 570 students. Pathways' principal, Roben Smith, and
her hand picked staff have recently garnered the International Reading
Association Exemplary Reading Program Award.
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PIERSON ELEMENTARY
PIERSON SCHOOL

The first school in Pierson was held in the Primitive Baptist Church
during the 1870s. Teachers at the school were Mr. Thomas and Charlie
Jones. It is not known whether this was a private or public school. Pierson's
first public school of record opened in 1892 because several neighborhood

Swedish because their parents had come from Sweden to northwest Volusia.
By 1897-1898, Pierson's enrollment had increased to 51 pupils.

Jesse Baker (later Jesse Baker Hagstrom), well known Pierson resident,
taught at the Pierson school from 1910 until her death in 1933. Mrs.
Hagstrom was the mother of Ruth Hagstrom, who also taught at Pierson
for many years. In 1914, the school building was sold to the Woodmen of
the World and was then moved to West Second Avenue by the railroad
tracks. In the same year a new, four-room, one story building was

Public school in Pierson, Florida c. 1885.

or community schools in the area had closed. The new school had 39
students and was housed in a two-story, wooden frame building, located
on the corner of First and North Center Street. The school structure had a
belfry that contained a bell pulled by a long rope (the bell is now in the
belfry of the Pierson United Methodist Church). The new school's motto
was 1492 — Perserverance — 1892." Southeast of the school was a curbed
well and a pitcher pump. Each classroom had a bucket of water with a
dipper and each child had a drinking cup at his/her desk. To the northwest
of the school was the outhouse. The school was enclosed by a fence to
prevent cows and hogs (allowed to roam freely because of the open range
law) from getting into the schoolyard. Many of Pierson's students spoke

Pierson’s first public school opened in 1892.
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constructed at the First Avenue site for $960 by A.M. Bradshaw, contractor.
Each room had a cloakroom where several students remembered getting
a spanking. A green-latticed pump house with a standing pump and
wood shed was built on the north side of the school. By 1915, enrollment
had increased to 70 students. Each student had to purchase his/her own
books that were often passed down to younger family members. In 1917,
ninth and tenth graders from Barberville and the Clifton Settlement were
sent to Pierson Junior High. Pupils were transported first by a Model T
Ford and then a rickety black bus. Also in 1917, a PTA (Parent Teachers
Association) was formed. The PTA earned money to purchase a piano for
the school by giving oyster and chicken pilau suppers. In 1919, S.E.
Lemmon, a Volusia County School Board member who represented the
Barberville area, was instrumental in getting Central High School built in
Barberville. High school students from Seville and Pierson were then
sent to Barberville for classes. In 1924, two more classrooms were
constructed to meet the needs of the growing student population at the
Pierson school. During the 1920s, Earl Hamilton, Pierson's principal,
operated the moving picture machine purchased by the PTA for the
townspeople. At that time the school had a Delco Light Plant. Florida
Power lines were not put up until 1926. With the advent of electrical
power, the school was able to install an electric pump, plumbing and a
water fountain.

In 1926, the Town of Pierson was incorporated and a Spanish style,
stucco high school was erected west of the existing wooden school building
(the elementary school). This building served high school students who

Lobpo 3 &

Pierson High School with T. DeWitt Taylor, principal c. 1946

were no longer bused to Barberville. The new structure had an auditorium
with a balcony, stage and two dressing rooms, two large classrooms, one
smaller classroom, the principal's office, a small library, and two bathrooms.
The class of 1929 was the first class to graduate from Pierson High School.
In the late 1930s, a two-room building was constructed for manual training
and home economics. A gymnasium was built in 1942 and the senior class
was able to hold graduation ceremonies in the new gym. In 1946, a new
manual arts building and two new bathrooms were built from cement block.
The old manual arts room was converted to a lunchroom and the home
economics room that shared the manual arts building was moved to make
room for a dining area. In the early 1950s a concrete block building,
containing five classrooms, two bathrooms, a furnace room and covered
walkways, was built for the elementary classes at the school. A sixth room
was later added. In 1954, agriculture was added to the high school
curriculum to meet the needs of the rural community.

In 1962, the junior high and high schools were separated from the
elementary school when they moved to a new facility on Washington Street
named T.DeWitt Taylor Junior-Senior High School. Pierson Elementary
took over the space vacated by the junior and senior high school classes.

- The manual arts wing was converted to a kindergarten. Pierson Elementary

integrated minority children into its first grade in 1965-1966 with the other
grades integrating area Arfican American children the following year. In
1985, a new lunchroom was built. In 1968, Pierson Elementary instituted
a new ungraded system from grades one through three. Parents were
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Pierson Elementary and High as it appeared from 1926 - 1962

upset and protested the change by picketing outside the school. This
system did not last long and the more traditional grade stucture was
reinstituted.

On November 7, 1995, Chipper Jones, Atlanta Braves baseball player
and Pierson native, visited Pierson Elementary for an assembly after his
team won the World Series. Famous National Basketball Association
“"Rookie of the Year"”, Vince Carter, a Daytona native, visited the school
bothin 1998 and 1999.

Each year Pierson Elementary has a May Pole dance, planned by the
fifth grade students. A king and queen are chosen during the May Day
festivities.

To better serve the needs of the Hispanic students both Pierson
Elementary and Taylor Middle-High have developed an on going exchange
of data and strategies with the Mexican Consul's office and the public
school system of Jalisco State in Mexico. Pierson's first Hispanic principal,
Leticia Roman, was appointed for the 1999-2000 school year. Pierson
Elementary, home of the Patriots, currently serves 460 students from pre-
kindergarten to grade six.

Pierson Elementary

The saying "He who teaches others, teaches
himself" is very true, not only because
constant repetition impresses a fact indelibly
on the mind, but because the process
of teaching itself gives deeper
insight into the subject taught.

Comenius
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PINE RIDGE HIGH SCHOOI,

Pine Ridge High School, located in the newly incorporated city of
Deltona, opened as a pilot school in 1994-1995 on eighty-three acres on
Howland Boulevard. Pine Ridge High, home of the Panthers, used a
modified Copernican / Block Trimester plan that consisted of two hour
and ten minute classes over a 12 week period, and Curriculum
Enhancement Labs. Other components of this plan were the availability
of faculty and staff for mentoring, the A, B, C, in progress, and F grading
system, and the extended use of technology. The school year 1999-2000
was the last year for this trimester schedule.

Pine Ridge High School has a special relationship with Siemens
Electronics at which Pine Ridge Students earn graduation credits. The
administration, faculty and students of the Digital Arts program also
have an affiliation with the Digital Arts program at Stetson University.
Pine Ridge High School has been the recipient of the Volunteer
Partnership Golden and Silver Awards for four years. Pine Ridge is also
used as an expansion campus four nights a week by DBCC (Daytona
Beach Community College) and by the Volusia County Recreation
Department for the campus tennis courts and outdoor fields. Pine Ridge
High School currently serves approximately 2180 students. In the 2000-
2001 school year, the trimester block scedule is being replaced by the four
by four block schedule.

Pine Ridge High School

PINE TRAIL ELEMENTARY

Pine Trail Flementary opened in August of 1982. The majority of its
students and faculty came from Tomoka Elementary and Ormond Beach
Elementary. During the first year, 1982-1983, Pine Trail was housed at
Tomoka Elementary. The two schools shared a lunchroom, media center,
playgrounds and other facilities but the Pine Trail classrooms and
administrative office were housed in portables. Pine Trail Elementary
welcomed students at its new facility on 300 Airport Road in Ormond
Beach in August, 1983.

Over the years Pine Trail has received numerous awards including,
Outstanding School — State of Florida (1985-1986), National Award of
School of Excellence (1985-1986), Meritorious School/School of Distinction
(1990-1991), and the Little Red School House Award (1991-1992). Using
money from a grant, A Walk Through History was developed by art teacher
Marla Shulenburg and Pine Trail students from each grade level. The
walk depicted famous people in history. For several years Pine Trail
students also exchanged places with their counterparts in France. Becky
Pittard, a Pine Trails teacher, accompanied the students to France.

Pine Trail Elementary
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Pine Trail Elementary was rezoned in 1998 due to the opening of
Pathways Elementary. The student population became more culturally
and economically diverse. Because of this change, both the administration
and faculty have formulated teaching strategies designed to meet the
needs of these students. Currently, Pine Trail Elementary, home of the
Pioneers, serves approximately 670 students.

PORT ORANGE ELEMENTARY
PORT ORANGE SCHOOL,

In 1879, Port Orange families paid by subscription to provide for group
schooling rather than home schooling for the area's children. Classes
were small and the furniture was crude. The first school building was
located on Halifax Drive where the Port Orange Civic Center is now
located. J.B. Case, who also worked by subscription, was the first teacher
at the Port Orange School. He came to Port Orange after teaching at the
Tomoka Settlement. After teaching in primitive quarters without
standardized books, Case oversaw the construction of a new one-room
schoolhouse in 1889, This new building »

Students stcz_hding in front of the old wooden Port Orange school house
in the early 1900’s

.‘4'.
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corner of Dunlawton and Orange Avenues and was used for several years
until the coming of the railroad. The J. Voss family deeded the property
on which the school stood to the Volusia County School Board and in 1896
the school was renovated. By 1908, the school population had outgrown
the one-room school and another room and cupola were added.

In 1925 a new brick school was built on the same three and one half-
acre site at 402 Dunlawton Avenue and opened to students in 1926. The
two-room school with the cupola was moved to a spot directly west of the
original site. Prior to 1925, several buildings including the Methodist
Church were temporarily rented for use as classrooms to accommodate
the growing student population. In 1942, during World War I, the Port
Orange school was enlarged. The old wood frame building was again
moved to accommodate the new wing. The old building was used for
Music, Art and a cafeteria. )

Harold Cardwell, local historian and former Port Orange student
recalled the May Day programs with a king, queen and a maypole. He
remembered the Halloween fair the school held each year with the students
bobbing for apples and chasing a greased pig. Cardwell said that when
the students had to go to Mr. Sandsbury's (long time Port Orange
principal) office they could see the peachtree switch hanging over his
door. He didn't recall anyone getting paddled but the switch so prominently
displayed was certainly a major deterrent to misbehavior. Sandsbury
arranged for a “chapel program" every Friday in the auditorium. Mr.
Cardwell said that the name was a misnomer because the programs were
not of a religious nature but on a variety of interesting topics. On one
occasion some speakers who worked in local industry brought in various
machines like a washer and stove and explained their inner workings to
the captivated student audience. During his years as a Port Orange
student, Cardwell also recalled the beauty and wonderful color of the
phlox that came up each year behind the school.

Another addition to Port Orange Elementary was built in 1954. The
first Port Orange school, built in the early 1900s, was still being used for
classrooms in the 1950s and 1960s. Lynn Gold Shafer and Kathy Aliman
taught in the old structure as did kindergarten teachers Dorothy Brown
and Shirley Wadsworth. The city of Port Orange had a population explosion
in the early 1970s and, with the help of portable classrooms, Port Orange
Elementary served all Port Orange students until Spruce Creek Elementary
was builtin 1981. While many of the children were still housed in portables
Shirley Wadsworth, former school secretary, kindergarten and first grade
teacher at Port Orange, recalled that a train derailed one morning when
the students were coming to school. She said that had it not been for the
fence that separated the school grounds from the railroad, the derailed
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train would have bumped right into a portable classroom.

Prior to building Spruce Creek Elementary, Port Orange Elementary
grew so large that classes were also held at Riverview Elementary to
accommodate all the students. Itwas originally thought that Port Orange
Elementary would be torn down when the newer schools in the area were
built. But faculty and parents, however, persuaded the school board to
keep the school open. Three other elementary schools were built in the
1980s and early 1990s to handle the increased number of school age
children in the Port Orange area. Presently, Port Orange Elementary,
~ home of the Tigers, serves approximately 400 students. Besides regular

" education classes K though five, Port Orange has an ESOL (English
Speakers of Other Languages) class and a variety of ESE (Exceptional
Student Education} classes including classes for gifted children.

Port Orange Elementary School

'READ-PATTILLO ELEMENTARY

Read-Pattillo Elementary, located on the corner of U.S. 1 and Sixth
Street in New Smyrna Beach, opened in 1957. The school was named
after two New Smyrna Beach educators — Miss Alice Read and Miss Anne
Pattillo. Miss Read was principal of the Live Oak School from 1926 to
1948, and Miss Pattillo was principal of the Faulkner Street School from
1926 to 1946. Anne Gautier, former teacher and wife of a Florida state
senator, was instrumental in acquiring the property on which the school
was built. Route U.S.1 was yet to be constructed, and the school was
surrounded by low lying scrub oaks. Students from Live Oak Grammar
School transferred when one wing of the new school was ready for
occupancy. Both teachers and students remember that the croaking noise
made by the countless frogs in the surrounding woods almost drowned
out classroom instruction. Euda Conley, Read-Pattillo’s first principal
was split between the new school and the students who still remained at
Live Oak. The Live Oak School continued to serve junior high and high
school students. Read-Pattillo was built in phases. The last phase, the art
and music suite, was completed in 1997.

Read-Pattillo Elementary School
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Read-Patttillo opened with no lunch room facility. According to
LaVerna McGinnis, students who forgot their lunches were treated to a
peanut butter sandwich made by the teacher. Donna Gould Adams, a
Read-Pattillo teacher and former student (when the school first opened),
remembered having Spanish lessons in the elementary grades and
learning The Three Bears in Spanish.

Because of an outdoor beautification project, including reading
benches, tables, chairs and landscaping, Read-Pattillo Elementary has
an outdoor instructional area. The Read-Pattillo campus also has an
outdoor pavilion that is shared with the New Smyrna Recreation
Department. Read-Pattillo has a full-time ALPHA Program that supports
students who are in danger of dropping out of school. Read-Pattillo is a
school with strong ties to the community. During the early 1990s, Read
Pattillo was instrumental in hosting literacy celebrations for the Southeast
Volusia area.

Read-Pattillo was awarded $33,000 for improved academic scores in
December of 1998 under the first School Recognition Program. In May of
1999, Read-Pattillo Elementary was recognized nationally as a
Distinguished Title One School at the International Reading Association
(IRA) conference in San Diego, California. Read-Pattillo Elementary now
has 29 classrooms, each of which opens to outside, covered walkways.
The school has the Sun as its mascot, showing that Read-Pattillo
Elementary “shines.” Currently, Read-Pattillo serves approximately 570
students in pre-kindergarten through grade five.

| do the very best [ know how;
the very best | can;
and | mean to keep on doing so;
until the end.

Abraham Lincoln

RIVERVIEW LEARNING CENTER
RIVERVIEW ELEMENTARY SCHOOIL,
NORTH SEABREEZE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL

Riverview Learning Center was originally called North Seabreeze
Elementary. At the time it was one of only two elementary schools on the
Daytona peninisula: the other elementary school was South Lenox Avenue.
All elementary children who lived north of Main Street attended the
Riverview school. Riverview is located on the corner of Riverview and
North Wild Olive Avenues on one and one-half acres. It was constructed
in 1926 of stucco-on-block. The principal, May Haigh, taught fifth grade
in the room adjacent to the office, close to her ever-present cup of cofiee.
She had the children assemble each morning in the auditorium to sing
patriotic songs and listen to a Bible reading: her favorite was the 23"
psalm.

Mrs. Robert (Joanne) Black remembers attending North Seabreeze
while her aunt, May Haigh, was principal. She recalled the first Arbor
Day when the Arlington Garden Club brought a young tree to plant in
front of the school. Years later Mrs. Black served as PTA (Parent Teachers
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Association) president and she recounted how the parents raised funds to
sod the school grounds.

In 1947, while Mary Christian served as principal of Riverview, a
two-story, stucco-on-block wing, including a cafeteria, was added to the
original structure. The second story had long sloping interior ramps to
provide easy access. Anew lunch program was promoted during the late
1940s and, for a time, Alys Clancy (later garden columnist for the News
Journal) served as cafeteria manager. In 1947 the school’'s name changed
from North Seabreeze to Riverview because of confusion over the similarity
of names between North Seabreeze and Seabreeze High School.

In the early years, teachers taught all subjects including the special
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Riverview Elementary c. 1948

area subjects of art, music and physical education. By the late 1940s,
special area teachers came to the school on a part time basis. Former opera
singer, Leota Cardati Coburn, taught music at Riverview before moving
on to Seabreeze High where she remained until her retirement. From
1958 to 1961 Riverview served grades one through eight. In the school
year 1962-1963, the seventh and eighth grade classes were moved to
Seabreeze Junior High and grades one through six remained at Riverview.
Riverview was a closeknit community school, and neighborhood parents
opposed the transfer of their children to other area schools because of
court ordered integration. Finally, students who lived on the Daytona
mainland were sent to Riverview to comply with court ordered integration.

In 1971, Riverview was converted to the pupil personnel offices for
Volusia County Schools. Riverview became a center for Volusia County

psychologists in 1980. Since 1981, Riverview has served as a center for
alternative education. As an alternative education center, Riverview's
curriculum is one of individualized competency-based instruction with a
smaller teacher/pupil ratio than in a regular classroom setting. The goal
is to give students who have had problems in the regular education program
a chance to earn a high school diploma and better skills in which to enter
the work world. Riverview currently serves approximately 120 students.

b )
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Riverview Learning Center

Every teacher should realize the dignity
of his calling.

John Dewey
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SAMSULA ELEMENTARY
BRIGGSVILLE SCHOOL

The community of Samsula was originally called Briggsville. The
town was on the rail line that ran from Orange City to New Smyrna
Beach. The first Briggsville School opened in 1893 according to Volusia
County School Board records. In 1912, a second Briggsville School, located
on eight acres on what is now 248 Samsula Drive, opened its doors. The
school was a one-room wood structure, 35 feet by 25 feet. One teacher,
possibly Lillian Geiger, served grades one through eight. Two or three
rooms were later added to the original structure. A former student, W.S.
Hughs, who attended school in this wooden structure, remembered that
on occasion boys were made to sit on a pine log in the back of the room.
He also recalled the time a dog slipped in to devour a couple of the
students’ lunches. Students who didn't walk to school were transported
by horse and wagon. Frank Luznar, another former student, remembered
that the school's Christmas tree had real candles. The school and
community were renamed Samsula in honor of Lloyd Samsula, who was
the first World War I veteran to return home to the settlement.

Samsula Elementary School

In 1928, a new stucco building was built and the original wooden
structure was moved to the back of the school campus and used as a
clubhouse for socials and dances. The new building cost under $30,000
and had several classrooms and indoor plumbing. In the 1930's, Samsula
students were able to go to and from school on a school bus. A school
lunchroom was added which served hot meals with fresh meats and
vegetables for $.05 to $.10. During the 1940s, Jeannette Humphries
recalled that a hand-rung bell was used to call students for lunch and
recess and to begin and end the school day. In 1961, Samsula got its first
basketball hoop and students were still coming to school barefoot. Bill
Tomazin said that when he had to attend junior high in town (New
Smyrna) it was the first time he'd had to wear shoes to school. Kindergarten
classes began at Samsula Elementary in 1971.

During the 1970s there was a move to close Samsula Elementary
and transport the children of the Samsula community to schools in New
Smyrna. The community of Samsula opposed this idea. To solve the
problem of overcrowding, caused by the increase in the student population
at Samsula, portable classrooms were brought to the campus. At the
school's 75% anniversary in 1987, a time capsule containing items such as
computer disks and newspaper articles was buried under the flagpole. A
new addition with eight classrooms was built in 1991 and, in 1993, a
cafetorium, kitchen, dining area and stage area were constructed. The
old auditorium was remodeled for use as a media center and the old
kitchen became an art room. Currently Samsula Elementary, home of the
Panthers, serves approximately 230 students.

Success
is the
progressive realization
of a worthy goal.

Earl Nightingale
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SEABREEZE HIGH SCHOOL
SEABREEZE JUNIOR SENIOR SCHOOL,
SEABREEZE SCHOOIL,
MEMENTO SCHOOL

Seabreeze High School was first housed in a frame building, 16 by
24 feet, located at the northeast corner of Halifax Avenue and Ora Street.
This structure which was the first school on the Daytona Beach Peninsula
was built in 1886 and was called the Memento School because it was in
the Memento subdivision in the town of Seabreeze. The Memento school
was painted red and was the typical “little red school house.” The only
trail to the schoolhouse went from Main Street past the home of Charles
Ballough, one of the founders of the Seabreeze community. On the same
block, extending to Peninsula Drive, was a smaller building that housed
the other school children. The school served the two peninsula towns of
Seabreeze and Daytona Beach (the dividing line was Auditorium
Boulevard). Seabreeze was included in the Halifax Peninsula School
District and in 1908, officially became a high school with the graduation
of its first senior class. The first yearbook, the Sand Crab, was published

in1912.

In the fall of 1917, all students and teachers were moved to a new
large, well equipped school building costing $58,484.09 on three and one
half acres at the northwest corner of Grandview Avenue and Earl Street.
The new school was a concrete and steel structure and included an
auditorium with stage equipment and moveable seats so it could also
serve as a basketball court. In 1920, R.J. Longstreet was named supervising
principal and remained in this position for the next 30 years. Mr.
Longstreet accepted this position only after being given assurances that
Seabreeze High School would raise its standards and seek admission to
the Southern Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools. Seabreeze
High, which included grades one through twelve, was admitted to the
Southern Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools. One of the
requisites for belonging to this association was that the school term would
be nine months long. Because the Volusia County School Board didn't
have the funds to pay for nine months of school each year, peninsula
residents donated the rest of the money for the school’s expenses.

Saxon Lloyd (class of 1926) edited the newly created school newspaper

Seabreeze c. 1917
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that was firstissued in 1924. Seabreeze High's first PTA (Parent Teachers
Association) was also established in 1924. In 1925, Lenox Avenue
Elementary School was opened and all students in grades one through
seven living south of Broadway (this boundary was later changed to south
of Main Street) were transferred to this school. In 1926, North Seabreeze
Elementary (renamed Riverview Elementary in 1945) was built to serve
elementary students north of Broadway. With the construction of these
two schools, Seabreeze High lost its elementary grades and served only
grades seven through twelve. In 1925, the towns of Seabreeze, Daytona
Beach and Daytona were consolidated and became Daytona Beach. It was
also the first year that Seabreeze High had an orchestra. During the
1926-1927 school year, the “Florida Boom" went bust. Teachers at
Seabreeze had to take a pay cut and school activities had to be either cut
or cancelled. A collection of the Sea Breeze, the school paper, replaced
the school annual because of lack of funding.

In 1930, the school annual was published but the Sea Breeze (the
school newspaper) was not published again due to lack of funding. It was
not unusual during this time for a student to arrive at school with a dime
that he/she received from John D. Rockefeller. In 1932-1933, during the
depths of the Depression, lack of funding caused Seabreeze High to reduce
the school year by three weeks. Seabreeze High School began its first
chapter of the National Honor Society in 1935-36. During this time,
Seabreeze tried to obtain W.PA. (Work Progress Administration) funds for
much needed additions to the school.

By 1940, a bond issue and matching government funds allowed for
new construction. During these years school dances were $.25 “stag”
and $.45 "drag.” Dances were held at the Palmetto Club, the Mainland
High Gym, Ocean Pier Casino, Chateau Lido and the Martinique. When
Sir Malcolm Campbell made his runs on the beach in the “Bluebird"
school would close and all the Seabreeze students headed for the beach.
Many of the young male graduates of Seabreeze High lost their lives in
World War II and some of the streets in the Welch area of Daytona bear
their names — Milligan, Heineman, Mayberry, Moore, Jabaly, Bird and
Dunn. Many sacrifices were made during the war years by the Seabreeze
students who abandoned most of their extra curricular activities while
supporting the war effort by collecting metal, paper, etc. for recycling and
assisting with local defense. By 1942, Seabreeze High had a new 80 foot
by 105 foot gym, a manual arts shop, a cafeteria, a ten room wing to house
the junior high and a new band/orchestra room that were added to the
original structure. While these addditions were being constructed,
assemblies were held on the south lawn, and, occasionally, the Florida
Theater on Main Street was used when a stage was needed. In 1943,

Tippen Davidson (now publisher of the News Journal) was one of the
state award-winning first place soloists in the Seabreeze orchestra.
Favorite student hangouts during this time were Leiner's Drug Store,
Maddox's, Lynn's Milk Bar, the Empire Theater and Poppa Whittaker's
Empire Soda Shoppe (father of Jim Whittaker). Prior to this time, high
school sports had been organized under a consolidated Daytona Beach
effort (combining Seabreeze and Mainland athletes). This was changed
during the 1940s when Seabreeze began to field its own teams, the Sand
Crabs, for both football and basketball. The basketball team was state
champions in 1948. The red and white school colors were proudly
displayed at all athletic events. After the war, extra curricular activities
were resumed at Seabreeze, including Miss Lamb’s amateur movies. In
October 1948, Seabreeze received a superior evaluation from SACS
(Southern Association of Colleges and Schools}. Headlines stated that
"Seabreeze Teachers are Termed Excellent, Pupils Found Above the
Average." Asin previous years, rivalry with Mainland High was fierce.
Each Halloween the schools had their annual rotten egg and orange fight
on the Main Street and Broadway bridges. The “jitterbug” was the postwar
rage, and the students wore their bathing suits under their clothes during
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Seabreeze High School
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final exams so they could go to the beach during free periods.

During the early 1950s saddle shoes, penny loafers, roll top socks,
blue jeans with rolled up cuffs, peddle pushers, crinoline petticoats (don't
forget the starch) and the “Fonz look"” were the fashion rage for Seabreeze
students. Many students congregated at Stansfield's Drive-In for sodas
after the movies. Lucy Sheppard, the Spanish teacher, developed a
friendship with Cuban educators who visited Fulgencio Batista's (Cuban
president until overthrown by Castro) home at 129 North Halifax. This
friendship evolved into an exchange program between Cuban and
Seabreeze students. The Seabreeze basketball team won its fourth
consecutive state championship in 1951. One Seabreeze glee club
participant, Dede Lund, took her interest in acting to Hollywood where
she later starred in “Land of the Giants.” During the late 1950s, because
of the rapid population growth in the area, Seabreeze High began to
change. Prior to this time grades six through twelve had been housed at
Seabreeze. By 1954, sixth and seventh grades were moved to area
elementary schools and by 1958 Seabreeze High School served only grades
nine through twelve. The student population increased from 650 students
in 1954 to 1005 students in 1962. The basketball and tennis courts had to
be sacrificed to make room for a new addition that was completed in 1957.
This addition included a new cafeteria, bandroom, several classrooms
and a chorus room. The old cafeteria was converted into an art, jewelry
and ceramic studio.

The launch of Sputnik by the USSR led to many changes in the
curriculum. Students were now required to take six subjects and study
halls were discontinued. Exchange visits to Cuba were discontinued when
Castro came to power. During this time the Seabreeze band, “The
Marching 100,” was recognized throughout the state. In 1958, racing
was moved to the newly constructed International Speedway and
Seabreeze students no longer had the opportunity to take the afternoon
off to watch car racing on the beach. During the 1950s Seabreeze won
championships in tennis and swimming. Their football team also had
several undefeated seasons.

A new school was builtin 1962 at 270 North Oleander Avenue on 23
acres that included 14 permanent buildings. The construction cost for the
new structure was $1,257,000. The old school on Earl and Grandview
became Seabreeze Junior High School. The new school was located in
the Ortona Park subdivision near Belair Plaza, which at the time had very
few paved roads. Part of the campus was actually located in Daytona Beach
and part in Ormond Beach. Inthe mid 1960s, Atlantic Avenue (A1A) was
expanded to four lanes. Many new businesses opened on the expanded
road, and these businesses not only supported the school but provided

afterschool jobs for Seabreeze High students. Seabreeze won the state
basketball championship in 1964. The school's tennis teams were state
championships from 1961 through 1965. Track and cross country also
had state championships in the 1960s. Seabreeze High School was
integrated in 1969-70, as were other Volusia County Schools. During the
1970, the integration of African American high school students plus
increased enrollment because of residential growth forced Seabreeze to
go on double sessions.

During the 1980s, additional classrooms, physical fitness rooms, a
new media center and a guidance suite were built to handle the growing
student population. Industrial arts and agricultural programs were
added to the curriculum.  Athletic director Jerry Chandler and his
coaching staff continued to lead Seabreeze teams to championship seasons,
including the new sport of weightlifting. In the early 1990s Seabreeze
won state championships in soccer and cheerleading. The Seabreeze
Sunsations won national attention in 1997.

Seabreeze is presently undergoing more change and land is being
purchased to expand the school building. A portion of the eXisting facililty
has been torn down and will be rebuilt to accommodaté-the needs of the
school. Seabreeze, home of the SandCrabs, presently serves approximately
1500 students.

Aa Bb Cc Dd ke Ff Gg Hh 1i Jj Kk LE Mm Nn Go Pp Qg Rr Ss

It is not desirable to have our work so
stereotyped as to destroy or even handicap
a judicious individuality on the part of every
teacher; yet there must be an approximate
uniformity of ideals and efforts in order to make

possible that systematic progress which is essential

and to reach that uniform basis hoped for.
C.R.M. Sheppard
Volusia County Superintendent of Schools, 1914
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SEVILLE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
SEVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL,

When the Seville area of Volusia County was settled in the late 1800s,
several neighborhood schools were established including; (see map section
atthe end of the chapter on closed schools) the McGlon School in southeast
Seville, the Lake Juanita School in the northeast, the Hale School near
the county line, the Braddock School in the northwest and the Seville
School, (called the Mason Young School) which began as a private school.
These little schools were eventually combined with the Young School and
became the Seville Grammar School that opened on August 26, 1909.
Untilabout 1913, Seville Grammar School students attended classes in a
two-story house that had been remodeled to serve as a school. This
school was located just west of the present school site. In 1913, four
classrooms, serving grades one through junior high, were built to the
north of the present site.

When Central High School was built in Barberville in 1919, the junior
high students from Seville were sent to Barberville. In 1924, the southern

Seville Elementary School

part of the present structure was completed and the school became Seville
Public School for grades one through twelve with eight teachers. Sometime
later, a building for home economics and shop was constucted.

Alice Wyatt remembered teaching high school one year and fifth and
sixth grade the next year. During the 1940s, a cafeteria and gymnasium
were added. After the construction of the cafeteria, the Seville students
were asked to supply one plate, one glass and one spoon for their school
meals. The high school was discontinued in 1960, when students in grades
nine through twelve were sent to T. DeWitt Taylor Junior Senior High
School. In this same year a kindergarten class was added to the school. In
1962, students in the seventh and eighth grades were also sent to Taylor
Junior Senior High in Pierson.

In 1969, when the Volusia County Schools were integrated, the Seville
Elementary minority students joined the Seville Public students and the
school was renamed Seville Elementary. During the 1970s, one former
principal recalled how he tried to deter the children from crossing the
railroad tracks while going to and from school. The principal's concern
stemmed from an elderly man who was killed by a train. The children
repeatedly ignored his warnings. So, toward the end of one school day,
the principal, clad in a three piece suit, hid in the bushes hoping to catch
the errant students “in the act.” He then heard a rustling noise nearby
that turned out to be an angry, longhorned goat. The principal immediately
scrambled back to the safety of the school just as the students were being
dismissed and just in time to give them a good laugh. Since the late 1970s
many children of Mexican heritage have attended Seville Elementary;,
lending a multi-cultural atmosphere to the school. Currently, Seville
Elementary, home of the Panthers, serves approximately 110 students in a
rural agricultural setting.

Aa Bb Cc Dd ke Ff Gg Hh i Jj Kk LI Mm Nn Oo Pp Qg Rr Ss

The progressive teacher must keep in touch
with the spirit and progress of the age,
especially advanced thought and ideals.

C.RM. Sheppard
Volusia County Superintendent of Schools, 1914
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SILVER SANDS MIDDLE SCHOOL,

Silver Sands Middle School, formerly Silver Sands Junior High,
opened in 1984 as a replacement for Seabreeze Junior High and
Mainland Seventh Grade Center. The school has 14 separate buildings
and is located on 44 acres off Herbert Street in Port Orange. Primary
feeder schools for Silver Sands are Port Orange Elementary, Sugar Mill
Elementary, Horizon Elementary, Spruce Creek Elementary and
Sweetwater Elementary. One of the highlights in the school's short history
was the visit of Governor (now U. S. Senator) Bob Graham to the campus
in 1996.

Silver Sands Junior became Silver Sands Middle School in 1990-1991,
changing from a facility that served seventh, eighth and ninth graders to
one that served sixth, seventh and eighth graders. Each grade level belongs
to a separate house comprised of interdisciplinary teams with an assistant
principal serving as administrator. These interdisciplinary teams focus
on integration of the curriculum with an instructional delivery system
emphasizing real world applications of classroom concepts. In addition
to the academic pursuits at Silver Sands, the school has a twenty-five
minute PRIDE Enhancement period that includes peer mediation.
Currently Silver Sands Middle School, home of the Warriors, serves a
diverse population of approximately 1910 students.

Silver Sands Middle School

South Daytona Elementary School (right)
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SOUTH DAYTONA ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

South Daytona Elementary, located at 600 Elizabeth Place, opened
in 1964. The school received its name because it is the only elementary
school in the city of South Daytona. South Daytona was designed for
an eventual capacity of 30 classrooms. In the early years the school did
not have a cafeteria or the services of art, music and physical education
teachers. During this time the Marching Dragons, South Daytona's drill
team, won numerous awards for participation in parades and community
events. In 1965, 1966 and 1967 the South Daytona Elementary's PTA
(Parent Teachers Association) received the Volusia County Historian Cup
for their scrapbooks.

On October 14, 1980, Mrs. Adele Graham, wife of Governor Bob
Graham, visited the school to honor both the excellent volunteer program
and the degree of parent involvement at South Daytona Elementary. Also
in 1980, the PTA was selected as a Florida Honor Unit. Multiple selection
criteria were used in selecting South Daytona Elementary for this national
recognition. On February 2, 1988, three young men set fire to one of the
school's wing. The roof collapsed and there was a great deal of damage.
The culprits were apprehended.

South Daytona Elementary, home of the Dragons, was designated as
a Red Carpet School by the state of Florida, and in 1990 received the
Meritorious School Award for Student Achievement. South Daytona
has earned the Golden School Award for the number of volunteer hours

over the past 20 years. Currently, South Daytona Elementary has 41
classrooms (18 portable classrooms), a cafeteria, media center and
administrative wing. The school serves approximately 980 students in
grades pre-kindergarten through five.




SOUTHWESTERN MIDDLE SCHOOL
SOUTHWESTERN SEVENTH GRADE
CENTER
SOUTHWESTERN JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH
SCHOOL'

Southwestern Middle, located at 605 W. New Hampshire Avenue,
was opened in 1964 as a high school for African American students replacing
the older Euclid High School. The architectural design was the same as
DeLand High School. The bell, rung at football games at Euclid High
School when the football team scored touchdowns, was brought to
Southwestern and used for the same purpose. This bell is now housed at
the Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts. Southwestern was the pride
of the DeLand African American community and a source of cultural identity.
The excellent industrial arts and agriculture programs for which Euclid
Avenue High School was recognized continued at Southwestern.

In 1969-1970, Southwestern's high school students were integrated

into DeLand High School and Southwestern became a seventh grade

R SCHOOL
E 14
11 50

* denotes segregated school

center. Eighth and ninth grade students attended DeLand Junior High.

Over the years Southwestern has received numerous awards. The
school received the Celebrate Literacy Award from the Volusia County
Reading Council because of its program, “Kids in Daycare Storytime."
Southwestern was one of three schools in Volusia County to receive
$100,000 for an afterschool program grant. The school was awarded a
School Recognition Program Award in 1998-1999. In 1996 Southwestern
was designated as a Title [ Successful School and in 1994, it was recognized
as a Red Carpet School. Through out the 1990s Southwestern has been
awarded both the Golden and Silver School awards for its volunteer
program.

Stetson students reqgularly tutor Southwestern students. The school
also participates in CROP (College Reach Out Program) with college
students from the Daytona Beach Community College's west campus.
Southwestern students take part in weekly “Brain Bowl"” competitions that
quiz students on content area subject matter. In 1988-1989, Southwestern
became a middle school serving sixth, seventh and eighth grades.
Southwestern Middle, home of the Tigers, currently has 650 students.

SPRUCE CREEK ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
SPRUCE CREEK SCHOOIL

The first Spruce Creek School was a small one-room school on Spruce
Creek near what is now the fly-in community. The school had a very
limited enrollment and was in existence from 1887 until 1930. Miss
Fleta Doty was the principal-teacher for many years. The school closed
when school buses were able to transport students in this rural settlement
to the Port Orange School.

Spruce Creek Elementary, located on Taylor Road in Port Orange,
opened its doors in 1980 to 954 students. Until Spruce Creek opened,
the only elementary school in Port Orange was Port Orange Elementary.
Spruce Creek Elementary has faced many challenges since its opening.
The school began on a traditional calendar, moved for several years to a
year round calendar, and then returned to a traditional calendar. When
Volusia County Schools changed to a middle school concept, Spruce
Creek lost its sixth grade. The student population ballooned, from its
opening in 1980 to 1,250 students in 1993. The opening of Sweetwater
Elementary alleviated these overcrowded conditions.

In 1980-1981, Spruce Creek was recognized as a Model School for
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Team Teaching. Spruce Creek Elementary has pioneered many activities
effecting local students such as grade level teams that won national
recognition, school wide themes, the first Grandparent's Day in 1981-
1982, the first story telling festival in 1982-1983, and an “open" library
schedule. Because of the school wide theme, the Project Wild program,
the city of Port Orange was given the impetus to purchase endangered
land from Volusia County. Other milestones include the first “Career
Day" (1981), an "artist in residence” program (1983), a Natural Trail
(1987) and the Science Discovery Room (1988). Spruce Creek's band has
also won recognition. Music USA awarded a superior to the Spruce
Creek Elementary Band from 1995 to 1999, and the highest overall award
in 1997,1998 and 1999.

Spruce Creek Elementary has been the recipient of many awards.
The school was designated as a Red Carpet School in 1989. In 1998-1999
Spruce Creek won the Five Star School Award and was recognized as a
Junior American Citizens School. In the school year, 1999-2000, Spruce
Creek was named a School of Recognition by the Florida Department of
Education and also received the Golden School Award. Spruce Creek
Elementary currently serves approximately 710 students.

Spruce Creek Elementary School

SPRUCE CREEK HIGH SCHOOL,

In August 1975, Spruce Creek High School, located in Port Orange
opened with 1600 students in the sophomore, junior and senior classes
and with 104 staff members. It was the fourth high school to be
constructed on Volusia County's east coast. The students were drawn
primarily from Mainland and Seabreeze High Schools with a few
students coming from New Smyrna Beach High School. At the time
the school was considered to be a modern marvel because it was the
first fully climate controlled school in the area.

In 1975, Port Orange was a small village near a little known body of
water called Spruce Creek. It seemed appropriate to name the school
after the creek. Black and orange were chosen as the school colors and
the hawk was chosen as the mascot, even though the first principal,
Howard "Hap" Gold, wanted the mascot to be a mullet. (Mr. Gold was
an avid fisherman.) Spruce Creek soon became known as “Hawk
Heaven.” While a real hawk, donated by a member of the community,
resided in the principal's office for a while, a stray dog became the real
mascot and was aptly named “Hawk, the Dog.” In 1975, there were no
alumni to return to Homecoming, so Spruce Creek celebrated its
dedication with a Homecoming carnival. The carnival has become a Spruce
Creek tradition.

In the early 1990s, Spruce Creek’s student population increased to
2700 reflecting the increasing population of Port Orange. The overcrowded
conditions were partially alleviated by the opening of Atlantic High School
in 1994. Currently the number of students exceeds 2100 in a facility built
for 1500. Spruce Creek, home of the Hawks, is recognized throughout the

swauck CALEE mgEH scHOOL

Spruce Creek High School
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state because of its achievements. In 1985, Spruce Creek instituted one of
the first Teacher as Advisor Programs in the state and has become a
model for many other high schools. The International Baccalaureate
Program, introduced in 1990, stands among the top twenty in the world
for its size and ranks 19™ in North America in the number of diplomas
awarded. Spruce Creek High School has received the Blue Ribbon School
Award, the Red Carpet School Award, and the School of Distinction Award.
Spruce Creek also has a Finance Academy that is a school within a school
for students interested in a career in the world of finance.

STARKE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,
PARSONS STREET SCHOOL*

Starke Elementary, home of the Koalas, was originally called Parsons
Street School. The school was built in 1956 in DeLand on land that was
formerly a pecan grove. The school was built for minority students before
the advent of integration and quickly became a hub for community activities.
Parson Street was a community school for the Spring Hill section of

Starke Elementary School

* denotes segregated school

DeLand. Most of the teachers lived in the neighborhood. Billy Miles
(now a teacher at Westside Elementary) remembers May Day activities
including a maypole and Easter egg hunts for the kindergarten students.

More classrooms were added in 1957 and 1958. In 1962, the school
was renamed Edith I. Starke Elementary for Mrs. Starke who served for
many years as a teacher at Euclid Avenue High School and who was
the first principal of the Parsons Street School. Starke Elementary was
integrated in the school year 1969-1970. In 1969, a cafeteria and
kindergarten rooms were built, and in 1978, a media center was added.
An administration suite, music, art and exceptional education rooms were
constructed in 1989. Starke Elementary currently serves approximately
480 students in grades pre-kindergarten through five.

SUGAR MILL ELEMENTARY SCHOOY,

Sugar Mill Elementary, home of the Panthers, is located in Port
Orange on 20 acres at the corner of McDonald and Charles Streets.

Dunlawton Plantation.
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The site was once part of the McDonald property (early Port Orange
settlers) and rumor has it that prior to the McDonald's occupancy it was a
Native American burial ground. Sugar Mill Elementary came into existence
in 1982, while the physical plant was under construction, the faculty and
staff were housed at both North and South Ridgewood Elementary Schools.
The primary classes were at South Ridgewood and intermediate classes
were at North Ridgewood. During the first year, a fire at North Ridgewood
in Mrs. Stump's room was the impetus to speed up the completion of the
new school. Sugar Mill Elementary opened its doors in August 1982.
Problems at the new facility included pigs in the open hallways, bats in
the ceiling and snakes everywhere, but Sugar Mill's administration, faculty
and students persevered. The student population of Sugar Mill Elementary
quickly grew to 1400. There were four classes to each grade level and
portables as far as the eye could see. Construction of Horizon Elementary
and, later, Sweetwater Elementary eased this overcrowding considerably.

The PTA (Parent Teachers Association) has contributed monies for
reading activities, a school nurse, classroom materials, incentives and
awards for students and, in 1996, contributed $20,000.00 toward the
construction of a pavilion that can be used as an outdoor classroom and
meeting area. Sugar Mill also has an award winning drill team that has
participated in local parades and other community functions. Presently,
Sugar Mill Elementary has 870 students in grades pre-kindergarten
through five.

Sugar Mill Elementary School

SUNRISE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Sunrise Elementary, home of the Dolphins, opened in September of
1992. The school had its dedication ceremony in October of the same
year. To accommodate the overcrowded conditions at Osteen Elementary,
half of the students were assigned to new Sunrise Elementary. The
school is located on Phonetia Drive in Deltona in a residential neighborhood
where 85% of the children live within walking distance of the school.

Sunrise began as a multitrack, year long school with 870 students.
Over the next four years, student enrollment increased to 1000. When
three new elementary schools opened in 1996, school boundaries were
rezoned and, ironically, some of the students who had been zoned for
Sunrise Elementary four years earlier returned to Osteen Elementary.
Since 1993, Sunrise has received the Golden School Award and was named
a Red Carpet School for the school year 1992-1993. Sunrise currently
serves approximately 880 students.

Sunrise Elementary School
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SWEETWATER ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Sweetwater Elementary School opened with 622 students in August
of 1994 and currently serves approximately 870 students. Sweetwater,
home of the Pelicans, is located on Victoria Gardens Boulevard in Port
Orange on 17.5 of the 160 acres of land originally settled by Cary Hildy in
1915. Sweetwater has received the Five Star Award from the Department
of Education for several years.

Sweetwater Elementary School

| am a learner.
When a child asks me a question, | get a kick out of saying,
"[ don’t know. Let’s find out."

B.J. Utech

T.DEWITT TAYLOR MIDDLE-HIGH
SCHOOL,
T. DEWITT TAYLOR JUNIOR SENIOR HIGH
SCHOOL

T. DeWitt Taylor Junior-Senior High School was formed when Pierson
High School and Seville High School merged. The new school was
first located in the old Pierson High School building and named for T.
DeWitt Taylor who served as principal of both schools during his long
career in education. In the middle of the school year 1961-1962, a new
facility was constructed on Washington Street on land donated by the
town of Pierson and the Swanson family. The new building accommodated
285 students. In 1966-1967, a four room, air conditioned annex was
completed. More additions were completed, including new administrative
offices, a media center, choral and band rooms, an art suite, agricultural
suites, an industrial arts lab, two science classrooms and a varsity locker
room. Improvements to the existing facility were also made. The cafeteria
was enlarged; the guidance suite and home economics area was remodeled;
and the seating area in the gymnasium was expanded. In 1981, a new
auditorium and three new classrooms were built and in 1986, a 440 yard
track and new athletic concession stand, an agriculture mechanics building
and more parking spaces were completed. A driver's education range, a

T. DeWitt Taylor Middle-High School
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softball-baseball complex, a warehouse receiving dock, a racquetball court
and a ten room complex designated for middle school classes were also
constructed in 1986.

In 1989 Taylor Junior-Senior High became Taylor Middle-Senior
High, the middle school comprising seventh and eighth grades. A weight
room was added in 1995-1996. Since the construction of the weight
room, Taylor has won two state championships for weight lifting. Currently,
there are approximately 770 students at Taylor Middle-High School. Taylor
Middle-High, home of the Wildcats, serves an area of 268 square miles
from Glenwood-DeLeon Springs (Highway 11) in the south to Seville and
the Putnam County line in the north.

The mediocre teacher tells.
The good teacher explains.

The superior teacher demonstrates.
The great teacher inspires.

William Arthur Ward

TIMBERCREST ELEMENTARY SCHOOI,

Timbercrest Elementary opened in January of 1991. Some students
and staff remained at Deltona Lakes Elementary until the school was
completely finished with the fifth grade class being the last to move to
the new school. Thirteen portables were brought to the Timbercrest
campus to accommodate all the students. Timbercrest Elementary, home
of the Critters, is located on Eustace Avenue in Deltona. The school
was established on an undeveloped tract of land and Timbercrest has a
professionally designed crest that uses the green and white school colors
with trees and an eagle to reflect its location on this undeveloped tract.
Timbercrest has received many awards since opening in 1991 such as
recognition as a Red Carpet School in 1992, the Futures Bowler Top Fund
Raiser Award in 1996 and 1997; the Golden School Award each year for its
outstanding number of volunteer hours, the Five Star Award from the
Florida Department of Education in 1998, and the School Recognition
Award in 1998. Timbercrest currently serves about 980 students.

Timbercrest Elementary School
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TOMOKA ELEMENTARY
TOMOKA SCHOOL

The first Tomoka School began in 1885 at the Tomoka Settlement which
was located on the Tomoka River about four miles west of the present day
Ormond Beach. The school was a 20-foot by 20-foot structure, one side of
a vacant building in an orange grove. The school was also used for
public meetings, dances and elections. The building had a fireplace and
was well lighted but scantily furnished. The seats were smooth, heavy
slabs, several feet in length with no backs. J.B. Case, originally from
New Jersey, was the school's first teacher. His students ranged in age
from five to eighteen years old and two of the girls were married. Case
found a table, a chair, and a supply of Webster's elementary spellers.
One of the teachers who succeeded Case (who went on to teach in Port
Orange) was A.O. Botts who later became Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools. The destructive freeze of 1894-1895 damaged the orange
groves in the Tomoka area, and the settlement was abandoned when the
settlers moved to Ormond Beach.

Volusia County School Board records indicate the existence of another
Tomoka School from 1911 to 1923. Teachers at the school during this
time were Olive Martin, Emma Coleman, Laura Baker and Crystal
McCollum. Old and New Tomoka were schools for African American
students. (See Chapter Two, Closed Schools)

The present Tomoka Elementary opened its doors to 240 students in
October of 1968, after being housed at the first Baptist Church of Ormond
Beach for six weeks. During this six-week period, there were 68 second
graders in one Sunday school class and the sixth grade was housed in
three separate small rooms with the teacher moving from room to room

Tomoka Elementary School

throughout the school day. The new building had eight classrooms, a
multi-purpose room, a temporary library and a temporary office suite.
During these early days several problems beset the new school. The
drinking water was found to be contaminated so the children had to
drink bottled water. There were also no textbooks; so the principal had
to pick up discarded books in his pickup truck from the school book
depository, then housed in DeLand. The discarded books were used
until the next year. In 1968, the integration of Tomoka Elementary made
the national TV news, showing the principal warmly greeting his new
African American students.

In the fall of 1970, a kindergarten was built and the library was
doubled in sized. In 1971, Tomoka's student population had increased
to 795, all of whom attended class in the original eight rooms and 18
portable classrooms. In May of 1972, an addition of 12 intermediate
classrooms was begun. By the fall of 1973, with an increased enrollment
of 973 students, the addition was completed and the school was fully
air conditioned. In 1976, a five-room kindergarten building, media
center, cafeteria, multipurpose room, guidance and administrative suites
and special area classrooms were built. In 1977, the building that
formerly held the media center, offices and kindergarten was remodeled
for classroom use. Alsoin 1977, Tomoka students completed a ceramic
tile mural commemorating the legend of Chief Tomokie, under the
direction of art teacher Joyce Phillips Bachman, that remains as a focal
point of the school cafeteria. By the end of 1979, Tomoka Elementary
had 1127 students with a staff of 55. The Tomoka Totem Pole in the
atrium of the administration building was also completed in that year,
under the direction of art teacher Dana Hoffman.

In 1981, Tomoka became a center for gifted education. In 1982,
Tomoka students were instrumental in drawing the attention of the
community to the necessity of preserving a Timucuan Mound (pre-
Columbian Native American) located in the area. Also in 1982, the
new Pine Trail Elementary was housed in portable classrooms on the
Tomoka campus, bringing the combined enrollment of both schools to
1400. Space was at a premium as both the cafeteria and media center
were used by both schools. When Pine Trail students moved to their
new facility, in the fall of 1983, Tomoka's student population was reduced
to 700. During the 1886-1987 school year, the primary classrooms were
carpeted for the first time; the cafeteria floor was tiled; additional
playground equipment was purchased; and covered walkways were
constructed from the kindergarten classrooms to the primary pod. In
1988, sixth graders at the school completed the statue of the
Metamorphosis Tree, under the direction of art teacher Marsha Bobbit.
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The statue was dedicated to W.L. Mullins, Tomoka's principal who had
just been honored as Volusia County Principal of the Year.

During the school year 1991-1992, Tomoka became an ESOL (English
Speakers of Other Languages) center. In this same year, the office
complex was expanded; an Indian mural was painted on the office wall;
and a stairway and entrance were added connecting the music and
multipurpose rooms. In 1993 Tomoka won the Little Red Schoolhouse
award. Between 1993 and 1996, several remodeling projects were
completed and a playground, funded by the PTA, was constructed near
the cafeteria. Tomoka won the Florida School Recognition Award for
sustained high performance and outstanding improvement for the school
year 1998-1999. The school was awarded the Florida Five Star School
Award for outstanding community and business partnerships in 1999-
2000.

Carl Persis, principal of Tomoka Elementary, was elected Mayor of
Ormond Beach on October 5, 1999. It is believed that he is the first to
serve as a city mayor and a school administrator concurrently in Volusia
County. George Marks, who later became Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools was mayor of Daytona in the early 1920s but was not in
school administration at the time of his mayoral service.

Tomoka Elementary, home of the Indian Braves, currently serves
approximately 950 students. An outdoor pavilion, funded by the PTA,
has recently been completed and the Florida Department of Education
awarded Tomoka Elementary the Florida School Recognition Award.

It is in fact a part of the function of education to help
us escape - not from our own time, for we are bound by
that - but from the intellectual and emotional limitations
of our own time.

T.S. Eliot

* denotes segregated school

TURIE T. SMALL ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,
SOUTH STREET ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
CAMPBELL ELEMENTARY SCHOOL*
DAYTONA COLORED SCHOOIL*

Turie T. Small, an outgrowth of the Daytona Colored School, was
begun in 1884 as a non-designated part of the Volusia County School
System. The school was then called Daytona Colored School and served
all of the African American elementary students in the Daytona Beach
area. The school had 200 primary school children.

Professor William D. Prince was appointed principal of the elementary
wing of the Daytona Colored School in 1928. He set up a primary
department under Susie H. Reddick. In 1934, an annex was constructed
to ease overcrowding. This annex provided a separate building for the
elementary children and was renamed Campbell Elementary.

In 1943, Turie T. Small was named principal of the newly constructed
South Street School located on the corner of South Street and Campbell
Street (now Martin Luther King Boulevard). This new school alleviated
overcrowding at the Campbell Elementary School. By 1953, the school
board rented cottages near the corner of South and Campbell Streets
from the Mount Bethel Baptist Church to accommodate the increasing
student population at South Street School. In 1954, a new South
Street Elementary was built on ten acres of land at 800 South Street.
South Street Elementary was renamed Turie T. Small Elementary in
1960 to honor Mrs. Small who had served as principal of the school for

Turie T. Small Elementary School
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many years and who spent more than 50 years in education serving
Daytona's black students. Mrs. Small was a very positive person, a good
listener, who truly cared for each and every one of the students in her
charge. She died eight years after her retirement at the age of 78. Some
alumni of Turie T. Small Elementary are Peromnia Grant, Title One Program
Specialist; Dot Williams, retired Title One Program Specialist; Matt
Krajewski, principal of the newly opened elementary school in DeLand;
Muriel “Mandy " White, Florida State Senator; and Walter McCoy, Olympic
Gold Medalist.

Currently, Turie T. Small, home of the Bulldogs, has approximately
450 students in grades pre-kindergarten through five.

A student’s success in school starts in the heads
and hearts of his or her parents and teachers.
The way we see them, the way they see themselves,
is what they become.

Linda Holt, 1995 Hawaii Teacher of the Year

sl ——r

VOLUSIA PINES ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

Volusia Pines Elementary School opened on August 19, 1996, having
reached substantial completion of construction just seven days earlier.
The construction of Volusia Pines represented the fulfillment of a long
standing promise by the Volusia County School District to the citizens
of Lake Helen and Cassadaga communities to build a school to replace
the 80 year old Minerva Bond Long-Lake Helen Elementary School.
Students from the Deltona area also attend Volusia Pines Elementary.
The school has had the unique opportunity to bring together the very
best of the traditional small school atmosphere with the advantages of a
state of the art facility. The school contains five ESE (Exceptional Student
Education) classrooms, including classes for the severely emotionally
disturbed. Volusia Pines, home of the Panthers, is a focal point for the
community and a singular source of pride. Volusia Pines Elementary School
serves approximately 490 students from kindergarten through grade five.

Volusia Pines Elementary School

Education is not the filling of a pail,
but the lighting of a fire.

William Butler Yeats
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WESTSIDE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL,

Westside Elementary, built on 14 acres of land at 1210 Jimmy Ann
Drive, opened in the fall of 1966. Westside was built as a community
school to meet the needs of the growing population on the west side of
Daytona Beach many of whom had moved into the area to work at the
General Electric Company. The first phase of construction cost $515,000
and had eight classrooms, an administrative suite and a library. The
new school pioneered the use of central air conditioning throughout an
entire school. Eight more classrooms, a cafeteria and new library were
built in 1968 costing $325,000. The old library was converted into the art
and musicrooms. In 1970, another ten classrooms and a new administrative
wing were built.

During its early years Westside Elementary hosted Halloween parties
that provided free and safe entertainment to all its students. The parties
featured spook houses, games and costume contests. Westside was one of
the first schools in Volusia County to have a RIF (Reading Is Fundamental
program). The school was the first to give out “Family Bucks" in its

Westside Elementary School

family center. “Family Bucks" is a program in which needy families earn
a variety of clothing, school supplies, etc. Westside was designated to
help develop and serve as a pilot school for Project Child. This program
featured an inter-class hands on center approach to instruction. Westside,
home of the Eagles, currently serves approximately 500 students in grades
pre-kindergarten through five.

WOODWARD AVENUE ELEMENTARY
SCHOOL

Woodward Avenue Elementary, located on Woodward Avenue in
DelLand, opened on October 6, 1966 with 232 students. Construction
problems delayed the school's opening, so Woodward Avenue's faculty
and students began classes at Dempsie Brewster Elementary and the
nearby First Methodist Church. The new school had eight classrooms
and 13 staff members. Units were added to the original structure in both
1969 and 1973. Kindergarten classes began at Woodward in 1967. By
1975, Woodward Avenue Elementary had 805 students.

Woodward Avenue Elementary School
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Woodward Avenue serves as a gifted center and has an ALPHA
Program that serves students with discipline problems who are considered
to be in danger of dropping out of school prior to graduation. Woodward
also has several ESE (Exceptional Student Education) units for varying
exceptionalities and severely emotionally disabled.

Woodward has won numerous awards over the years. Woodward
Elementary has been awarded the Golden Apple award for its volunteer
program since 1992. The school was recognized as a Meritorious School
in both 1987-1988 and 1989. In 1990 Woodward received the award as A
School of Distinction and was named a Red Carpet School. Woodward
Elementary was made a professional development school in partnership
with Stetson University in 1998. The school received the Qutstanding
Staff Development Award from the Florida Association for Staff
Development and a comprehensive school reform grant in 1999.
Woodward Avenue Elementary currently serves approximately 810
students in pre-kindergarten through grade five.

The art of . . . giving shape to human powers and
adapting them to social service is the supreme art,
one calling into its service the best of artists;
no insight, sympathy, tact, executive power
is too great for such service.

John Dewey

RE-USE OF SCHOOI ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

Over the past ten years, the district has developed prototype plans
for both an elementary and a middle school. These school plans were
developed in collaboration with the curriculum staff and school based
personnel to most effectively deliver Volusia County’'s educational
program. For example, the elementary school uses a classroom pod
arrangement with a shared teacher planning area in the center. Also,
Volusia County's elementary schools have both a music room and an
art room designed for those courses.

The development of prototypes has allowed the district to refine and
modify each time based on occupant comments and changes in codes
or identified efficiency and improvements. There are actually two plans
used for the elementary school, and each has been used five times. Re-
use of plans also saves time in design development, up to six months,
and design costs. In addition, as we use the same plan, we can better
support and manage the construction process.

The middle school prototype consists of houses for each grade level
designed to house three teams of 150 students each. There is a full sized
gym and a variety of unified arts classrooms to support the exploratory
nature of Volusia County's middle school curriculum

The middle school prototype has been constructed twice (Galaxy
Middle and Heritage Middle) and is now being used for construction of
new Middle “EE" in Port Orange. Each time a plan is used, it is adapted
for site conditions, and minor changes and refinements are made that
continually improve the school. Instructional personnel played the
lead role in developing the original plans and continue to advise of any
changes that improve the delivery model, for example, installing
computer ports at the front of the classroom to allow teachers to use
technology in their presentations day to day.

Lastly, the district has also re-used construction plans developed in
another district. The selection team visited several schools around the
state and selected one that best matched Volusia County's curriculum
and high school philosophy. This plan was used for Atlantic High School
and, subsequently, for Pine Ridge. Re-use of plans allows the board to
react to population changes quickly and saves at least a year in design
development.
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The following seven pages contain maps of the current Volusia County
Public Schools. The first page is a map of the entire Volusia County. On
this map six close-up maps are designated by numbered boxes and
follow in numerical order.
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Volusia County Schools has three adjunct classrooms that annually
provide thousands of students with scientific and interdisciplinary learning
experiences. These classrooms are the nationally recognized Bicentennial
Youth Park, which is the county's nature study center; the Planetarium,
housed in the Daytona Beach Museum of Arts and Sciences; and the
Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts in Barberville, where students
can learn pioneer and folk arts and crafts, and study life as it was at the
turn of the 20th century in Volusia County, Florida.
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BICENTENNIAL YOUTH PARK

The Bicentennial Youth Park was established in 1976 by an agreement
made between the Bureau of State Lands, Division of Resource
Management and the Volusia County School Board. Prior to this agreement
students on the Youth Bicentennial Committee, representing over 35,000
public and private school students in Volusia County, had worked for two
years to raise $67,000 to begin the park. Many adult citizens of Volusia
County also assisted in the park’s development, notably the late Josephine
Davidson of the Daytona Beach News Journal. Science Supervisor at the
time, Lee Britton, and Paul Bishop, the first park manager, labored tirelessly
to make the park's transition as an integral part of the Volusia County
School System a smooth one. The Bicentennial Youth Park was the only
one of its kind in Florida, and Volusia County Schools received a $10,000
grant from the state to help defray start up costs and operating expenses.

The only access to the 400-acre park is from Route 44, a road that
extends from New Smyrna Beach to DeLand. The new Bicentennial Youth
Park was composed of alternate mixed portions of pine flatwoods and

This wooden walkway leads to the indoor classroom and display area
of the Bicentinnial Youth Park in DeLand.

cypress swamp. A canal borders the western boundary of the park and
runs for several miles to the north through two borrow pit lakes. The land
was flat with abundant slash pine, cypress, holly, bay, and palmetto trees.
It also included many unique Iﬂlants and three species of insectivorous
plants.

The Bicentennial Youth Park has been operated as an adjunct outdoor
classroom by the Volusia County School Board since its inception. The
Science Specialist for Volusia County Schools oversees its operation. The
park plays a vital part in enhancing environmental education in Volusia
County Schools. Existing facilities at the Bicentennial Youth Park include
picnic shelters, boardwalks, an observation tower, an office building, an
interpretive building (including classrooms), teaching stations, nature
trails, an arboretum and a workshop. The parkis open five days perweek
from approximately 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. It serves all grade levels from
kindergarten through twelve and also hosts visitors from other school
systems besides Volusia.

The park offers a variety of programs for students of all ages. Programs
include Observing and Adventuring that focuses on environmental issues,
animals, plants and energy cycle and flow. Living Things In A Changing
World is a program that emphasizes engaging and extending vocabulary,
exploring higher order thinking skills, developing environmental concerns
and applying observation techniques. The Eco-Explorer program makes
students aware of environmental problems, life sciences and their role in
understanding and protecting unique ecosystems.

THE PLANETARIUM AT THE MUSEUM OF
ARTS AND SCIENCES - DAYTONA BEACH

The Planetarium at the Museum of Arts and Sciences was established
through the combined efforts of the Junior League, the Museum of Arts
and Sciences and the Volusia County School District. A variety of
fundraisers, including nameplates on the Planetarium's seats and entry
wall recognizing donators, helped to build and equip the planetarium.
The building that houses the Planetarium is owned by the Museum of
Arts and Sciences but the teacher in charge of the Planetarium is an
employee of the Volusia County School's Science Department. The teacher
holds the title of Curator of Astronomy at the Museum and in this capacity
is responsible for public shows also. Robert Hillenbrand was one off the
first Volusia County science, resource teachers at the Planetarium.

The first projector, an instrument that showed the night sky in its various
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stages throughout the year, was purchased in the 1970s. A revamped and
more modern projector replaced the first projector circa 1987.

Mr. Roger Hoefer, who is the current teacher at the Planetarium, plans
lessons to supplement the K-12 science curriculum. He has developed
primary lessons that are adapted to grade levels K through 2.

His intermediate lessons are grade specific. He supplements the
third grade unit on oceans by looking at oceans from space. He also
compares Earth, a planet that has oceans, with planets that do not have
water - showing the necessity of water to sustain life. His fourth grade
unit focuses on how Earth's motions create days, seasons and years. The
fifth grade has two programs; one that explores the Milky Way Galaxy
and the "life cycle” of stars, and the other that is devoted to the planets of
the solar system. Middle and high school programs are customized to
meet the needs of the various science courses i.e. Earth Science and
Astronomy. All programs are continually revised based on daily
information from NASA (National Aeronautical and Space Administration).
Computer technology has facilitated the Planetarium's ability to become
"wired to the world.” Using a large format video projector, a laser disk
and a satellite receiver, a variety of displays from the internet can be
flashed on the large domed ceiling of the Planetarium. The services of
this adjunct classroom play a vital role in the science curriculum of Volusia
County Schools.

The planetarium projector is at the heart of the programs that-teach
children and adults alike about the night sky.

PIONEER SETTLEMENT FOR THE
CREATIVE ARTS

The Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts is a non-profit organization
for the purpose of collecting, preserving and sharing the knowledge of
the arts and the lifestyles of the Florida pioneers who settled the area.
The Settlement was formed in 1975 on the site of the former Barberville
School by a group of Volusia County teachers headed by Lura Dell Bell.
The Volusia County School Board agreed to lease the old school and ten
acres of land for 25 years beginning in 1976. In 1984, Lura Bell was
assigned by Volusia County Schools to be a full-time program director at
the settlement. She died the following year. Marilyn Breeze was then
assigned as the program director and has served in this capacity ever
since. In this role, Breeze is a member of the Social Studies Office of the
Curriculum Division at EDC. Programs at the Settlement are designed to
implement and enhance curriculum in Volusia County schools: the study
of pre-Columbian and Seminole Indian tribes, Florida and United States
history, customs and folkways. Over the years the focus of the Settlement

S — B, - ‘
The Country Store, now the gift shop, was the commissary store for the
turpentine operation in the community of Bakersburg (north of Pierson).
It was operated by H.L. Wynn, who also owned the still and Iumber
operation. The store was moved to the Settlement in 1984.
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has changed slightly with more of an emphasis on the historic aspects
rather than on art programs. Attendance has grown from 8,000 students
and visitors in 1985 to 25,000 in the year 2000. The Pioneer Settlement
for the Creative Arts has many special events including an annual country
jamboree, concerts, classes and specialty festivals. The original ten acres
has expanded to 25 acres and the Settlement has been instrumental in
saving historically significant buildings that have been brought to the
site. These buildings allow students and other visitors to get an authentic
glimpse of bygone days.

The former Barberville Central High School was built in 1919. John
Jerico, who graduated from Barberville High School, volunteers at the
Settlement today. After it was closed as a school, the building was used
as storage and a Head Start facility. Many of the rooms in the building

Midway Methodist Church (Barberville was formerly called Midway)
was built near Barberville in 1890. The building was moved, in tact, to
the Settlement in 1994. Harold Hess, the Settlement woodworker, crafted
the furniture for the church in the Settlement shops.

* denotes segregated school

are now visited by students who get to see a variety of demonstrations in
pioneer folkways. The Central High School is now on the National
Register of Historic Places.

The Pierson Railroad Depot, builtin 1885, was moved to the Settlement
in 1982.

The Bridge House was the residence for the bridge tender at the old
Volusia-Astor Bridge, which spans the St. Johns River extending Route
40 west into Lake County. When the Bridge House was no longer used, it
was moved to the west side of the river to the parking lot of the Blackwater
Inn. From there, it was moved further west to the community of Astor and
finally came to the Settlement in 1983. The house is used for administrative
offices. The plaque from the old bridge is mounted under the canopy in
front of the house.

The Barn is a post and beam structure built at the Settlement with help
from the Eckerd Youth Camps. The frame was put up at an “old fashioned
barn raising” in May of 1986. ,

The Blacksmith Shop was also built at the Settlement. It was constructed
with help by the Florida Artist Blacksmith Association (FABA).

= ;
l hd
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The School Bell that clangs to signal the change of classes (or stations)
at the Settlement is the same bell that rang at Euclid High School* and
Southwestern High School* (prior to integration) when the football team
scored a touchdown. It is not known when this historic bell was moved fo
the Settlement.
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The Tomoka Consolidated Turpentine Still was erected in the 1920's
near Daytona Beach. Operations ceased in the 1940’s and it was moved
to the Settlement in 1988. This structure is the only historical turpentine
still in Florida open to the public.

The Firehouse is the old Guenther Blacksmith Shop located in DeLand.
It was built circa 1900 and brought to the Settlement in 1987.

The Lewis Log Cabin was built by James Lewis near Willacoochee,
Georgia in 1875. J.U. Lee and Jonathan Gerber disassembled the cabin,
numbering each piece, and reassembled the structure at the Setttlement
in May of 1992.

The Woolwright Shop was built at the Settlement in 1992.

The Huntington Post Office was built circa 1885 in the small community
of Huntington in Putman County near Crescent City. It was moved to the
Settlement in 1896.

The Quarters House was built at 308 Myrtle Street in New Smyrna
Beach in the 1920s. It was disassembled and moved to the Settlement in
April of 1997. Restorations to the interior by Luella Ross are patterned on
a turpentine quarter house she lived in as a child.

The Pastime is an excursion boat that was built in 1910 by a Mr.
Sanchez in St. Augustine. For years the boat cruised the St. Johns River
and even served as a water school bus in the Palatka area. Members of
the Ferran family captained the boat for nearly 60 years of the boat's

existence using it both for personal recreation and tourist excursions on
the Saint John's and Lake Eustis. The Ferrans donated the boat to the
Settlement not only for the boat's historical significance but to benefit the
many students who would get a glimpse of life on the St. Johns in a
bygone era. The Pastime arrived at the Settlement August 18, 1999.

The Wheelwright Shop/Wagon Shed was built in the style of an old
mule barn. The structure was completed on December 22, 1999. It serves
as a protective shed for the Settlement's many wagons and wheeled
vehicles. The first bay of the pole barn style structure will be enclosed
and will function as a wheelwright's working shop.

The “Chickee" was completed in the Indian Village on January 13,
2000. It was constructed primarily of cypress poles and 2500 cabbage

palm fronds. Students will be able to experience working in a Seminole
chickee when participating in the Florida Field Studies Trip.

From observation and speculation this structure was probably a
portable jail for prisoners on a chain gang. They worked on the roads
during the day and slept in this jail at night.
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CHAPTER 4

The History of the Volusia County
Public School Superintendents from
1855 to 2000
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JAMES H. CHANDLER
1855-1862
1876

The Reverend James H. Chandler was born in North Carolina and
came to Volusia County in 1854. He settled near Lake Helen. Chandler
became the first probate judge of Volusia County, serving from 1855 to
1862, 1880 and 1888. During his first term as a probate judge, Chandler
also served as ex-officio Superintendent of Volusia County Schools. Judge
Chandler was the Volusia County Treasurer for 1855, 1862, 1870 and 1876.
He was the only representative from Volusia County to sign the Articles of
Secession in 1861. Chandler was appointed by the Governor of Florida
as Superintendent of Volusia County Schools for a second time in 1876.
Early records indicate he served for less than a year in this post. James
H. Chandler died on April 10, 1888 at the age of 76. He is buried in
Bethel Cemetery, north of DeLand.

DR. JOHN MILTON HAWKS
1868-1869

Dr. John Milton Hawks was born
November 26, 1826. He graduated from
Eclectic Medical College in Cincinnati,
Ohio in 1847 and from Vermont
Medical College in 1848. Prior to the
Civil War Dr. Hawks and his wife, Dr.
Esther Hawks, spent time in Florida
and both were concerned about the
plight of black slaves. During the Civil
War he rose to the rank of major in the
Union Army. He returned to Florida
after the Civil War and tried to establish
a sawmill and colony for emancipated
black slaves in what is now Port
Orange. The area was called
Freemanville. Hawks established a school but it was only open for a term.
In 1868, he was appointed Volusia County's first post Civil War school

superintendent. David Shelby Walker, Governor of Florida named him to
this post. In 1871 Dr. Hawks established the Hawks Park Association.
The association began the community of Hawks Park (known today as
Edgewater) south of New Smyrna Beach. Dr. John Milton Hawks died on
April 2, 1910.

WILLIAM F. BUCKNOR
1869-1970

CHAMP H. SPENSER
1870-1872

C.G. SELLECK
1874-1875

GEORGE J. ALDEN
1876
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JOHN B. PARKINSON
1897-1900
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Colonel John B. Parkinson was born in Charlestown, Ohio on June
10, 1965. Parkinson came to Florida in 1883. He was Superintendent of
Schools for Volusia County from 1897 to 1900 when he was defeated for
reelection by Bert Fish. Parkinson was a Lieutenant Colonel of the

Second Regiment of the Florida State Troops. He was also a practicing
attorney in partnership with EW. Pope, Jr. At the time of his death, John
B. Parkinson was a representative from Volusia County in the Florida
State Legislature.
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BERT FISH
1900-1906

Bert Fish was born in Bedford,
Indiana on October 8, 1875. His family
moved to Florida in 1881 and settled
at Spring Garden near DeLeon
Springs. Fish was educated in Volusia
County Schools. He graduated from
Stetson in 1896 and also received a
Bachelor of Law degree from Stetson
in 1902. This institution conferred an
honorary Doctor of Law degree on Fish
in 1935. After finishing his first degree
from Stetson, Fish became principal
of DeLand High School. He was then
elected reading secretary of the Florida
State Senate. In 1900, he was elected
Superintendent of Volusia County
Schools defeating incumbent Superintendent John B. Parkinson. Fish was
reelected in 1904 but resigned from this post in 1906, during the middle
of his second term.

Fish was appointed County Solicitor for the Criminal Court of Record
and later was appointed to a judgeship on the Criminal Court of Records.
He served as judge of the Criminal Court until that court was abolished
by the state legislature in 1933. Fish was a law partner of Cary D. Landis
and later a partner of D.C. Hull. He retired from active law practice in
1926. Franklin D. Roosevelt named Bert Fish as Ambassador to Egypt in
1933. He also served as Ambassador to Saudi Arabia and at the time of his
death, July 23, 1943, was Ambassador to Portugal. Besides serving in
both elected and appointed governmental posts at the local, state and
national levels, Bert Fish was active in community organizations. He was
a member of the Kiwanis, the Odd Fellows, the Knights of Pythias, the
Elks, the Masons, the Shriners, and the Sigma Nu and Phi Alpha Delta
fraternities.

A.O.BOTTS
1906-1912

Sunte

A.O. Botts came to Volusia County
with his family from Illinois circa 1875.
The Botts family first settled in Eldridge
(the Pierson area) near Botts' Lake in
the northwest section of the county. Bott
taught school in the Pierson area and
also Tomoka Settlement. He boarded
in Tomoka during the week and walked
home to Eldridge each weekend. Botts
later moved to DeLand and became
principal of DeLand High School. He
became Superintendent of schools in
1906, succeeding Bert Fish. He was
elected Superintendent in 1908, out
poiling Professor Orth who taught school in Barberville. The Volusia County
Record said that Bott was “an unflinching, efficient, trustworthy official”
and was "regarded as one of the most competent authorities on county
educational school matters in the state.” A.O Botts held the post of
Superintendent until 1912. Botts was a deacon at the First Church of
Christ.

Learning without thought
is labor lost;
thought without learning
is perilous.

Confucius
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C. R. M. SHEPPARD
1912-1923

C.R.M. Sheppard was born (circa) 1885 in Old Town, Florida. He
was a graduate of Florida State Normal School at DeFuniak Springs.
Sheppard served Volusia County Schools in a variety of capacities. He
was a principal of Daytona Beach High School (now Mainland). He
was first elected superintendent of Volusia County Schools in 1912 and
was re-elected to two more terms. He resigned as superintendent during
his fourth term. During his tenure as an educator, Sheppard served as
president of the Florida Educational Association for one term. He
belonged to the B.PO. E. (Elks) and the Knights of Pythias. At the time
of his death in 1935, at the age of 50, C.R.M. Sheppard was district
manager for the American National Insurance Company.

GEORGE WASHINGTON MARKS
| 1923-1957

George W. Marks was born in Knoxville, Illinois on January 29, 1889.
He received his early education in the
public schools in Lawrence, Kansas
and received a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Kansas. He came
to Florida in 1914 from Kansas to
become principal of Daytona Beach
High School (now Mainland). Marks
not only fulfilled his duties as principal
but also taught full time at the high
school and coached the basketball team.
He later commented that he only had
eight boys on the basketball team but
they "beat everybody.” Two years later,
in 1916, Marks was promoted to the
position of supervising principal for
New Smyrna Beach. His educational
career was interrupted during World War I because of military service in
the United States Navy. When he returned from military service, Marks
became manager of the Bond-Howell Lumber Company. He was also
mayor of Daytona in 1922 when Daytona, Daytona Beach and Seabreeze
were consolidated to form one city. Marks returned to education, accepting
a post as supervising principal of public schools in DeLand .

The following year, 1923, Marks was appointed by Governor Cary
Hardee to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of C.R. M. Sheppard,
Superintendent of Public Instruction. He served as superintendent of
Volusia County Schools until his retirement in 1956. Upon his retirement
Marks reflected that his first budget for operating (1923) the Volusia County
School System was less than $250,000. The budget had steadily increased
to $6,500,000 by 1956 indicating the expansion of the Volusia County
School System under his leadership. Marks was recognized statewide as
an able administrator who was able to run an effective school system with
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limited funds. His fiscal management put the Volusia County Schools on
sound financial footing. Marks was also known for his ability to get along
with people from all walks oflife and for his comprehensive understanding
of the dynamics of running a school system. As recognition of his long
time service to Volusia County Schools, George Marks was honored when
anew elementary school built in 1955 in Del.and was named in his honor,
George W. Marks Elementary School.

George Marks was active in educational and community organizations.
In 1929, he served as president of the Florida Education Association. Mr.
Marks was also a president of the Florida County Superintendents
Association. George Marks was a founder, president and chairman of the
board of the DeLand Federal Savings and Loan Association. He was a
charter member of the Daytona Beach Rotary Club and served as president
of the DelLand Rotary Club. Marks was a chairman of the county YMCA
and a member of the B.PO.E (Elks). He was also a senior warden at St.
Barnabas Episcopal Church.

George Washington Marks died on December 13, 1964 in Palatka at
the Putnam Memorial Hospital four days after being injured in an
automobile accident in Crescent City. His wife died immediately at the
scene of the same accident.

Every September is like Christmas, and
every student, a surprise gift to open.

Mary Bicouvaris, 1969 United States Teacher of the Year

JOHN H. SMILEY
1957-1969

S Secretary

John H. Smiley was born on September 22, 1912 in Crescent City,
Putnam County, Florida. He attended
elementary school in Crescent City. At
the beginning of the school year 1925-
1926, Smiley entered junior high
school in Pierson, Volusia County,
Florida. He graduated in 1930, a
member of the second graduating class,
from Pierson High School. Smiley then
attended the University of Florida for
a year and next transferred to
Oglethorpe University for his
sophomore year. He spent his junior
and senior years at the University of
Tampa, where he had followed a
favorite professor from Oglethorpe. During his senior year in college, he
served as student body president. He promised if elected to have a walk
built on campus. Following his election, the WPA (Work Progress
Administration) built the walk, which is known as “Smiley's Walk."

After college, John Smiley returned home to Pierson and became a
partner in the Austin Smiley Department Store. During WWII, he
received a naval commission and served as a gunnery lieutenant on
Liberty ships during the invasion of France from the Mediterranean.
When Smiley returned home, in 1945, he was appointed as a trustee of
the local Pierson school board. He was elected mayor of Pierson and
later to a seat on the Volusia County School Board. He eventually served
as chairman of the school board. In his capacity as school board chairman,
Smiley had a close working relationship with George Marks,
superintendent of schools at the time. This association influenced John
Smiley to run for superintendent of Volusia County Schools when Mr.
Marks retired. Smiley was already known on the west side of Volusia
County and campaigned vigorously on the east side so that the beach
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side residents would get to know him. Smiley's efforts were rewarded
and he was elected three times as superintendent of Volusia County
Schools from 1957 until his retirement in 1969. After his years as
superintendent, Smiley became Dean of Instructional Services at
Daytona Beach Community College formerly known as Mary Karl
School. :

During his tenure as superintendent, Smiley received a Master's
Degree in Education from Stetson. He did further graduate work at the
University of Colorado at Boulder and Columbia University in New York
City.

John Smiley saw many changes while at the helm of Volusia County
Schools. He spearheaded a drive for new school construction, the first
in 25 years. He also fought for bond issues and increased teacher pay
and benefits. Always a booster of education, Smiley was quoted as
saying “If it weren't for the teachers where would other professions be?"
John Smiley said his greatest challenge was the “great teacher walk
out” of 1968. '

After leaving the world of education, John Smiley turned his attention
once again to his beloved town of Pierson. He sat on the town council, led
a drive for the construction of a water works, and helped establish the
bank of Pierson. He is an active member of the Pierson United Methodist
Church.

Won't it be wonderful when children learn
that they can ask questions without fear?

Jimmie E. Cook

RAYMOND G. DUNNE
1969-1974
1980-1983

‘Secretary

Raymond G. Dunne was born in Philadelphia in 1926. He served in
the Army during World War II. In
1949 he came to Volusia County
as a catcher with a 30-day option
to play baseball for the DeLand
Red Hats. While playing for the
Red Hats, he enrolled at Stetson
University. Dunne earned a
bachelors degree in 1953,
followed by a masters degree in
1957. He began his teaching
career at Mainland High School
in 1953 where he also coached
baseball. In 1957, Dunne was
made principal of Osceola
Elementary School. He was
appointed junior high school
supervisor in 1961.

Raymond Dunne was elected
Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools in September, 1968. Earlier the same year the teacher
walkout had occurred, causing deep divisions within the school system.
Dunne immediately began to promote what he described as a “healing
atmosphere” to overcome the lingering effects of the strike. His next
challenge was the desegregation lawsuit brought against the Volusia
County Schools. The suit was resolved in July, 1970 when a federal judge
ruled that Volusia County had a "unitary” school system where no schools
were designated either black or white. During Dunne's tenure as
Superintendent from 1969 to 1974, the school board held its first meeting
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away from the county office at Mainland High School. This practice has
continued with all Volusia schools hosting school board meetings from
time to time. In 1972, Dunne became the first appointed Superintendent
of Volusia County Schools. The district no longer elected its
superintendent, discontinuing a practice that had begun in 1884. A
$10,000,000 bond issue for school construction was also passed in 1972,
and in that same year Mr. Dunne approved a staffing formula that provided
for a least part time art, music and physical education teachers, as well as
school librarians (now called media specialists).

In 1974, Dunne resigned his post as Superintendent after having
suffered a massive heart attack. He accepted a post as Director of
Planning and Evaluation. In 1977, the newly constructed gymnasium
at Spruce Creek High School was named in honor of Raymond G. Dunne.
Dunne became a deputy superintendent of Volusia County Schools in
1978 and resumed the Superintendent's post again in 1980 when Dr.
Donald Gill accepted another position. In 1980, Dunne received the
Commissioner of Education Turlington -Award for outstanding support
of school volunteer programs. Under his direction the Administrative
Intern and the Beginning Teacher Programs were established. Raymond
Dunne retired on October 1, 1983. After retirement, he served as a part
time legislative liaison to the Florida state legislature in Tallahassee.

Throughout his career, Dunne served his profession and Volusia
County in many ways. In 1963-64, he was president of Administrators
and Supervisors of the Volusia County Education Association. In 1965-
66, he was president of the Volusia County Education Association (white
teachers) and led the merger with the Volusia County Teachers Association
(black teachers). He became president of the Volusia Educators Association
in 1966. In 1982, Dunne served as secretary of the Florida Association of
District School Superintendents. He was voted president-elect of the same
organization in 1983 and was elected president the next year, 1984. Among
his many awards were the Distinguished Alumni Award from Stetson
University, the Human Relations Award from the Volusia Educators
Association and Distinguished Service Awards from the Department of
Administrators and Supervisors and Bethune Cookman College.

Mr. Dunne died in 1991. Hearing of his death, John Smiley, former
Superintendent of Volusia County Schools said of Dunne that "his every
thought was always for the youngsters.”

“He was a role model for harmony in the schools,” stated Dr. Ed
Smotherman, former school board member. Smotherman also noted
that “Dunne had a particlular knack for understanding the complexities
of school finance."”

DR. DONALD G. GILL
1974-1980

Secretary

Dr. Donald G. Gill became Volusia County's fourth superintendent in
51 years. He held a Bachelor of Arts
Degree from Illinois College and a
Masters and Doctor of Education
Degrees for the University of Illinois.
Prior to coming to Volusia County, Dr.
Gill was the principal of a laboratory
school and professor of educational
administration at Eastern Illinois
University. In 1974, at the age of 46,
Dr. Gill replaced Raymond G. Dunne
as Superintendent of Volusia County
School. Dunne stepped down from the
post of superintendent due to a
massive heart attack. Dr. Gillremained
as the top administrator of Volusia
County School until 1980. He viewed
his major accomplishments as Volusia
County's Superintendent as the maintenance of a good working
relationship among the school board, administrators, teachers, service
personnel; the establishment of an excellent financial accountability system;
the beginning of the Teacher Education Center and the Primary Education
Program; and the expansion of exceptional student education. His biggest
disappointment was not being able to keep up with building new schools
and renovating and/or expanding existing schools. Dr. Gill returned to
Illinois in 1980 to become Chief State School Officer for the state of Illinois.
In 1984, Dr. Gill came back to Florida where he became chairman of Stetson
University's Education Department.

*Please note that between Dr. Gill's leaving in 1980 and Mr. Pickhardt's
interim Superintendency in 1983, Mr. Dunne served his second term as
Superintendent from 1981 to 1982.
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WILLIAM L. PICKHARDT JR.
INTERIM SUPERINTENDENT
1983

Secretary

William L. (Bill) Pickhardt Jr. was born in Chester, Virginia on

12X
Vs

February 25, 1924. He graduated
from Chester High School and served
inthe US Navy from 1943 to 1947. Mr.
Pickhardt attended Sydney-Hampton
College in Sydney-Hampton,
Virginia, a liberal arts college and
then began teaching at Oceana High
School. Mr. Pickhardt moved to New
Smyrna Beach in 1957 after accepting
a position to teach math at the Live
Oak School (later New Smyrna Beach
High) offered to him by Principal Bill
Cowan. Atthe time, Live Oak served
grades seven through twelve. Mr.
Pickhardt then taught chemistry and physics after an opening in the science
department became available. When the high school moved to its new
location on New Smyrna Beach's North Causeway, Mr. Pickhardt became
dean of students as well as continuing with his teaching duties. It was at
that time that Mr. Pickhardt was awarded a masters degree from Alabama
College in Montevallo, Alabama. After receiving his masters degree, Mr.
Pickhardt was made assistant principal at Deltona Junior High School, a
70 mile round trip commute from New Smyrna Beach. After serving in
Deltona, Mr. Pickhardt was then chosen by Ray Fields, principal of New
Smyrna Beach Junior High, to be assistant principal at that school. When
Mr. Fields retired, William Pickhardt became principal of New Smyrna
Beach Junior High. Mr. William (Bill) Hall, now Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools, took Pickhardt's position as assistant principal. Bill
Hall had been a student of Pickhardt's in high school and Pickhardt
continued to be a mentor and friend to Mr. Hall as he assumed his first

administrative position. In 1971, Pickhardt was made principal of New
Smyrna Beach High and remained in this position for eight years. In
1979, Pickhardt was elevated to area superintendent. When
Superintendent of Volusia County Schools, Ray Dunne, suffered a severe
heart attack, William Pickhardt took over his responsibilities in the role of
interim superintendent of schools. When Mr. Dunne was able to resume
his duties, Pickhardtassumed the duty of chief negotiator for the school
board. In this role he was responsible for negotiating contracts with the
various unions to which the teachers and support personnel belonged. At
the time of his death in 1989, William Pickhardt was deputy superintendent
to Dr. James Surratt, Superintendent of Volusia County Schools.

Invest in a human soul.
Who knows?

[t might be a diamond
in the rough.

Mary McCleod Bethune
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DR. JAMES (JIM) SURRATT
1984-1991

Al

f Secretary’/

Dr. Jim Surratt was born April 29, 1943. He received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in history, economics and
political science from High Point
University in 1965. In 1968, Surratt
was awarded a Masters Degree of
Education in Educational
Administration and History from the
University of North Carolina at
Greensboro. He earned a Doctor of
Education Degree in Administration
and Supervision from Duke
University in 1974,

Dr. Surratt began his career in -
education in Guilford County Schools, Greensboro, North Carolina. He
held a variety of posts including teacher, co-principal, assistant principal,
project director and assistant superintendent in that school district from
1965 to 1975. In 1975, Surratt became superintendent of Goldsboro
City Schools in North Carolina. Two years later, in 1977, he was named
to the same post in the Burlington City Schools, also in North Carolina.
Dr. Surratt took over the helm of Volusia County Schools in 1984 and
remained in this Florida school district until 1991. He moved to Texas,
after serving seven years in Volusia County, where he served as
superintendent of the Plano Independent School District. Presently,
Dr. Surratt is superintendent of Wake County Public Schools in Raleigh,
North Carolina.

Dr. Surratt holds an Advanced Superintendent’s Certificate and an
Advanced Principal's Certificate. He was named Florida Superintendent
of the Year and Phi Delta Kappa Educator of the Year for the East Central
Florida Chapter.

JACK F. SCHOEP
INTEREM SUPERINTENDENT
1991

oA 7%

Secreta

Jack E Schoep was a native of Madison Wisconsin. He came to Volusia
County as a student at Stetson University where he received both a
Bachelors and Masters Degree. Mr.
Shoep entered the business world
before turning to a career in education.
He began teaching at the Volusia
Avenue School in 1965. He was
principal of South Daytona Elementary
for 10 years before moving to the district
office where he supervised the
personnel budget. From 1985 to 1987
Jack Schoep served as area director of
schools on the west side of Volusia
County. He then was made Assistant
Superintendent for Finance, a post he
held until his retirement in 1993. Mr.
Schoep became interim superintendent
of schools of Volusia County Schools
for a short time between the terms of
Dr. Jim Surratt and Dr. Joan Kowal.
Shoep put retirement aside again for a short time during 1998 to serve
Volusia County Schools resuming his former post as Assistant
Superintendent for Finance until the post could be filled permanently.
Shoep was an army veteran of the Korean War and a member of the
DeLland Elks Lodge 1463. Jack Shoep died in 1999 at the age of 64.
Upon hearing of his death, Volusia School Superintendent William (Bill)
Hall said “we've lost a great friend, a tremendous colleague, and a person
who had the ability to keep us all laughing and working at the same
time."”
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DR. JOAN P. KOWAL
1991-1996

Secretary.

Dr. Joan Kowal was the first woman to lead the Volusia County School
System. Dr. Kowal has had a variety of educational experiences. She was
awarded a Bachelor of Arts degree from
Marquette University in 1969; a
Masters of Science in Education from
Indiana University in 1974; and a
Doctorate in Education, magna cum
laude, from Indiana University in 1986.
Dr. Kowal began her career in
education in 1969 in the Community
School Corporation in South Bend,
Indiana. Dr. Kowal served in a variety
posts in the South Bend school system
including science/health teacher,
science teacher, head teacher for
science and journalism, staff
development specialist, director of
professional development and assistant
superintendent of elementary and
middle school education. While in the
South Bend area Dr. Kowal also taught at Indiana University as an adjunct
professor.

Dr. Kowal left the South Bend school system in 1985 to become
Assistant Superintendent for elementary education for the Denver Public
Schools in Denver, Colorado. From Denver, Dr. Kowal became
Superintendent of the Ferguson-Florissant R-2 School District from 1989
to 1991. She was then hired to lead Volusia County Schools in 1991
and remained in this position until 1996. Dr. Kowal then became
superintendent of Palm Beach County Schools, a post she held until 1999.

Dr. Kowal has received recognition for her contributions to education
from many organizations. These include the Florida Superintendent of
the Year Award, the Phi Delta Kappa Educator of the Year Award and
the Graduate, Class XII, Leadership Florida in 1994. She also received

the Florida Music Educators Association Superintendent of the Year Award
and the Volusia Council of Governments Gary Greeson Exemplary
Achievement Award.

Dr. Joan Kowal, while at the helm of Volusia County Schools,
improved links with FUTURES and other business partners of Volusia
County Schools.

WILLIAM E. HALL
1996 -

Mm@ Hroll

Mr. William E. (Bill) Hall is a product of the Volusia County Schools
where both his mother and father were educators for many years. Mr.
Hall graduated from the University of Florida in 1967 with a Bachelor of
Arts in Education and certification in
social studies. He received a Master
of Arts in Education from Stetson
University in 1971 with certification in
Administration and Supervision. In
1977, Hall also received an Educational
Specialist in Administration and
Supervision from Stetson University.

Bill Hall has spent his entire
professional career serving the
students and teachers of Volusia
County. He began his career as a
teacher at Seabreeze High School in
1968. After leaving Seabreeze, he
taught both at New Smyrmna Junior and
Senior High Schools until 1971. In
1971, Hall was appointed assistant
principal at New Smyrna Junior High
School and remained in that position
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until 1979. From 1979 to 1983, he served as principal of New Smyrna
Beach High School, his high school alma mater. Hall became Director of
Secondary Education for Volusia County Schools in July of 1983. In 1985,
Bill Hall was named Area Director for all schools in the northeast section
of Volusia County. Hall was elevated to the position of Assistant
Superintendent for Curriculum and Instruction in 1987 and in 1991 became
an Area Superintendent for central and southeast Volusia County Schools.
In 1995, Hall returned to site based administration for a short time, serving
as principal of George Marks Elementary. He remained in this position
for only a few months, when in March 1996 he was made interim
Superintendent of Schools after the
resignation of Dr. Joan Kowal. His
position as Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools became permanent in
July of the same year.

Hall is affiliated with several
professional organizations. These
include the Association of Supervisors (! ? - 3
of Curriculum Development (ASCD); .
the Florida Association of District
School Superintendents; the Florida o
Association of School Administrators
(FASA); and Phi Delta Kappa (PDK),
an organization in which he has served
as a past president and past vice
president for membership. Hall was

- -

also named Educator of the Year by that
organization. Bill Hall is also a life
time member of the PTA (Parent
Teachers Association).

Bill Hall has been active in
community and civic organizations. He
is currently a member of the Rotary
Club in Daytona Beach and has served
as treasurer, vice president and
president of the New Smyrna Beach

-
Q

William E. Hall
President of the Senior Class of
1963, New Smyrna Beach High
School. Member of the student
council, Key Club, Band, Pep
Club, Science Club, Latin club,
Prom Committee, Football,
Baseball, Basketball.

Rotary from 1977 to 1979. Hall has

been an ordained deacon in the First Baptist Church of New Smyrna
since 1989. He has served on the Junior Achievement Board from 1988 to
the present. He was a member of the Advisory Board of Stetson University
in 1995-1996. Hall belongs to Chambers of Commerce for the Greater
DeLand Area, Southeast Volusia and the Daytona Beach/Halifax Area.

Bill Hall has been on the Board of Directors for the Florida International
Festival and the United Way of Volusia County and has served as Honorary
Chairman of the March of Dimes. He is a past member of the New Smyrna
Beach Planning and Zoning Board.

During his tenure as Superintendent of Volusia County Schools, Bill
Hall has been instrumental in providing the leadership necessary for
increasing standardized test scores throughout the district. He has raised
the bar for student expectations believing that all students can learn and
become productive citizens of a democratic society in the 21 century.
While emphasizing the significance of academic achievement for all Volusia
County students, Hall has also stressed the importance of making values
like human worth and dignity, tolerance, honesty and responsibility an
integral part of the curriculum.

Through the individual commitment
of all, our students will graduate
with the knowledge, skills and values
necessary to be successful

contributors to
our democratic socicty.
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CHAPTER 5

The History ot the Volusia County
Public School Administration
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A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE VOLUSIA
COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

The first attempt to provide education in Florida was under the direction
of the Church. This included the first Spanish dominion (1565-1763), the
period of English dominion (1763-1783), and the second Spanish dominion
(1783-1819). The United States acquired the Florida territory by treaty
from Spain in 1819. The organization of the Florida Education Society in
1831 paved the way to establish a state school system for the territory of
Florida. By 1843, it was the duty of each county sheriff in the Florida
territory to provide for the education of the children of the poor; wealthier
children were schooled privately, often by a tutor. In 1853, the state of
Florida established a free public school system for which the county judges
of probate served as ex officio superintendents of county schools. In 1850,
schools received county authorization, and the “Register” of Public
Instruction was made ex officio State Superintendent of Education. In
1853, a common school law was enacted by the Florida legislature that
provided for the support of public schools by taxation. Orange County
(which at the time included the area now known as Volusia County)
disregarded this law and made no contribution to the Education Fund.

Volusia County became a separate Florida county in 1854, during the
term of Governor James E. Broome. Between the years of 1854 and 1858,
James H. Chandler and L.M. Richardson, Volusia County judges, headed
the schools in Volusia County. The first census taken in 1856 indicated
that there were 111 children between the ages of five and eighteen (66
males and 45 females) living in Volusia County at the time. No public
schools were recorded in the records of the time. The only existing
settlements in Volusia County were New Smyrna and Enterprise.

After the Civil War, the Florida Constitution of 1868 and legislation
passed in 1869 provided the basis of a state school system. A state
superintendent and a three-member board appointed by the governor
had overall control of Florida's public schools. The superintendent received
a salary of three dollars a day for 60 days and 10 cents a mile for travel
expenses. Each county was designated as a school district, with a county
superintendent and a board of public instruction. Each county board
chose trustees for each school and assisted with the selection of teachers.
Each Florida county was required to levy a school tax not less than 50% of
the amount due from the State Board of Education. No school tax was
levied in 1869 in Volusia County; therefore, it can probably be assumed
that existing schools were privately supported. In August of the same
year, the governor named John Milton Hawks the “Superintendent of

Common Schools” in Volusia County.

By the following year, 1869, Volusia County established a county school
system and a board of instruction, all of who were appointed by the State
Board of Education. John C. Maley served as chairman of the board of
public instruction and William E Bucknor was appointed superintendent
of schools. In his superintendent's report, Bucknor stated that there were
421 children between the ages of four and 21 and that there were
schoolhouses made of logs in ten Volusia settlements. Bucknor complained
that Volusia County citizens were “apathetic toward improving their
schools” although they insisted that they wanted their children to have a
good education. He reported further that the state did not provide enough
funding and that Volusia County property owners were unwilling to pay
more in property taxes. The government provided the materials for building
schools, and community members built the school in their area. At that
time the county commission levied a tax of one-tenth of one percent that
was supposed to raise $500 for operating funds. However, it was tuition
payments that supported the three schools operating in 1870 in Volusia
County. These three schools had a gross income of $500, employed nine
teachers and had a total enrollment of 135 students. One of these three
schools may have been a school for African American children established
by the Freedman's Bureau. Charles B. Chipman, the teacher of this school
located in Enterprise, was eager to have the Freedman's Bureau fund
other schools for minority children. Mr. Chipman had the support of
Superintendent Bucknor, a former New Yorker, in this endeavor. However,
the Freedman's Bureau was dissolved and those schoolshad to rely solely
on Volusia County for funding.

Champ (or Champlain) H. Spencer, superintendent from 1871 to 1872,
reported that it was impossible to get anyone to attend school board
meetings, reflecting the apathy toward public education. He complained
that it was “impossible” to get money from either the county or the state.
Schools continued to be funded by private sources even though the county
tax base for 1871 was $609,053. In his superintendent's report, Spencer
wrote that there were ten schools and 193 students, an increase of 114,
over the previous year. He also reported that the schools were unheated;
some had no wells to supply fresh water; there were no desks and chairs,
and many students had to sit on the floor; and, there were no supplies,
and books were donated from meager home libraries. His successor, George
Alden, found school affairs had been neglected. During his tenure as
superintendent, he hired a competent school treasurer who took a census
of school-aged children so that state funding could be obtained. Alden
also wanted to increase the millage rate on property taxes to raise more
funding for Volusia County schools.

CHAPTERS, PAGE 163



Each year superintendents of schools from each Florida County were
required to submit a written report to the Florida Superintendent of Public
Instruction. The reports were to include the location of schools, the number
of buildings and their respective conditions, and the basis for setting
salaries. The earliest school board minutes from Volusia County are from
1876. The school board met in Enterprise, which was the county seat at
the time. In 1877, teachers were required by the local school board to
teach six hours a day and 22 days per month. In 1878, the superintendent
received three dollars a day for 75 days of service. By 1879, teacher
contracts provided for three months of service, and the superintendent’s
term was increased from 75 to 85 days, with the daily rate of pay remaining
at three dollars per day.

Superintendent A. Crenshaw was appointed Superintendent of Volusia
County Schools to fill the vacancy created by the death of Mr. Wilkinson
in 1880. He lamented the indifference of school board members, the paucity
of comfortable school buildings, and the difficulty in obtaining school
records. He did write, on a positive note, that the benefits of a free-school
system “have nearly reached all children.”

According to the superintendent's report of 1881, Volusia County had
nearly 600 pupils and 34 schools with a four-mill school tax. The
population of the county had increased to over 8,000. In 1883, the county
had 44 schools with 1171 students, 43 teachers and a school term of less
than four months. The budget for operating these schools was $16,635.58.
The superintendent of schools received $385 for extra services rendered
on weekends. In 1885, changes in the Florida State Constitution provided
for the election of the State Superintendent, local school boards and local
school superintendents. Prior to this time, the governor had appointed
the superintendent of schools for each county. Other constitutional changes
included a property tax to support education in each county. In 1886, a
freeze damaged the citrus crops in Volusia County. The lost revenue from
the production of oranges caused a temporary setback in supporting the
growth of public education.

The superintendent's salary was changed to a yearly salary in 1888.
Prior to this date, superintendents had been paid for a certain number of
days per year (in 1879, 85 days) served in the post. In 1889, the legislature
mandated that county school boards provide the course of instruction for
the schools in their districts, and that each county should have at least
one high school. County school districts were also to be divided into
subdistricts.

By 1891, Volusia County had 14 organized school subdistricts. The
population of Volusia County had risen to over 8000 inhabitants, and the
demand for free public schools had increased. Three hundred copies of

the first “Graded Course of Study" for Volusia County were published by
school board members (as enacted by legislation passed in 1889). It is
reported that by the very next year, 1892, the county had 59 schools, 68
teachers and 1900 pupils. In 1892, the school day was reduced from six to
five and one-half hours per day, not including recess. The school board
appointed the superintendent and two teachers to oversee school projects
to be sent to the World's Fair in Chicago.

Florida State Superintendent of Instruction, William N. Sheats,
introduced teacher examinations in 1893. Sheats provided the questions
for the test, and the examinations were given in both May and September.
For a first grade certificate, the candidate labored for five days and received
a five-year certificate if a passing grade of 75 or better was achieved. A
second grade certificate was good for three years. Mr. Sheets wanted
high school teachers to have a college education, and under his direction,
high school teachers were given qualifying examinations also.

In 1894, 16 white teachers were appointed for six months, nine teachers
for five months and 23 teachers for four months. Four African American
teachers were appointed for six months, twelve for five months and four
for four months. Some teachers taught two terms per year. In the same
year, Superintendent Pooser rescinded the order and stated that students
had to purchase their schoolbooks. Due to the freeze of 1894-95 that
wiped out most of orange groves in the county, it was decided that the
school board would continue to provide books for Volusia County school
children. This freeze also impacted the Volusia County School System
because one-fourth of its revenue was lost due to the diminished tax base.
After the "big freeze,” the country also went through an economic
depression. It took the school system five years to recoup this income
even though the student population continued to expand.

In 1896, the Volusia County School Board passed a resolution that
required teachers to provide a list of their students, including grades,
promotions and retentions. Until this time, a systematic classification of
student enrollment had not been required. The superintendent's report
for 1896-98 stated that a three-mile limit (schools within three miles of
each other were merged) was to be observed, involving the consolidation
of schools. While this consolidation did not save the taxpayers any money,
it was reported that “a vast improvement" was made both in the quality of
instruction and the academic ability of the teachers. The report also said
that there were only two log schools remaining in the district and that
plans had been made to phase out these older schools. At this time, the
Volusia County School District was divided into 13 subdistricts to include
Deland, Daytona, New Smyrna, Orange City, Enterprise, Holly Hill,
Glenwood, Osteen, DeLeon Springs, Lake Helen, Glencoe, Hawks Park
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and Oak Hill. The school term for three Volusia County schools was eight
months; one school had a seven and one-half month term, and two schools
extended their school term from five to six months. Attempts at providing
transportation for students began in the late 1890's. According to school
board records, students living near Indian Pond were transported for $7.50
per student per year.

In 1897, the Volusia County School Board adopted a resolution, basing
teachers' salaries as nearly as possible on ability, education and grade of
certificate. In this year a county teachers' association that held two meetings
ayearwas formed. African American teachers formed their own association,
and “great interest was taken in their meetings.”

John B. Parkinson reported that in January, 1900, the total tax
assessment was $2,981,795 for Volusia County, somewhat lower than the
assessment for 1898. He said that even with the lower tax base, the schools
were “better than ever before.” Parkinson stated that because of the
influence of Stetson University, Volusia County teachers were becoming
increasingly more proficient. He also said that summer training schools
for teachers had impacted the instructional quality of Volusia County
Schools. Small schools had been erected in Winona, Flowers, Lake Ashby
and Maytown. Larger school buildings were constructed in DelLand,
Ormond, Seabreeze, New Smyrna and Holly Hill.

Bert Fish, who replaced Parkinson in 1900, reported that all school
buildings were of “frame construction,” and the last log schoolhouse had
been retired. When Fish became superintendent, the Volusia County School
System was $2000 in debt, and by 1902, the district was able to pay all but
$883 of this debt. He stated that to reduce the debt, he didn't have to
lower teachers’ pay or “cut school days too much.” In 1900, school
enrollment throughout the county had increased to 2400 students. About
this time the city of Daytona issued city bonds for $5000, to be expended
in rebuilding schools for white students and erecting a new building for
African American students.

Each county in Florida had Grading Committees and held Teachers'
Examinations each year. In 1902, Superintendent Bert Fish reported that
there was no hint of unfairness on the part of the Grading Committee that
had reached his ears. Teacher salaries for white teachers ranged for $35 to
$120 per month: their African American counterparts received from $32 to
$50 per month.

In 1904, the Florida State Legislature appropriated $50,000 annually
to be used for the development of rural high schools and graded schools.
Any school maintaining state standards was given $200 to $800 yearly.
Superintendent Bert Fish reported that the sub-districts within the Volusia
School District had grown from 13 to 20, and because of this expansion,

school revenue had increased by $7000. At the time of the 1904 report,
Fish opposed the purchase of textbooks for school children because the
school board could not absorb the cost. The average school year was 131
days for white children and 94 days for minority children. By 1904, Fish
had wiped out the school system's debt that he had inherited in 1900, and
the district had a surplus of $11,935.

In 1906, Superintendent of Schools A.O. Botts reported that the Volusia

-~ County School District had 37 white schools employing 70 teachers. There

were 16 segregated schools with 26 teachers. Most white schools had
eight-month terms and no school had a term less than six months. Some
segregated schools only had a four-month term; so many African American
teachers were assigned two schools. In the same year, the school board
instructed the superintendent to provide monthly report blanks for all
schools and to see that they were properly used by all of the teachers. In
the following year, the board voted down Volusia County's participation
in the use of uniform textbooks for each school district in the state. Eighth
grade exams in all major subject areas were also begun in 1907. Under
Botts the school surplus grew to $19,000.

By 1908, the real estate value of the 35 Volusia County Schools was
more than $75,000, and school equipment was valued at about $14,000.
The average salary for white teachers was $63 per month. It was understood
that the Volusia County School Board “would not pay $60 for $40 teachers,”
and any pupil who had not "“attained a reasonable proficiency” in grade
school subjects would not be admitted to high school. The exams that had
begun for eighth graders the previous year were extended to sixth and
seventh grade students.

By 1910, there were 34 white schools. During the months when Volusia
County Schools were in operation, the monthly payroll was $6000. Only
two kindergartens existed in Volusia County, one in DelLand and another
in Daytona. Kindergartens were considered to be too expensive to operate,
and it was decided not to expand the kindergarten program at that time.
In 1915, the last locally written course of study was published for local
students and teachers. After 1915, the State of Florida provided courses of
study for each county. When C.R.M. Sheppard became superintendent
in 1912, there were 49 schools and 87 teachers in Volusia County. There
were three senior high schools, two junior high schools, 12 graded
grammar schools and 24 white, rural schools. There were five graded
schools and 11 ungraded schools for African American students. During
Sheppard's years as superintendent, school principals had many duties,
one of which was to ensure that lime was used regularly in the outdoor
privies. In 1913, New Smyrna residents killed a bond issue to build a new
school. However, the following year, the bond was passed, and the
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construction of Faulkner Street School began shortly thereafter.

From 1916 to 1918, salaries for teachers were $300 per year. The average
street sweeper earned more money annually. It was reported that the
tomato, pig and chicken clubs were gaining popularity while corn clubs
were in decline in the Volusia County Schools. By the advent of World
War I, many one-room, rural schools still existed with school terms of six
months. The urban schools had a term of eight months. Superintendent
Sheppard now began phasing out the small, rural schools and introduced
the use of bus transportation to bring students from outlying areas to the
urban schools. School expenditures ballooned to $100,000. In 1919, an
assistant superintendent, or rural supervisor, was appointed to give help
to the smaller schools. The first person to hold this position was Annie
Laurie Smith. Teachers' salaries at the time had increased to $75 per month
for white grade school teachers, $85 for white high school teachers and
$40 for African American teachers.

The county jail was refurbished and used to house the Volusia County
School District administration.

In 1920, the Volusia County School Administration Building, the first
of its kind in the state, was established in DeLand. The building had
previously been the county jail and was refurbished for Volusia County
School administrators. This building served as the Volusia County Schools’
administrative complex until 1958, when the old DeLand Memorial
Hospital on Stone Street was converted into a new administration building.

By 1920, the 200 teachers that were employed in Volusia County had
received a raise of 33% over their current salary. Superintendent Sheppard
reported that even with this substantial raise, salaries for the teachers
were inadequate. Sheppard also noted that fourteen of the smaller schools
in the district had been standardized, making Volusia County the first
county in Florida to have its rural and village schools on the standard list.
In 1922, the first public health nurse was employed by Volusia County.

The Stone Street Administration Building circa 1934

George Marks became superintendent in 1924 and reported that the
compulsory attendance law was having an impact on the citizens of Volusia
County. During the mid 1920's, new schools were built in Port Orange,
New Smyrna, DeLand, and Daytona. Many of the small community schools
closed, and their students went to the newly built schools in the larger
towns.

By 1930, 14,000 students were riding Volusia County School buses,
and the district budget was over half a million dollars. Most schools were
in session for nine months. During the Depression years, teachers in
Volusia County, as elsewhere, were paid in “script’ that could be exchanged
in some stores for the necessities of life. In 1933, white grade school
teachers made $95 per month; white high school teachers, $115 per month;
African American grade school teachers, $45 month; and African American
high school teachers, $60 per month. There were seven high schools and
five junior high schools in Volusia County at this time.

In 1938, R.J.Longstreet, supervising principal of the Peninsula Schools,
spearheaded a movement to provide a retirement plan for all Florida
teachers, and the Florida Retirement System was enacted by the legislature
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in 1939. Prior to this time, teachers had no provisions for retirement but
their own personal savings.

During World War 11, schools in Volusia County were put on a war
time schedule from 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. German U-boats were often
spotted off the Atlantic Coast, and, during hours that required electric
lighting, in either houses or public buildings (including schools), blackout
conditions were mandated. In 1943, 43 students graduated from New
Smyrna Beach High School, 57 graduated from Seabreeze High School,
130 graduated from Mainland High School, and 60 graduated from
DeLand High School. In the same year 90 Mainland High students were
dismissed to pick oranges because of an emergency situation at the Wallace
Orange Grove.

The Minimum Foundation Program was established in Florida in 1947
and replaced Special School Districts. Under the old Special District system,
neighboring schools could have markedly different real estate (school
buildings) and equipment values as well as teachers’' salaries. The old
system had also allowed the more affluent schools to hire better teachers
from less affluent schools by offering higher salaries. To comply with the
Minimum Foundation Program, Volusia County extended its school year
to ten months for teachers. County teachers said they liked the two-week
planning time both before and after the nine-month school year for the
students. In the same year, county personnel conducted a panel discussion
to diagnose “some of the difficulties children encounter when reading."”
At that time, Volusia County had 435 teachers who received a 30% raise
(between $100 and $400 a year, depending on experience). The budget to
operate the entire school system was $1,298,486. In 1948, the Volusia
County School Board voted to assure that both white and African American
teachers would receive equal pay. The Racing Commission also began to
provide Volusia County teachers with “bonus checks.” By 1949, Volusia
County had its first Exceptional Child program (later called Exceptional
Student Education).

The early 1950s brought the first wave of post war babies to Volusia
County classrooms. There was an 18% increase in student population in
schools on the Daytona Beach peninsula and an 8% increase in mainland
schools. Classrooms were overcrowded even though Volusia County
Schools now employed 525 teachers. In 1953, a $2,000,000 bond issue
was passed to build additional schools. By 1954, the operating school
budget rose to over $4,000,000. An additional $2,000,000 was being spent
for new construction. There were 639 teachers, 29 elementary schools,
five junior high schools and seven senior high schools (five white and
two segregated). Five years later in 1959, there were 32 white schools and
13 segregated schools. The cost per pupil for the school year was $305.

The proposed budget was almost $8,000,000, including over $225,000 for
transportation. Mainland High School had an enrollment of 1850 students,
and the county employed 935 teachers.

The position of supervising principal was discontinued in 1957-58,
and the administration of Volusia County Schools became more centralized
under the superintendent of schools. The role of a supervising principal
had consisted of overseeing the daily operations of several schools in one
area. The supervising principal also served as principal of an area high
school. The position was established in the later part of the 1800's when
transportation to all parts of Volusia County was slower and often more
difficult and when many small, one-room schools only had a teacher/
principal. In 1958, the seven county high schools were forced to cut certain
course offerings because of the lack of classroom space. Although plans
were being made for 13 new schools, the immediate lack of classroom
space curtailed typing, art, advanced math and a variety of other high
school subjects.

In the 1960s, four new high schools were built in DelLand, Daytona,
New Smyrna and Pierson. Each cost less than $2,000,000. The first of
three bond issues was passed to pay for the construction of these schools.
Release time was provided to students for religious instruction. Three
DeLland churches (Trinity Methodist, First Baptist and the Presbyterian)
contributed $600 apiece toward this endeavor. The Gideons also provided
a Bible for each fourth grade student in Volusia County Schools. During
the mid Sixties, reading centers were established on each side of the
county to help students who were deficient in reading skills. Teachers
gave students a battery of tests in the morning and provided suggestions
and teaching strategies to the classroom teachers, who instructed these
students, in the afternoon. The reading centers lasted for a year and one-
half in DelLand and two years in Daytona. The program was funded by a
Federal grant called PRIDE.

Prior to the 1960s, there were few district personnel other than the
superintendent and his staff. Minnie McCauley was the elementary
supervisor, and Raymond Dunne (later superintendent of schools) served
for a time as secondary supervisor. When the Federal government made
money available through grants from Title VI in the mid 1960's, Volusia
County personnel wrote grants to fund the curriculum departments in
each of the core subject areas. In 1968, the first Science Fair was held for
Volusia County students. In 1969, area principals and county personnel
developed a school dress code for junior and senior high school students.
Micro-mini skirts were banned, and skirts had to touch the floor when a
female student was in a kneeling position. T-shirts considered to be
underwear were banned as well as jewelry of a conspicuous nature. Beards

CHAPTERS5, PAGE 167



and hats were not allowed in the classroom. (A discussion of the teacher
walkout and integration of Volusia County Schools is included in Chapter
Six, which includes a full overview of the challenges that confronted the
Volusia County School District.)

Volusia County's population increased rapidly during the late 1960's
and early 1970s. Dr. TE. Smotherman remembered going to West Virginia
to recruit teachers to serve in Volusia County classrooms. At various times,
groups of Volusia County administrators also went on recruiting trips as
the school system tried to accommodate the number of new students
enrolling in local schools. College students who came to Daytona on
Spring Break were also recruited. In 1973, the first District School Advisory
Committee was formed. The committee was comprised of community
members and school personnel. In the same year, FTE was established
by the state. FTE allotted funding for each public school student,
depending upon the student's educational needs. A student who had a
learning disability or was emotionally disturbed received a higher weight
(meaning more money) than a regular education student. Public Law 94-
142 had an impact on district services. The law stated that all children
were entitled to a public school education. District level services for a
variety of exceptional education programs were significantly expanded.
Under the administration of Superintendent Donald Gill, Volusia County
Schools hired its first public relations person, Ann Paden. In 1978, 45%
more students were retained than in the previous year. The pupil retentions
were a response to the stronger emphasis on basic skills in state regulations
for financing summer school. Marginal students, who in previous years
might have been promoted at the end of the school year, were now retained
“to summer school” for extra support in acquiring basic skills. Dr. Gill
stated that he believed that the failure rate would, eventually, diminish,
as new “competency standards” became part of the school program. Volusia
County teachers, under the direction of Dr. Eve Booth, developed the
new pupil competencies.

Abond issue of $60,000,000 for new school construction was passed in
1980. Another bond issue of $42,000,000 was passed in 1986 to be used to
for the same purpose. Keeping pace with steady increase in student
enrollment was a major challenge in the 1980s. In 1982, the school board
began a major rezoning of attendance areas. The first district-wide Open
House program was initiated. In the following year, the Substance Abuse
Task force was created to study drug problems in the schools. Under
Superintendent James Surratt three area superintendents were appointed
to supervise schools in the Halifax, southeast, and west side areas of
Volusia County. Inthe mid 1980's, Dr. Surratt made technology one of his
top priorities for all Volusia County Schools. The first middle school in

Volusia County opened in 1986, as New Smyrna Beach Junior High
became New Smyrna Beach Middle School. Over the next few years, the
remaining junior high schools in Volusia County were converted to middle
schools. By the end of the 1980s, Volusia County Schools began to pilot
inclusion programs in which children with handicaps were mainstreamed
into regular classrooms and ESOL (English Speakers of Other Languages)
classes were established to assist students from other cultures who were
enrolled in Volusia County Schools.

In the early 1990s, the school population grew so rapidly that
construction of new schools could not keep pace. Under the administration
of Volusia County School Superintendent Joan Kowal, many of Volusia
County's schools were put on a year round calendar to relieve overcrowded
classrooms, especially, in the Deltona area. This schedule, for only selected
elementary and middle schools, required children to go to school for nine
week periods and then have three weeks of vacation time. Even on this
modified schedule, most of the schools had a six weeks' summer break.
The modified calendar lasted for three years. Many parents and teachers
were opposed to the modified calendar, and in the intervening years several
new schools were built to alleviate the overcrowded conditions. In 1996,
all Volusia County schools were returned to the traditional calendar.

Two new high schools (Atlantic High in South Daytona and Pine Ridge
in Deltona) opened in the fall of 1994. These new high schools pioneered
the block-scheduling concept in Volusia County. They adopted a twelve
week, or trimester, block schedule. Other area high schools instituted a
block schedule called “four by four " that was based on nine-week terms.
Beginning in the new school term of August, 2000, all high schools in
Volusia County will use the “four by four” plan, except for Spruce Creek
High, Mainland High and New Smyrna Beach High. These high schools
have elected to remain on a traditional schedule, consisting of seven 50-
minute periods per day for each semester.

During the 1990s, two charter schools were opened in Volusia County.
Charter schools are public schools operated by private, nonprofit groups
under contracts with the local school boards. The purpose of charter schools
is to improve student learning through the use of innovative teaching
methods. Charter schools collect state money that the local school board
would usually earn to run the public schools. These schools are also exempt
from many of the regulations under which public schools must operate.

In 1998, the Volusia County School Board passed a “no pass, no play"
policy for high school athletes. An athlete must keep a 2.0 average to
participate in extra curricular sports. This policy was formulated by the
board in response to the demands for greater accountability on the part of
Florida schools, teachers, and students by the Florida Department of
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Education and legislative mandates. The move for greater accountability into effect for all schools in the district. Incidents of nation-wide school
has dominated school districts throughout Florida for the last half of the violence prompted the board to take this action.

1990s. (The accountability issue will be discussed in Chapter Six, which A detailed account of the Volusia County School Administration and
discusses the challenges faced by the Volusia County School District.) In  its departments follows in the next section of this chapter.

1999, the Volusia County School Board put a more stringent security policy

Volusia
County
Schools
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VOLUSIA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
ADMINISTRATION

The Superintendent of Schools operates the Volusia County School
System. With the large increase in student population, a deputy
superintendent position has been filled intermittently since the 1980s.
Both Dr. Glenn Epley and William Pickhardt have served as deputy
superintendents. Tim Huth was appointed Deputy Superintendent of
Schools in 1998.

From the latter part of the 1890s to the mid 1950s, there was a position
of supervising principal in the Volusia County School District. The
supervising principal was responsible for several schools in one area of
Volusia County. When control of the district became more centralized,
those supervisory positions were eliminated. However, some thirty years
later, in the 1980s, the position of area director was created to assist the
superintendent of schools in overseeing the needs of the growing number
of district schools. This position was in some ways akin to the supervising
principal because the area director was responsible for schools in one
Volusia County area. Unlike the supervising principal, the area director
supervised many more schools. Three area directors were appointed, one
for Southeast Volusia, one for the Halifax area, and one for Volusia County's
west side. Since the 1980s, the area director position has been called area
superintendent or assistant superintendent. The number of schools in
the Deltona area has increased significantly due to rapid population growth.
This has led to a reconfiguration of the schools under each area
superintendent. For instance, the southeast area superintendent
supervises some Deltona schools.

Another change, due to both the rapid growth in the school aged
population and the complexities of meeting Federal guidelines and
regulations, is the expansion of the Volusia County District staff. Currently,
the school district is divided into departments and larger departments are
divided into divisions. Either an assistant superintendent or a director
administers each department. The assistant superintendents of large
departments are assisted by directors who supervise a division within the
department. The administrative departments include administrative
services, curriculum and school improvement services, employee services,
financial services, management information services, chief counsel (legal
services and professional practices) and facilities. The Curriculum and
School Improvement Department is housed in Daytona at the Educational
Development Center and the South Ridgewood Annex. The rest of the
departments are housed at the administrative complex in DeLand.

VOLUSIA COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE
PRESENTLY THE JOHN H. SMILEY
EDUCATIONAL DEVELOPMENT CENTER
(EDC) FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY SCHOOLS

Volusia County Community College (VCCC) opened its doors to
students in September, 1958 amid controversy. The African American
community and many members of the white community were opposed to a
segregated junior college, especially after the United States Supreme Court
ruling in 1954 of Brown vs. Topeka, Kansas Board of Education. VCCC's
first and only president was J. Griffin Greene. The school was housed in
a rented, two-story apartment building on Second Avenue (now Mary
McLeod Bethune Boulevard). An already existing minority vocational
education program in the Technical Trades Building on the same street
became part of VCCC as well. The new community college also used the
nearby Cypress Street Recreation Center's auditorium. This auditorium
had been constructed for African American residents in 1949 at the same
time the Peabody Auditorium was built exclusively for white residents at
ten times the cost.

VCCC's initial enrollment was 1,357 students, including 141 students
in the college parallel program, intended for those seeking a four-year
degree. Other divisions of the school included vocational education and
adult education program. The vocational division was expanded and
renamed the vocational-technical division in 1962. ‘Courses included
electricity and electrical appliance repair, automobile mechanics, shoe
repair, cosmetology, masonry, radio and television repair, practical nursing,
upholstery, dry cleaning, alterations and shirt finishing. The electronics
technology program was also added in the same year to meet the demand
for skilled labor by the Kennedy Space Center. The adult education
program established centers all over Volusia and Flagler Counties,
enabling over 400 adults to earn high school diplomas between 1960 and
1965.

In the fall of 1960, Volusia County Community College moved to a
new location on the comer of Lockhart and Loomis Streets, although
vocational students continued using the Technical Trades Building on
Second Avenue. The new building (now John H. Smiley Educational
Development Center)was on the Smallwood tract. VCCC wanted to include
plans for a new segregated junior and senior high school on the 60-acre
tract, but parents of minority students were opposed to the construction of
any more segregated schools. They wanted their children to be integrated
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into the existing white schools. Community members also criticized more
building on the Smallwood tract because it was subject to flooding and
would become too crowded if these proposed additions were made.

Despite this controversy the two-year college continued to grow,
becoming the second largest African American two-year college in the
state of Florida. The Florida State Department of Education accredited
the school in 1963. In 1965, steps were taken to integrate. VCCC with
Daytona Beach Junior College (DBJC) in compliance with the Civil Rights
Act of 1964. President Greene and other African American educators were
concerned that the hasty merger would be detrimental to minority students.
They also worried that African American educators serving at Volusia
County Community College would be displaced when the two campuses
were united. While only ten of the sixteen African American instructors at
VCCC were placed at Daytona Beach Junior College, the other educators
did receive jobs within the Volusia County School System. Dr. Greene
served in various administrative positions at Daytona Beach Junior College
but was never offered a vice presidency, a position he felt he deserved.
Dr. Greene retired in 1973. (Information from an article by Dr. Leonard
Lempel in the Halifax Magazine, 1999 - see Reference section)

The structure that was built to house the Volusia County Community
College on the corner of Lockhart and Loomis Streets became part of the
Volusia County Schools, serving as a branch office for district personnel.
On May 20, 1968, the building was renamed the John H. Smiley
Educational Development Center for School Superintendent John H.

Educational Development Center (EDC),the Volusia County School
District’s east side Administration Complex, and houses the department
for Curriculum and School Improvement.

Smiley, who decided not to run for reelection in 1968. Both Volusia County
School Board Chair Jeanne Goddard and Julian E. Markham, Director of
School Instruction Supervisors, praised Smiley for leading Volusia County
Schools through a period of rapid growth and the movement toward
dynamic future growth. The EDC, as it is commonly called, currently
houses curriculum and school improvement services, including Exceptional
Student Education (ESE) and student support services, Title One Services,
Media Services, Vocational Education and Applied Technology, Staff
Development and Curriculum.

DEPARTMENT OF CURRICULUM AND
SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT

The Department of Curriculum and School Improvement Services is
housed at the John H. Smiley Educational Development Center on the
corner of Lockhart and Loomis Avenues in Daytona Beach. This department
has several major divisions including Vocational and Applied Technology
Education, Exceptional Student Services (ESE), Tile I, Staff Development,
Media Services (part of Media Services is housed at the South Ridgewood
complex) and Curriculum. A director heads each of these departments.

CURRICULUM DIVISION

The curriculum division includes the four core curriculum specialists
of reading/language arts, social studies, science and math. Foreign
language/multicultural studies, physical education, health, art, music/
drama/ dance, guidance, testing and school improvement, and technology
are also part of the curriculum department. All of Volusia County's
curriculum offerings have been aligned to the Florida Department of
Education's Sunshine State Standards. Either an administrative specialist
or a teacher on assignment heads each of these subject areas. Four
coordinators, one for pre-kindergarten, elementary school, middle school
and high school are part of the curriculum department as well. Coordinators
handle all curricular issues that concern their respective grade levels.
Most of the subject area departments were bequn when funding from
Federal grants in the 1960s that gave school districts the ability to expand
their district offices. A director, Nicolene (Nicki) Junkins, heads the
curriculum division and is also responsible for countywide testing and
the facilitation of school improvement plans for the 66-school district.
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The Volusia County Pre-kindergarten Early Intervention Program began
in 1986 as a competitive grant program that contracted its services as
Halifax Park Preschool for three and four year old children of low-income
families. The program continued to grow and when the lottery was begun
by the state of Florida, Pre-kindergarten Early Intervention (PKEI) became
an entitlement program, allowing the Volusia County School District to
begin school-based PKEI classes. Since thattime the program has evolved
into what is now a combination of school-based and contracted sites that
can provide services to 620 three and four year old children of low-income
families. Several of the consistent elements of PKEI are required parent
involvement, vision, hearing and
dental screening, and the High Scope
curriculum that has been aligned to the
Sunshine State Standards.

Technology is a new department
that was established in 1998. The
technology specialist works with other
subject area specialists so that Volusia
County’s curriculum will meet the
needs of 21st century students whose
mode of acquiring information is and
will be vastly different from students
of the past. Pamela Laverty was
appointed as the first curriculum
technology specialist for Volusia
County Schools.

Both testing and guidance services
were originally housed under the
Exceptional Child Program (now
Exceptional Student Education)
headed first by Miller Eves and then
David Edgar. LaRosa Smith, Dr. Annie
Ward and Andrew Moore were among
the first Volusia County educators to oversee guidance services. In 1959,
a countywide testing program was instituted, using the California Test of
Mental Maturity and the California Achievement Test. Guidance services
were first established in the junior and senior high schools in the early
1960's when the Volusia County School Board approved a proposal for
guidance services submitted by Dr. Ward. She initiated the use of test
scoring machines and, working with Alan Hobbs, Dr. Ward also instituted
data processing in school attendance zones. The first elementary guidance
programs were established at George Marks, Boston Avenue, and Dempsie

Muriel Frisch was one of the
first elementary school guidance
counselors.

Brewster Elementary Schools. Guidance was then placed under Supportive
Educational Services. Responsibility for countywide testing was also part
of the guidance services at that time. Guidance is now in the Regular
Education division of the curriculum and school improvement department.
Guidance services are offered to all Volusia County students, kindergarten
through grade twelve.

MEDIA SERVICES AND INSTRUCTIONAL
MATERIALS

In the early 1970s, the Department of Media Services and Instructional
Materials was called Educational Materials and Related Services. It
consisted of instructional materials/textbooks and media related services.
The media related services included photography, graphics production,
media processing for library materials for schools, a lending library of
16mm films, and a professional library. Most of the media related services
of the department were located on the Loomis Avenue campus (John Smiley
Educational Development Center, EDC) in Daytona Beach as part of the
Division for Instruction. The
instructional materials/textbook
operation along with the 16mm film
library was located on North Stone
Streetin DeLand. The department was
under the leadership of Director Leatha
Garrison and Coordinator Fred
Phillips.

In the 1980s, the instructional
materials’ warehouse outgrew the
space on Stone Street in DeLand, and
itwas moved to Daytona to the former
South Ridgewood Elementary School
facility. With the exception of
Instructional Television and the
Professional Resource Library, all
media services offices were relocated
to the South Ridgewood site. Fred
Phillips began the decade as director
and was succeeded by Ann Duff.

Leatha Garrison was the
Director for Media Services for
many years. Photo courtesy
Daytona Beach News Journal.
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Inthe 1990s, both instructional materials and media services operations
changed due to the advent of computers and technologies. The district
discontinued warehousing textbooks, and orders were then submitted via
computer on-line and shipped directly to schools. Graphic and
photographic services converted to digital and video formats. An
automated processing system, The Media Processing Center, was
implemented to increase the number of library media materials that are
processed in a shorter period of time for schools, and the Instructional
Television station was updated. The District Media Center of professional
materials added electronic access to the collection and also facilitated the
research of educational articles. Some personnel in the Media Services
and Instructional Materials Department are housed at the South
Ridgewood site. Media Services and Instructional Materials became visible
on the world wide web with access to guidelines, schedules, resource
materials, and information, aimed to assist media specialists and classroom
teachers. Throughout the decade “service" remained the focus of the
department of Media Services and Instructional Materials. Nancy Martin
has been the Director of the Department of Media Services and Instructional
Materials for the past 12 years.

Whether you think you can
or think you can’t,
you're right.

Henry Ford

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

In 1973, State Statute 231.600, the Teacher Education Center Act, went
into effect, mandating that each district have a Teacher Education Center.
The Teacher Education Center was to be governed by a director and Teacher
Education Center Council. Although William Coulter and William Beachum
worked in Staff Development in the early years, the first director named
after the TEC Act began was Lynn Gold Schaefer. The first elected
chairperson for the TEC Council was Ann Smith. The council consisted of
approximately 27 administrators, teachers, university personnel, support
personnel, and lay people with varied terms of service. The council made
decisions on how funds were allocated in accordance with yearly needs’
assessment data collected. Lynn Gold Schaefer remained the director

until she retired in 1989. Cheryl

Alligood replaced Schaefer and served
as director from 1989 to 1997. When
Alligood left the district, the current
director, Victoria (Vicki) Drager, was
appointed to the position.

In 1995, the Teacher Education
Center Act was repealed and is now
replaced with the School Community
Professional Development Act. This act
was designed to: increase the success
of educators in guiding student
learning and development; assist the
school community in providing
stimulating education activities to
encourage and motivate students; and

to provide continuous support as well
as temporary intervention for education
professionals who need improvement
in knowledge, skills, and performance.
One of the main responsibilities for the
Staff Development Department is to
develop and disseminate model professional development methods that
have demonstrated success in meeting identified student and staff needs.

Lynn Gold Schaeffer was in
charge of the Teacher Education
Center and later director of Staff
Development.
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TITLE I SERVICES

Federally funded programs came into effect throughout all school
districts in the United States as a result of ESEA (Elementary Secondary
Education Act) that was enacted in 1965. Under Julian Markham, Assistant
Superintendent for Curriculum in Schools for Volusia County, the Variable
Instructional Services program was begun in 1968. The program was
then funded by Cause I. The VIS program had both district teachers
(teachers on assignment) and school-based teachers. District VIS teachers
gave demonstration lessons, using the latest innovative, instructional
strategies. School-based VIS teachers pulled small groups of students
from their classroom to give them extra support in the areas of reading,
writing and math. The VIS program was also designed to facilitate the
transition from segregation to integration in the schools. The program
focused on human relationships as
well.

Cause I was phased out in the late
1960s, and funding for the VIS program
was taken over by Title I. At this time
there were five district VIS teachers.
Besides their duties in the schools, they
provided night classes in techniques
such as set induction and instruction
in the Stamford School of Teaching
Skills. The Title I program also had
teachers who served as home/school
liaisons for those students and their
families who needed this kind of
assistance. Title I was reauthorized
every five years. At the time of
reauthorization, program evaluators
determined in which areas to expend
Federal funds, what schools were to be
targeted, and the curriculum emphasis
in the identified schools.

During the early 1980s, the
Educational Consolidation and
Improvement Act renamed Title I as Chapter I. While the form and focus
changed, the funding remained the same. The focus of Chapter I was
primarily on basic skills during the Reagan and Bush administrations.
By the end of the 1980's, several other school-based programs (e.g. ESE

Sarah Brown has held a
variety of positions under the
Federally Funded Assistance
Program , Title 1, and is now
Director of Title 1 services.

(Exceptional Student Education) services) were also pulling students out
of the classroom for additional assistance. Classroom teachers were having
difficulty scheduling whole group instruction because of the numbers of
students being pulled for these various services. To assist the classroom
teacher, the VIS pullout program was discontinued in 1990, and other
approaches to assist students were utilized. These approaches included
funding, materials, and teacher in-service.

Under the Clinton administration Chapter I once again became Title I.
The emphasis on basic skills was replaced with a more holistic approach
(e.g. whole language). The Title I mission and philosophy focused on
opportunities and high standards for all students.

Title I money is distributed to schools on the basis of the socioeconomic
status of the attending students. Socioeconomic status is determined by
the number of students who receive free lunch in each of the schools.
Schools who have 75% or more of their students on free lunch receive the
most money. Those schools who have between 50% and 74% of their
students on free lunch receive a lesser amount of Federal funds. Schools
who have less than 50% on free lunch receive limited Federal assistance.

Volusia County's Title I Program is headed by Sarah Brown, who was
one of the original district VIS teachers. She is assisted by two project
managers and other curriculum specialists and teachers on assignment
who provide support to 30 schools in Volusia County that qualify for Title
I assistance. The Volusia County Title I office makes a variety of services
available to the schools. Reading programs, such as Reading Recovery
and Literacy First, assistance with math and writing, technological and
network support, family centers and migrant services are all Title I
programs. Title I is always on the “cutting edge,” piloting the latest
curriculum initiatives for Volusia County. The program has 70 portable
classrooms throughout Volusia County and a myriad of capitalized
equipment. Title I also serves private schools, the juvenile justice programs
and centers for neglected children. The Title I office is also instrumental
in writing and securing grants to fund numerous initiatives in Volusia
County.

Under the present Title I system, each school receiving Federal
assistance determines the specific needs of its own particular student body.
Each school must have a school improvement plan that is aligned with
these needs. This plan is not only approved by the school district but must
meet Title I guidelines. All adopted programs and curriculum initiatives
are continually evaluated to determine their effectiveness. Lead teachers
and fusion labs in both math and writing that require extra assistance in
raising student scores to meet new, more rigorous accountability standards
are now in identified Title I schools.
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EXCEPTIONAL STUDENT EDUCATION AND
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES

Programs for exceptional students were established in Volusia County
Schools on a limited basis as early a 1949. The Student Services
Department had been established at an
earlier date. Volusia County educators
who played key roles in this department
were David Edgar, Dr. Annie Ward, Hal
Wallace, Andrew Moore, JoAnne
Reames and Shirley Lee. By the late
1960s, Bill Smith coordinated the
Exceptional Child Program and Pupil
Personnel Services. School
psychologists, social workers, speech
and language pathologists were all part
of this department. In 1968, the
department was divided. Hal Wallace
directed the Exceptional Child Program
(later renamed Exceptional Student
Educaton) and Andrew Moore became
the director of Pupil Personnel Services
(later renamed Student Support
Services).

Sunland Training Centers closed in the mid1970s. Prior to its
closing, Sunland teachers had taught students with intellectual or
behavioral disabilities in a residential setting.The Sunland closing and
the passage of the landmark PL 94-142 (the Education of the Handicapped
Act) in 1974 had a significant impact on Volusia County's ESE programs.
The legislature also restructured funding into the Florida Education Finance
Program creating 15 categories of exceptional programs, which significantly
increased the amount of state and local funds for ESE programs and
support services. PL94-42 also released federal funds for ESE services.
The increase in funding allowed for decentralization of ESE programs
and provided every student with an identified disability an appropriate
and accessible education.

In the late 1970s Frederick W. Miller became Director of Exceptional
Student Education. Shortly thereafter, Miller also assumed responsibility
for Student Support Services. He was responsible for decentralizing and
expanding the role of support services. Under Miller's leadership, classes
for students with moderate disabilities were moved into reqgular school
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settings. In the 1980s services were also extended to children of preschool
age and occupational and physical therapy, and the services of school
nursed were added as support for the other educational programs.

As Assistant Superintendent of the Division of Student and Family
Support Services, Mr. Miller continued
decentralization closing several
schools that served as ESE centers
(e.g. Volusia Avenue) and placing these
programs within regular school
settings. He promoted the inclusion
model with the opening of Palm Terrace
Elementry and the placement of special
needs students in middle and high
school settings. Dr. John Gaynor and
Myra Lucas served as directors under
Mr. Miller. Dr. Tom Parker directed
Student and Family Support Services.
Varying exceptionalities classes were
established in all elementary and
secondary schools to serve students
with mild disabilities. Services were
a